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Basic Bank Details  

 

 

Istarska Kreditna Banka Umag d.d., Umag (the Bank) is a licensed bank with the business tradition 

dating back to 1956. Today the Bank takes up a significant market share in the region of the Istrian 

County and performs its business activities also in the regions of Primorsko-Goranska County and the 

City of Zagreb. The Bank provides all kinds of financial services to legal entities and individuals in the 

Republic of Croatia. The Bank has about 6,500 corporate and small business customers and more 

than 40,000 active individual customers. 

 

In its operations, the Bank offers the entire range of banking services including business activities 

with legal entities and individuals, international business activities and the investment banking 

services. 
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Milan Travan, B. Econ., president  

Edo Ivančić, Econ., vice president 

Marijan Kovačić, B. Econ., member 
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Financial Performance Indicators 

 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  2021 2020 

RESULT OF OPERATIONS 

Total revenue HRK thousand 124,436 128,080 

Income before taxation HRK thousand 45,461 37,671 

Income after tax HRK thousand 37,238 30,741 

Income tax HRK thousand 8,223 6,900 

Earnings per share HRK 251.61 207.71 

Return on assets (ROA) 1) % 1.10 1.00 

Return on equity (ROE) 2) % 10.00 9.30 

BALANCE SHEET INDICATORS 

Total assets HRK thousand 4,443,903 3,855,623 

Credit portfolio, gross HRK thousand 2,287,489 2,142,052 

Customer deposits HRK thousand 3,966,622 3,434,123 

Share capital and reserves HRK thousand 385,479 360,292 

Assets per employee ratio HRK thousand 20,423 17,185 

CAPITAL INDICATORS 

Core (Tier 1) capital HRK thousand 371,889 328,010 

Regulatory capital HRK thousand 373,813 333,037 

Core (Tier 1) capital ratio % 19.08 17.29 

Total capital ratio % 19.18 17.55 

OTHER INDICATORS 

Number of employees as at 31 December  230 231 

Number of employees as a full-time equivalent  
(working-hours basis) 

218 224 

 

Note:    

In 2020 and 2021 Istarska Kreditna Banka Umag d.d. did not receive any public subsidies. 
 

 

 

………………………………………………. 
1) Return on assets (ROA) was calculated as a ratio of profit before taxation and average assets of the Bank  
2) Return on equity (ROE) was calculated as a ratio of profit after taxation and average equity of the Bank 
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Description of Business Activities 

Considering the business conditions in 2021, the Bank's main goal in dealing with clients was 
to enable the use of products and services in a safe and easily accessible manner, both at the 
Bank's branches and outside the Bank's business premises. 
 
In accordance with the strategic guidelines of the Bank's operations, in 2021 the Bank 
continued commercial activities aimed mostly at the sectors of small and medium 
enterprises and individual customers, both with a strong impact of a very competitive 
banking environment. It is the competition that has largely influenced the increasingly 
demanding needs and expectations of customers, but the Bank has managed to provide 
adequate support to customers by improving its offer and investing in the development of 
new technologies. 
 
Also, in relation to part of the products, the Bank made the most of its market advantage in 
responding quickly to customer requests, thus making flexibility was one of the fundamental 
determinants in providing competitive customer support. 
 
Continuous investments in promotion, systematic monitoring of competition, adjusting the 
offer to the structure of the Bank's market, improvement of business processes and 
adjustment of new products with quick service delivery resulted in an enviable level of 
increase in deposit base, account opening and client acquisition, and partly in lending 
business. 
 
In individual customers’ sector, in addition to housing loans, the previous year was also 
marked by the demand for cash loans. The Bank completed the implementation of a new 
fast payment method, the so-called Instant payment service, and improved security and 
customer experience when authorizing card transactions (Mastercard, Maestro and VISA) for 
Internet shopping (3D Secure). 
 
The Bank’s offer includes about a hundred different products and services. However, this 
market is extremely vivid and there are always certain banking segments that require 
improvements. This particularly refers to personal and internet or mobile banking, card 
business and the simplification and acceleration i.e. personalization of the loan approval 
process.  
 
In 2021, the Bank successfully continued its business cooperation with the Chamber of 
Trades and Crafts of the Istrian County, the Croatian Chamber of Economy in the Istrian 
County and several local government units. 
 
The current state of products and accounts offered by the Bank is the following: 
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Business entities 
 
Business entities carry out their transactions through the Bank, by using 6,685 regular 
transaction accounts, organisational unit accounts and special purpose accounts. A large 
number of these customers, almost three quarters of them, use the IKBnet Business service, 
where the payment transactions are carried out through an internet-based platform, and the 
number of mobile banking service users is continuously increasing among business entities. 
Corporate customers carry out more than 89 percent of their payment transactions through 
the Bank’s internet and mobile banking applications.  
 
Currently, there are more than 2,400 loans in repayment and significant volumes of 
transactions are carried out through EFT POS devices, by credit and debit business cards and 
a specific offering of services for exchange offices.  
 
High liquidity of the banking system in general and strong competition among banks have a 
significant impact on the decrease of interest rates on loans to corporate customers. In 
order to maintain the loan interest income on a level as high as possible, this segment is 
focused more on short-term placements and activities directed towards acquisition of new 
customers are intensified throughout the Bank’s business network. At the same time 
emphasis is on continuous risk dispersion, reduction in numbers and amounts of high 
exposures and in general on the control of all kinds of concentrations from sector to 
geographical ones. In line with its business policy, the Bank also pays special attention to 
maintaining and strengthening the collaterals for credit exposures.  
 
Another segment of the Bank's business is related to issuing of guarantees and other 
sureties, trading on a regulated market through the Bank’s Securities Trading Department, 
trading with foreign currencies and exchange operations. 
 
 
Individual customers 
 
The Bank holds multi-currency current and giro accounts for more than 32 thousand 
customers. An increasing payments volume is transacted through giro accounts of customers 
engaged in private property rental for tourists and other independent activities. Internet 
banking service for individual customers is constantly growing and the mobile banking 
service, which is available since late 2014, was growing even more throughout 2021. 
However, a considerable number of individual customers, more than several thousands, still 
have passbook savings accounts in domestic or foreign currencies. In larger branches the 
Bank also offers the rental of safe boxes, there are more than 4,600 loans of individual 
borrowers in repayment and more than 1,700 credit cards have been issued to individual 
customers. Non-resident customers represent an important business segment, particularly 
for demand savings and time deposits.  
 
The branch network is well developed and distributed to cover the entire region of Istrian 
County, a part of Primorsko-Goranska County and the city of Zagreb, not only with branches, 
but also with other sales channels such as ATMs, 24-hour safe deposit vaults and EFT POS 
devices. At present, the Bank has 24 branches and the network of 36 ATMs and 412 EFT POS 
devices. 
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Individual customers account for a large share of deposits as the Bank's basic source of 
funds. This tendency is predominant in areas where older branches are located, such as 
Poreč, Umag and Novigrad, whereas in other, more recently opened branches lending 
business is prevailing. The potential for the development of lending business both with 
individual and business customers exists within the entire branch network. 
 
In the individual customers' segment, the Bank continuously plans to invest in the 
development of the branch network and the expansion of services of direct banking such as 
internet and mobile banking, and particularly in the provision of integrated solutions for 
personal banking. 
 
 
Payment operations and treasury operations 
 
Very high level of liquidity in the financial system of the country and the conduct of 
expansive monetary policy of the Croatian National Bank had a major impact on the 
activities in this business domain throughout 2021. The level of interest rates on time 
deposits is very low, but aligned with competitive banks.  
 
In the structure of the overall securities portfolio, government debt securities accounted for 
87 percent of the portfolio and the remaining 13 percent represented investments in 
companies held to maturity and a smaller portion in investments in companies. 
 
The functioning of payment operations, both national and international, through the Bank’s 
branch network, ATM’s, 24-hour cash deposit vaults, through FINA’s branch network and 
through electronic payments carried out on behalf of the Bank’s customers and other 
payment traffic participants is monitored in the sector of Treasury and Financial Markets . As 
the payment transactions in HRK are concerned, in 2020 the total of 1.3 million of payments 
were processed, where electronic payments accounted for more than 92 percent of all 
payments, with the growing trend. 
 
The volume of international payments in 2021, both incoming and outgoing and including 
SEPA payments, amounted to almost 2.4 billion HRK in more than 100 thousand payment 
orders, which represents an increase not only in the number of transactions, but also in the 
volumes. A significant increase was recorded in the number of payments made by customers 
through internet banking service. 
 
The Bank paid due attention to the cost of payment operations, followed current market 
trends and offered its customers favourable fees for payment services and particularly the 
use of SEPA Direct Debits intended for both payers and payees. 
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Branch network and distribution channels 
 
By the end of 2021, the Bank’s network consisted of 24 branches, 20 of which are located in 
Istrian County, three in Primorsko-Goranska County and one in the city of Zagreb. Availability 
of the Bank’s services is secured by other sales channels as well: IKBnet internet banking 
service, mIKB mobile banking service, ATM’s, 24-hour safety vaults and EFT-POS devices. 
 
The Bank disposes of 36 ATM’s and 416 EFT-POS devices, which accept Maestro, Mastercard, 
Visa, American Express and Diners Club cards. There were more than 1,637 thousand ATM 
transactions in the total volume of HRK 641 million and 600 thousand EFT-POS transactions 
in the volume of HRK 205 million in 2021.  
 
The number of internet banking and mobile banking users among corporate customers is 
constantly rising, with an increase of 5 percent for internet banking and 28 percent for 
mobile banking in 2021.  
 
With individual customers the number of internet banking users also increased, and at the 
same time due to new digital solutions and the operations adapted to the circumstances of 
pandemic, the number of the mobile banking users by the end of 2021 has risen to almost 
9500. 
 
The Bank’s call centre is at disposal for the Bank’s customers to provide them with all 
relevant information about the Bank’s products and services. 
 
Istarska Kreditna Banka Umag d.d. is continuously striving to improve all sales and 
distribution channels and to follow the trends in modern technologies and digital banking. 
The Bank’s activities are directed towards creating a modern financial institution where a 
primary concern is to recognize future customer needs and, on its own or in partnership with 
others, to design new solutions and new services. 
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Organizational Structure and Branch Network 
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Report of the Management Board on the Bank's Operations and Condition in 2021 
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Report of the Management Board on the Bank's Operations and Condition 

in 2021 
 

On behalf of the Management Board of Istarska Kreditna Banka Umag d.d. I am pleased to 
present the business results of the Bank for 2021. In an extremely challenging environment, 
Istarska Kreditna Banka achieved a very good result and maintained its position as the leading 
small bank in the Croatian financial market. 
 
In 2021, Istarska Kreditna Banka marked 65th anniversary of operation during which period it 
continuously strengthened its market presence in the Istrian County, expanded to the cities of 
Zagreb, Rijeka, Opatija and Viškovo and grew into a modern bank, recognizable for its quick 
responding to customer requests, offering quality services and emphasized responsibility 
towards its clients. 
 
Today, IKB is one of the recognizable credit institutions in Croatia with almost 50,000 clients, 
with assets of HRK 4.44 billion, ranking it at the ninth position among banks. Guided by its 
mission, IKB launches and develops projects to support more successful operations, both of the 
Bank and its clients. 
 
The operations of Istarska kreditna banka in 2021 were marked by very good results with a net 
profit of HRK 37.2 million, which represents an increase of 21% compared to the previous year. 
 
Net income after loan impairment costs amounted to HRK 97.8 million and was 6.8 percent 
higher than in the same period previous year, which was also influenced by the successful 
extended tourist season and the recovery of economic activities in the country. 
 
Strong organic growth was achieved with an increase in the assets of 15.3%, which as at 31 
December 2021 amounted to HRK 4.44 billion. The Bank's position continued to strengthen 
through greater efficiency in the risk and interest rate profiles, which is particularly evident in 
the non-performing loans (NPL) level indicator, which runs as low as 7% being the lowest NPL 
level in the Bank's history. 
 
Throughout 2021, the Bank has been active in relation to the pandemic, both in terms of its own 
business and in the community. Continuity of operations and quality of services were ensured at 
all times, while taking care of the health of both employees and clients. Particularly in 2021, the 
Bank continued to support and finance the economy in the conditions of the pandemic. 
 
IKB continues to strengthen its digital business segment, with the volume of transactions 
through online banking growing by 17% in 2021. 
 
The Bank is currently working intensively to modernise and improve its existing online banking 
services, through internet and mobile banking for individual and corporate customers. 
 
Significant activities have been carried out on the implementation of a system solution to 
support the technology of very fast payments, the so-called ‘instant’ payments. The project was 
successfully completed by the end of November, placing the Bank among the first four banks 
joining the NKS Instant payment system in Croatia. 
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The Bank is well capitalized in relation to the risks to which it is exposed and the regulatory 
capital rate at the end of 2021 was 19.18%, while the total regulatory capital amounted to HRK 
373.813 million. The capital structure shows that HRK 371.889 million relates to the core capital 
and HRK 1.925 million to the supplementary capital. 
 
Over the past year, both individual and corporate customers have been the focus of the Bank's 
business activities, with efforts to provide them with the services they expect. The use of new 
digital distribution channels has increased significantly, and through various innovative services 
the Bank facilitated its customers’ daily banking. However, the Bank did not neglect the 
traditional business channels and retained its operations with 24 branches, 36 ATMs and 412 
EFTPOS devices. 
 

 

 

Compared to the previous year, total customer deposits, as the basis for the balance sheet 
growth, increased by 15.5% to HRK 3.967 billion. In the structure of total deposits, individual 
customer deposits recorded an increase of 14.7% as compared to 2020 and they account for 
64.4% of total deposits, whereas corporate deposits account for 35.6% of total deposits. 
Corporate deposits increased by 16.7%. 
 
This growth came primarily from the high confidence of savers shown in the Bank. 
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The most important part of our assets are loans to customers that we have managed to keep 
stable in conditions of a difficult economic environment, especially at times with the lack of 
demand for loans due to the volatile economic situation which continues to affect our 
customers, both companies and citizens. 
 
The gross loan portfolio at the end of 2021 amounted to HRK 2.28 billion. Total gross loans and 
advances to customers increased significantly, with loans to citizens growing by as much as 9 
percent and loans to businesses up by 5.4 percent.  
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As a result of the faster increase of individual customer loans in the last four business years, 
there has been a change in the share of placements to citizens and to business entities in total 
loans. The share of gross loans to citizens including tradesmen relative to total gross loans 
increased to 44 percent, while the share of loans to businesses decreased to 56 percent. 
 
Thus, through the continuous structuring of the loan offer under competitive conditions, the 
Bank has achieved significant growth of loans to citizens, especially housing loans. With business 
entities, lending to small and medium-sized entrepreneurs continues to develop to a larger 
extent. 
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As for providing assistance to customers in combating the effects of COVID-19 in form of COVID 
moratoriums, liquidity loans and loan restructurings during the 2021, For the largest part of 
loans the moratorium expired by the end of first quarter and for the residual, also large part of 
loans the moratorium expired during the tourist season, as the most of the placements relate to 
lending for tourist activities. 
 
Total investments in securities at the end of the reporting period amounted to HRK 475.7 million 
and during the year a decrease of 26.9% was recorded, which is almost entirely related to the 
reduction of investments in treasury bills and regular maturities.  
 
The Bank’s total income amounted to HRK 124.4 million. In the structure of operating income, 
interest income accounted for a 60.9% share, fee and commission income had a 25.2% share, 
income from currency purchases accounted for 13.1%, while other revenues participate with 
0.8% and mainly relate to financial and extraordinary income. 
 

 
 

 
Continued decrease of active interest rates and their alignment with competitive prices was 
evident throughout the year and in the business segment of individual customers it is partly the 
result of the continued decline of the national reference rate (NRS), where interest rates on 
loans to citizens with variable interest rates were reduced.  
 
In the business segment related to revenues from commissions and fees, and currency 
purchases, the positive trend largely impacted by a good tourist season is particularly 
pronounced.  
 
At the same time, the structure of this income changed with the change in the manner of how 
customers carried out transactions through increased use of digital products and services. This 
increased the total net non-interest income and income from the purchase/sale of currency by 
23.3% as compared to 2020 as a pandemic year, thereby even exceeding the result from 2019 
considered to be very successful.  
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The amount of profit is significantly impacted by the total cost of value adjustments and 
provisions for losses, which amounted to HRK 5.3 million for all asset categories (in total, more 
than HRK 24.4 million of new provisions were allocated and an income of more than HRK 19.1 
million was realised through the collection of non-performing loans). It is through the collection 
of non-performing loans that the Bank managed to reduce significantly the share of non-
performing loans in total loans. 
 
Gross profit for 2021 amounts to HRK 45.5 million and net profit is HRK 37.2 million. The results 
achieved are also reflected in a very good return on equity (ROE), where the Bank showed a yield 
of more than 10% and the return on assets (ROA) was 1.1%. 
 

 

 
Regarding the volume of operations, the Bank recorded an increase in the number of transaction 
accounts of individual and corporate customers and especially the number of mobile banking 
users. The trend of reducing the number of transactions in branches continues in favour of 
transactions conducted through direct banking, which is particularly prominent in this age of 
digitalisation. 
 
During the course of 2021, the Bank continued to make qualitative progress in risk management. 
The Bank endeavours to achieve the effectiveness of risk management through continuous 
improvement of processes, methodologies, models, controls and systems, and organizational 
changes have also been made in order to make the NPL collection faster and more efficient. 
 
The level of the Bank’s risk exposure is continuously kept within regulatory and internally set 
limits. The focus of the Bank's operations continued to be on the most significant risks related to 
credit and market risk, as well as liquidity risk and operational risk. Special attention is paid to 
the monitoring of due repayment of loans through the Bank’s internal software solution. 
 
The risk management system is set up in line with regulatory requirements, and the efficiency of 
risk management is achieved by continuously improving the process and applying the control 
methodology and models. 
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After the pandemic year and high business uncertainty, in which our Bank was focused on 
maintaining the quality of the loan portfolio and adequate risk management, favourable 
economic developments in 2021 affected credit demand mostly for housing and cash loans. 
 
During the year, the Bank adjusted its activities and focused on supporting companies in order to 
preserve their liquidity, level of economic activity and jobs. A total of HRK 767 million in loans 
was approved, of which HRK 561 million to business entities and HRK 206 million to individual 
customers. 
 
During 2021, the digital transformation of business operations continued, especially in the area 
of raising the quality of services and products. Activities were continued that enable the 
acquisition of new clients with the development of digital tools accompanied by a range of 
services. The digitalization of business operations will enable further improvement of 
communication channels and customer servicing through branches, online banking, self-service 
devices and mobile phones. 
 
We were continuously working on developing and upgrading of our own IT applications. The 
Bank continuously monitors information system security indicators and continuously improves 
protection measures, by implementing technical solutions and educating employees, especially 
in the field of cyber security. 
 
Product and service management activities over the past year have been largely marked by 
adjustment to changes in the environment as well as customer expectations. In the card 
business segment, the implementation of increased customer security relating to authorization 
of card transactions (Mastercard, Maestro) for Internet shopping (3D secure) has been 
completed. 
 
In the forthcoming period, the Bank will continue to put a primary focus on the needs of its 
customers and will accordingly develop products and services in order to improve and maintain 
long-term customer relationships. 
 
During the past year, the strengthening of commercial activities in the entire area of the Bank's 
operations continued. Staff trainings and new employments continued and the measures taken 
to optimize operating costs were continued as well. 
 
In order to preserve the customer portfolio and the use of products that would further 
strengthen the Bank's position, all programs available to commercial banks through HBOR 
(Croatian Bank for Reconstruction and Development) and HAMAG-BICRO (Croatian Agency for 
SMEs, Innovations and Investments) for more favourable credit lines and guarantees, were 
implemented. 
 
Cooperation with local government units continued in the implementation of credit programs 
where local government approved subsidies on interest rates for business loans, in order to 
strengthen economic activities in their local areas and to preserve or assist recovering the 
businesses affected by the pandemic. 
 
In view of the introduction of the euro, i.e. the planned entry of the Republic of Croatia into the 
eurozone in 2023, preparations have already begun in 2021 to adapt all operative processes and 
IT system applications for replacing the Croatian kuna with the euro. 
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The financial sector, and thus our Bank as well, has a key role in preparing for the introduction of 
the euro. Integration with the world's largest trading bloc will increase the competitive pressures 
that the Croatian companies are already facing, and the possible increase of interest rates 
caused by inflation could further limit their weak investment potential.  
 
The economic recovery in 2021 has positively surprised and there was a positive shift in the 
recovery of economic activity lost in 2020. The average GDP growth rate in 2021 is more than 10 
percent and is largely due to a very successful tourist season, the return of a significant part of 
foreign tourists, the recovery of consumption, and partly the effect of a low base from the 
previous year. With good results achieved in tourism, there was also an increase in the exports 
of goods. 
 
In the last quarter of 2021, there was a significant increase in inflationary trends, which will 
significantly escalate in 2022 and the Bank will pay special attention to these movements in its 
operations. 
 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
In the challenging regulatory and economic environment in 2021 Istarska kreditna banka 
achieved an improvement of its financial position and strengthened its capital base, ensuring 
conditions for further growth and continued strengthening of the market position. The increased 
level of the Bank’s business activities with good collection of overdue receivables led to earning 
the reported profit. 
 
Following the strategy of growth and sustainability as an inseparable part of the business, the 
Bank has maintained its position in the banking market of the Republic of Croatia with constant 
growth. The trend of continuing commercial activities in the entire area of the Bank's activities 
has been noted, activities have been carried out on the improvement and development of 
products and services through the Bank’s own information system, and actions have been taken 
to optimize operational costs. Given the significant impact on the operations, as in past years, 
great attention has been paid to monitoring placements in order to optimally manage credit risk. 
 
The Bank's strategy, i.e. the Business Plan for the period 2021-2025, sets out the continuation of 
operations while strengthening commercial and sales activities towards citizens and small and 
medium-sized entrepreneurs, as this is the basic priority for development.  
 
The Bank's objective, in order to maintain the level of profitability, is to further increase interest-
bearing assets by persisting on the same priorities in 2022: stimulating the credit activity, 
activities towards the collection of overdue receivables i.e. the reduction of non-performing 
loans portfolio and further control of general and administrative expenses. The main activities 
that will be carried out with this aim in mind are the increase of the credit portfolio with further 
improvement of the structure by reducing the non-performing placements and maintaining the 
existing efficiency of the business, all with the aim to increase the Bank's operating profit. 
 
Taking everything into consideration, in the period ahead we want to further strengthen our 
market position, monitor and implement modern technology and achieve a good business 
result.  
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In the areas of its operation, the Bank will continue to actively participate in economic 
development by providing quality services, partnership solutions for our customers, increasing 
operational efficiency, introducing new technologies and providing advice to our clients in 
realizing their requirements. 
 
From all the previous remarks, it is evident that Istarska kreditna banka has proven in its 65th 
year of existence, that it has a sustainable business and demonstrated a real, organic growth 
based on the trust of its customers, thus confirming the responsibility to the Bank's customers, 
owners and society as a whole. We especially thank all our customers and shareholders for their 
confidence, which obliges us to remain a reliable partner in business and further development in 
the future. 
 
I also express my gratitude to the shareholders and members of the Supervisory Board for their 
exceptional cooperation and support and to all employees of the Bank for their efforts and 
professional work invested in the creation of the long-term sustainability of the Bank in the 
financial market while achieving a very successful business result. 
 

President of the Management Board 
Miro Dodić, B.Sc. Econ. 
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Statement on Application of the Corporate Governance Code 
 
Based on Art. 250.a paragraph 4 and Art. 272.p of the Companies Act, the Management Board of 
Istarska Kreditna Banka Umag d.d. (hereinafter referred to as: the Company) on 11 February 2022 
issues the following  
 

STATEMENT ON APPLICATION OF THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE 
 
As a company whose shares are listed in the quotation of the Regular Market of the Zagreb Stock 
Exchange, in accordance with the current legislation and for the purpose of establishing high standards 
of corporate governance, Istarska Kreditna Banka Umag d.d. applies in its business operations the 
Corporate Governance Code of the Croatian Financial Services Supervisory Agency (HANFA) and the 
Zagreb Stock Exchange, but it also applies its own Principles of Corporate Governance.  
 
Detailed explanations related to the implementation of the Corporate Governance Code are provided 
by the Company in the Annual Questionnaire, which is submitted to the Zagreb Stock Exchange and 
HANFA along with the annual financial statements for the purpose of public disclosure.  
 
The Company adheres to the rules set out by the said Corporate Governance Code.  
 
The Company applies accounting policies which set out the procedures and techniques for the stating 
of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. It prepares and discloses annual financial statements and 
an annual report on the condition of the Company in line with current regulations and professional 
standards.  
 
In 2022 the Company will continue to keep its operations and performance results transparent and 
publicly available.  
 
The Management Board and the Supervisory Board have made necessary efforts throughout 2021 in 
order to maintain adequate corporate governance with respect to the organisation, strategy and 
business objectives, distribution of authorities and responsibilities with a special emphasis on effective 
procedures of identification, measuring, monitoring and reporting of risks present in the business of the 
Company and the establishment of adequate mechanisms of internal controls. 
 
The information on the implementation of internal supervision and risk management are contained in 
the Annual Report of the Company along with the information on significant shareholders, composition 
and activity of the Management and the Supervisory Board of the Company. 
 
Rules for appointment and removal of Management Board members, amendments to the Articles 
of Association and special powers of the Management Board 
 
Pursuant to the provisions of the Articles of Association, the Management Board of the Company 
consists of three members. Management Board members and the Chairman of the Management Board 
are appointed by the Supervisory Board for the term of up to five years. 
 
As chairman or member of the Management Board can be appointed only an individual who meets the 
criteria required by the Credit Institutions Act and the Decision on the assessment of the suitability of 
the chairperson of the management board, members of the management board, members of the 
supervisory board and key function holders in a credit institution, and who obtained prior consent for 
appointment from the Croatian National Bank. 
 
The Articles of Association of the Company may be amended only by decision of the General Meeting 
of shareholders if such a decision about the amendments to the Articles of Association was voted for by 
more than three quarters of the total share capital of the Company.   
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Activities of the Management Board 
 
The Management Board of the Company has rights, duties and obligations determined by the 
Companies Act, Credit Institutions Act and the Articles of Association of the Company. The 
Management Board manages the business operations of the Company and its assets and it has the 
responsibility and power to take any action and make any decision necessary for the successful 
management of the Company's business and activities.  
 

In the conduct of business operations of the Company the Management Board especially ensures that 
the Company acts in accordance with the rules of risk management, that the risks to which the 
Company is exposed in its operations are systematically monitored, that the risk management 
procedures are adopted and applied, that the strategy of maintaining or reaching the adequate capital 
level in relation to the risks to which the Company is exposed in its operations is systematically 
monitored, evaluated and applied, that the internal control system for all business areas is functioning 
properly, that the internal audit and internal control functions are performed undisturbed. The 
Management Board also ensures that the Company maintains business and other books and business 
documentation, produces accounting documents, makes realistic estimates of its assets and liabilities, 
prepares financial and other reports pursuant to accounting regulations, standards and legislation, 
reports and notifies the Croatian National Bank according to the regulations. 
 

In accordance with requirements in the performance of its activities, the Management Board 
establishes committees or other bodies to assist the Board in its work. Such permanent committees in 
the Company are: Assets, Liabilities and Risk Management Committee, Credit Committee, Information 
Technologies Planning and Management Committee and the Collateral Assessment Committee, which 
estimates the sales value of real properties received as collateral for loans granted by the Company. 
The system of internal controls and established control functions of the Bank ensure detailed 
monitoring of legality, regularity, accuracy, validity and proper documentation of business processes, 
which enables the Management Board to perform adequate supervision.  
 

The Management Board is not authorized to issue new shares of the Bank. It is authorized to decide 
upon the acquisition of the Bank’s own shares according to the law and the Articles of Association. 
 
Activities of the Supervisory Board 
 
According to the Articles of Association of the Company, the Supervisory Board is composed of five 
members, who elect the chairperson and vice chairperson among themselves. The members of the 
Supervisory Board are elected by the General Meeting of shareholders. Only individuals who meet the 
criteria required by the Credit Institutions Act and the Decision on the assessment of the suitability of 
the chairperson of the management board, members of the management board, members of the 
supervisory board and key function holders in a credit institution, and who obtained prior consent for 
appointment from the Croatian National Bank can be appointed as Supervisory Board members. 
 

The responsibilities of the Supervisory Board of the Company are to appoint and remove Management 
Board members, provide guidelines for the business policy, contribute actively to its realization and 
supervise the conduct of business affairs. The Supervisory Board reviews reports related to the business 
policy, financial results of operations, quality of risk assets, risk management, performance of internal 
audit and control function, the compliance function, the status of elimination of deficiencies 
determined through inspections performed by the central bank, external auditors and internal audit 
and control department. The Supervisory Board also gives its consent to decisions and other 
documents of the Management Board and other bodies of the Company according to the law, internal 
by-laws of the Company and their own decisions, and gives its consent to annual work plans of control 
functions. 
 

The Risk and Audit Committee has been set up in the Company and the Supervisory Board exercises the 
tasks of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.  
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Diversity policy 
 
The diversity policy applied with regard to the members of the management and supervisory bodies 
has been determined and implemented in line with the Bank’s Policy on the Target Structure of the 
Management Board and the Policy on the Target Structure of the Supervisory Board.  
 
Pursuant to the provisions of Art. 250.a paragraph 4 and Art. 272.p of the Companies Act, this 
Statement is an integral part of the Annual report on the condition of the Company for 2021. An 
integral part of this Statement is the Compliance Questionnaire for issuers of shares issued by HANFA 
and the Zagreb Stock Exchange, containing all necessary answers and required explanations. 
 
 

President of the Management Board 
Miro Dodić, B.Sc. Econ. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE  
COMPLIANCE QUESTIONNAIRE FOR ISSUER OF SHARES FOR THE YEAR 2021 

Section 1 LEADERSHIP 

Cooperation       

Art 1. The articles of association and/or other internal acts clearly define the powers of the 
supervisory board and management board. 

 YES  

Art. 1. The articles of association and/or other internal acts are available free of charge on the 
website of the company.  

 YES  

Art. 2. The supervisory board has adopted a decision in which it stated categories of decisions and 
legal transactions that require prior approval by the supervisory board and those decisions 
about which management board must consult with the supervisory board before making a 
decision, and a summary thereof is available free of charge on the website of the company.  
NO Regulated by the Articles of Association, Companies Act, Credit Institutions Act 

and appertaining regulations.  

Art. 2. The articles of association and/or internal company acts provide for prior consent of the 
supervisory board for making important decisions that affect the strategy of the company, 
expenses, risk exposure and reputation. 

 YES  

Art. 3. The articles of association and/or internal company acts stipulate that the supervisory board 
and its committees have timely access to documents, premises and employees when 
necessary for the performance of their duties. 

 YES  

Art. 4. The articles of association and/or other internal company acts stipulate that the 
management board must report to the supervisory board at regular intervals on the 
operating results of the company, financial situation, substantial financial and non-financial 
risks and results of interaction with shareholders and other stakeholders. 

 YES  

Art. 5. Statutes and/or internal company documents stipulate that the president of the 
management board shall immediately notify the supervisory board if there is or is likely for 
an event to arise that has the potential to significantly affect the results, financial position or 
reputation of the company. 

 YES  
 

Rules of conduct 

Art. 6. The supervisory board approved the code of conduct (or other internal act), which 
establishes rules of conduct to be followed by members of the management and supervisory 
board members, employees and others acting on behalf of the company, which also contains 
rules and measures to be taken in case of its violations.  

 YES  

Art. 6. Code of Conduct (or other internal act) is available free of charge on the website of the 
company. 
NO It is available on the company’s intranet site. 
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Section 2 DUTIES OF BOARD MEMBERS 
 

Conflict of interest 

Art. 7. For members of the management board and the supervisory board the prohibition of 
participation in decision-making in relation to which there are conflicts of interest is stipulated.  

 YES  
Art. 7. The supervisory board has given prior consent to the policy for managing conflicts of interest. 
 YES  

Art. 7. The policy for managing conflicts of interest is available free of charge on the website of the 
company.  
NO It is available on the company’s intranet site. 

Art. 8. Members of the supervisory board are obliged to inform the entire supervisory board that 
they are in an actual or potential conflict of interest. 

 YES  

Art. 8. Management board members have a duty to inform the president of the supervisory board 
and other members of the management board of an actual or potential conflict of interest. 

 YES  

Art. 8. The supervisory board keeps records of all notices pertaining to conflict of interest. 
 YES  

Art. 9. Member of the management board or the supervisory board has an obligation to inform the 
President and/or Vice-President of that board if it considers that another member of 
management or supervisory board is in an actual or potential conflict of interest.  

 YES  
 

Competition ban 

Art. 10. Members of the supervisory board and management do not perform activities that compete 
with the business of the company, are not members of the management or supervisory 
boards of the companies that carry out such activities nor hold more than 5% stake in such 
companies.  

 YES  

Art. 10. Members of the management board and the supervisory board who hold shares in the 
companies with which the company is in the competition, informed the secretary of the 
company of all the shares in such companies and the details of these shares are available free 
of charge on the website of the company. 
NO There were no such circumstances. 

 

Related party transactions 

Art. 11. No transactions between members of the management or supervisory board and the 
company (or a person affiliated with any party) can be concluded without the prior consent 
of the supervisory board. 

 YES  

Art. 11. The fair value of each material transaction must be confirmed by an independent expert 
prior to any such transaction, and his or her report has to be available free of charge on the 
website of the company. 
NO There were no such transactions. 

Art. 12. The company has adopted procedures for the approval and disclosure of transactions 
between members of the management or supervisory board and the company (or a person 
affiliated with any party).  
NO Regulated by the Credit Institutions Act. 

Art. 12. The audit committee annually assesses the effectiveness of these procedures. 
NO Regulated by the Credit Institutions Act. 
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Section 3 APPOINTMENT OF BOARD MEMBERS 
 
Role of the supervisory board 
Art. 13. The supervisory board is responsible for appointing and dismissing members of the 

management board and making recommendations for candidates for members of the 
supervisory board to the general meeting. 

 YES  

Art. 13. The supervisory board has approved formal and transparent procedure for the appointment 
to both management and supervisory boards.  

 YES  

Art. 14. The supervisory board has set a target percentage of female members of the supervisory 
board and the management board, which must be achieved in the next five years and 
adopted a plan for the implementation of this goal. Percentage on target and plan were 
published in the annual report. 
NO Members of the Supervisory Board and Management Board are elected based on 

their professional knowledge and competency to perform the function they are 
elected for, whereby preferences with regard to age, gender, ethnic or other 
affiliations are not applied. 

Art. 14. A report explaining progress on the plan has been published in the annual report.  
NO See explanation under Art. 26. 

 

Role of the nomination committee 

Art. 15. The nomination committee has all the tasks listed in Article 15. of the Code. 
YES The function of the nomination committee is performed by the Supervisory 

Board. 
 

Election of the supervisory board members by the general meeting 

Art. 16. When nominating candidates for the supervisory board to the general meeting for election 
the company provides information within the general meeting materials on the items 
requested by Article 16. of the Code. 

 YES  

Art. 16. Information provided by Article 16. of the Code are freely available on the company`s 
website.  

 YES  

Art. 17. Materials for the general meeting contain all the information listed in Article 17. of the Code. 
 YES  

Art. 18. The information referred to in Article 17. of the Code is available free of charge on the 
website of the company also in cases where workers' representative or another member of 
the supervisory board which is not elected by the shareholders at the general meeting is 
appointed. 
NO All members of the Supervisory Board are elected by the General Meeting and 

workers can not be members of the Supervisory Board. 
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Section 4  SUPERVISORY BOARD AND COMMITTEES 
 
Responsibilities of the supervisory board 
Art. 19. The terms of reference of the supervisory board include all the responsibilities set in Article 

19. of the Code. 
 YES  

Composition 
Art. 20. The supervisory board has developed a supervisory board profile which specifies the 

minimum number of members and combination of skills, knowledge and education, as well 
as professional and practical experience that is required in the supervisory board. 

 YES  

Art. 21. The supervisory board includes members of different gender, age, profile and experience to 
ensure a diversity perspective when making decisions. 
NO Members of the Supervisory Board and Management Board are elected based on 

their professional knowledge and competency to perform the function they are 
elected for, whereby preferences with regard to age, gender, ethnic or other 
affiliations are not applied. 

Art. 22. Majority of the members of the supervisory board are independent in accordance with the 
definition set out in Appendix A of the Code.  
NO Out of five, two members of the Supervisory Board are independent. 

Art. 22. The President or deputy president of the supervisory board are independent. 
NO President and deputy president of the Supervisory Board are elected among the 

members of the Supervisory Board according to their professional knowledge, 
education, experience and competencies. 

President 

Art. 23. The president of the supervisory board is responsible for the activities listed in Article 23. of 
the Code. 

 YES  
 

Board committees 

Art. 24. Supervisory board established the nomination committee.  
NO The function of the nomination committee is performed by the Supervisory Board. 

Art. 24. Supervisory board established the remuneration committee. 
NO The function of the remuneration committee is performed by the Supervisory Board. 

Art. 24. Supervisory board established the audit committee.  
 YES  

Art. 24. The supervisory board stipulated the mandate and activities of each committee. 
 YES  

Art. 26. Each committee of the supervisory board consists of members who have the necessary skills, 
knowledge and education, as well as professional and practical experience to carry out the 
committee responsibilities effectively. 

 YES  

Art. 27. Each committee of the supervisory board has at least three members.  
 YES  

Art. 27. Majority of the members of each committee of the supervisory board are independent (as 
defined in Appendix A of the Code). 
NO Two members are independent. 

Art. 27. Board members are prohibited to be members of the committee of the supervisory board. 
 YES  
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Art. 28. The terms of reference of each committee is made freely available on the company's 
website.  
NO Terms of reference of the committees are regulated by the Credit Institutions Act. 

Art. 28. The Company's annual report includes a report on the work of each committee of the 
supervisory board as well as information on the number of meetings held and the members 
of the committee.  

 YES  
 

Time commitment 

Art. 29. The minimum expected time commitment of each supervisory board member is specified on 
their appointment. 

 YES  

Art. 29. The annual report includes record of attendance at the meetings for each member of the 
supervisory board and its committees. 
NO The attendance at the meetings is recorded, but such a record is not included in 

the annual report. 

Art. 30. The articles of association and/or internal company acts stipulate the obligation of the 
supervisory board member to inform the secretary of the company about their membership 
in the supervisory board or the management board of other companies. 
YES Activities of the company secretary are performed by the Management Board 

Office. 
 

Frequency and format of meetings 

Art. 31. The supervisory board meets at least every three months.  
 YES  

Art. 31. The supervisory board has adopted a workplan that includes time and agenda of future 
meetings.  
NO The Supervisory Board continuously holds regular meetings, on average on a 

monthly basis. 

Art. 31. Committees of the supervisory board shall meet as often as necessary for the effective 
discharge of their duties, and regularly report to the supervisory board on its activities. 

 YES  

Art. 32. The supervisory board can meet without the participation of the management board where it 
considers it appropriate.  

 YES  

Art. 32. Non-board committee members can participate in committee meeting only at the invitation 
of the committee. 

 YES  
 

Support 

Art. 33. The company has designated an individual to carry out the duties of a company secretary.  
NO Activities of the company secretary are performed by the Management Board 

Office. 

Art. 33. According to the company’s internal acts, the person carrying out the duties of a company 
secretary is responsible for ensuring that supervisory board procedures are complied with, 
advising the supervisory board on governance matters, supporting the president of the 
supervisory board and helping the supervisory board and committees to function efficiently. 
YES The Management Board Office is responsible for these tasks. 
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Quality and timeliness of information 

Art. 34. The board terms of reference and/or internal acts require the materials for supervisory board 
meetings to be provided to all its members at least one week before the meeting. 
YES  

Art. 34. The board committee terms of reference and/or internal acts require the materials for board 
committee meetings to be provided to all its members at least one week before the meeting. 
YES  

Art. 35. The articles of association and/or internal company acts anticipate that the minutes of the 
meeting of the supervisory board must be available to all members of the supervisory board. 

 YES  

Art. 35. Supervisory Board meeting minutes provide data on voting results including details of how 
individual members voted. 

 YES  

Art. 36. The supervisory board has the right to receive information and advice from people outside 
the company at the expense of the company if it considers it necessary to successfully carry 
out its duties, provided that the procedure for it is specified in the internal documents of the 
company issued by the management board with the consent of the supervisory board.  
PARTIALLY The Supervisory Board is entitled to receive information or advice from persons 

outside the company at the expense of the company, but the procedure itself is 
not detailed in an internal act. 

 

Training and development 

Art. 37. All members of the supervisory board at the time of appointment received introduction 
training for their role.  

 YES  

Art. 37. All supervisory board members receive ongoing training and education to improve their skills 
and knowledge. 

 YES  

Art. 38. The supervisory board members receive regular updates and briefings from the management 
board and experts on matters relevant to the company and to their duties. 

 YES  
 

Supervisory board evaluation 

Art. 39. The supervisory board evaluated its effectiveness in the past 12 months.  
 YES  

Art. 39. The supervisory board assessed the individual results of its members in the last 12 months.  
YES  

Art. 39. The evaluation of the supervisory board was led by the president or deputy president.  
YES  

Art. 40. The evaluation of the supervisory board included an assessment of all the matters specified 
in Article 40. of the Code.  
YES  

Art. 41. The annual report includes the assessment report of the supervisory board and its 
committees in which they assessed all the circumstances set out in Article 41. of the Code.  
YES  
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Section 5:  MANAGEMENT BOARD 

Responsibilities of the management board 

Art. 42. The duties of management board include all the activities listed in Article 42. of the Code.  
 YES  

Art. 43. The supervisory board has approved internal rules of procedure adopted by the management 
board that define the matters specified in Article 43. of the Code.  

 YES  

Art. 44. In the case of groups, the management board of the parent company is obliged to ensure 
effective oversight over the activities of other companies in the group.  
NO The Company is not a member of a group.  

Art. 44. The articles of association and/or internal company acts contain rules governing 
responsibilities and reporting procedures at the level of the parent company and 
subsidiaries. 
NO The Company is not a member of a group. 

 

Composition 

Art. 45. The supervisory board ensures that management maintains a profile of the management 
board which determines the minimum number of members and a combination of members 
who possess the skills, knowledge and education, as well as professional and practical 
experience that are required for management board. 

 YES  

 

The president 

Art. 46. The president of the management board is formally responsible for the activities listed in 
Article 46. of the Code.  

 YES  

 

Limits on other appointments 

Art. 47. Internal company documents provide that the members of the management board must 
obtain the prior consent of the supervisory board before accepting appointment to the 
management board or supervisory board which is not part of the same group. 

 YES  

Art. 47. Internal documents of the company provide that board members are prohibited from 
holding more than two positions in the management or supervisory board of other such 
companies. 

 YES  

 

Board evaluation 

Art. 48. The supervisory board in the last 12 months, evaluated the effectiveness of arrangements for 
cooperation between the supervisory board and the management board, as well as the 
adequacy of support and information received from the management board. 

 YES  

Art. 48. Results of the evaluation of arrangements for cooperation between the supervisory board 
and management are included in the annual report. 

 YES  

Art. 49. The management board has evaluated its own effectiveness and that of its individual 
members in the last 12 months.  

 YES  
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Art. 49. The management board has reported the conclusions of the evaluations of its members to 
the supervisory board. 

 YES  

 
Section 6:  REMUNERATION OF BOARD MEMBERS 

Role of remuneration committee 

Art. 50. The duties of the remuneration board include all the activities listed in Article 50. of the 
Code.  

 YES  

 
Remuneration of management board members 

Art. 51. The supervisory board determines the annual remuneration of each member of the 
management board, based on recommendations of the remuneration committee and in 
accordance with the approved remuneration policy.  

 YES  

Art. 52. The level of receipts of members of the management board takes into account the agreed 
strategy, risk appetite, the economic environment in which the company operates as well as 
wages and conditions of workers within companies. 

 YES  

Art. 53. Remuneration policy provides that a management board member may not dispose of the 
shares assigned to it as part of the remuneration at least two years from the date on which 
the shares were assigned to him or her. 
NO The Remuneration Policy does not provide for the possibility to be remunerated 

in shares. 

Art. 53. Remuneration policy provides that a management board member may not make use of stock 
options assigned to him or her as part of the remuneration for at least two years from the 
date on which stock options were assigned to him or her. 
NO The Remuneration Policy does not provide for the possibility to be remunerated 

in shares. 

Art. 53. Remuneration policy includes provisions that closely define the circumstances in which a 
portion of the remuneration of management board member was put on hold or was asked to 
be returned. 

 YES  

 
Remuneration of supervisory board members 

Art. 54. Remuneration level for the president of the supervisory board and of other members of the 
supervisory board reflects the time commitment and responsibilities, including the time 
commitment and responsibilities in the committees of the supervisory board. 

 YES  

Art. 55. Remuneration policy and/or internal company documents prohibit the inclusion of variable 
elements or other elements related to performance in the remuneration of the supervisory 
board. 

 YES  
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Reporting on remuneration 

Art. 56. Remuneration policy of the company was approved by shareholders at a general meeting.  
YES  

Art. 56. The company has made freely available on its website its remuneration policy, as approved 
by the shareholders.  
YES 

Art. 57. Annual report on remuneration includes data on remuneration of each individual member of 
the supervisory board as well as other information contained in Article 57. of the Code.  
YES  

 
Section 7:  RISK, INTERNAL CONTROL AND AUDIT 

Roles of the supervisory and management boards 

Art. 58. Management board, with the prior approval of the supervisory board, adopted a policy that 
determines the nature and extent of risk that company needs and that is willing to take in 
order to achieve all the long-term strategic objectives ( "risk appetite"). 

 YES  

Art. 59. The management board is formally responsible for the activities listed in Article 59. of the 
Code.  

 YES  

 
Role of the audit committee 

Art. 60. Terms of reference of the audit committee includes all activities listed in Article 60. of the 
Code.  

 YES  

Art. 61. The audit committee, the supervisory board or one of its committees, undertook the 
activities referred to in Article 61. of the Code.  

 YES  

 

Relations with the external auditor 

Art. 62. The audit committee oversees the process of selection and appointment of external auditors 
in accordance with the legal requirements and makes recommendations to the supervisory 
board for the selection of the external auditor and conditions for their appointment. 

 YES  

Art. 63. The audit committee in the last 12 months approved the work plan of the external auditors, 
which includes the scope and content of the activities to be audited. 

 YES  

Art. 63. The audit committee shall meet as necessary with the external auditors to discuss the issues 
that have been identified during the audit and to oversee the quality of services provided. 

 YES  

Art. 64. The audit committee if responsible for monitoring the independence and objective of 
external auditor.  

 YES  

Art. 64. The audit committee approved a policy on permitted non-audit services provided by the 
external auditor. 
NO The Company does not use non-audit services provided by an external auditor. 
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Risk management and internal control 

Art. 65. The audit committee evaluated the effectiveness of risk management and internal control 
system as a whole at least once a year. 

 YES  

Art. 65. The audit committee, where appropriate, makes recommendations to the supervisory board 
and management board regarding the effectiveness of risk management and internal control 
systems. 

 YES  

Art. 66. The company maintains an effective risk management system that provides reliable 
identification of risk measurement, answers, reporting and supervision.  

 YES  

Art. 66. The company has determined clear internal responsibilities for the maintenance of the risk 
management system and a clear procedure for maintaining contact between persons 
responsible and the audit committee.  

 YES  

Art. 67. The company has established an internal audit function responsible for monitoring the 
effectiveness of internal control systems, including risk management. 

 YES  

Art. 67. The audit committee approved the internal audit plan in the last 12 months.  
 YES  

Art. 67. The audit committee receives reports of internal auditors and monitors the implementation 
of its recommendations. 

 YES  

Art. 68. The audit committee shall recommend to the supervisory board the appointment or 
dismissal of the heads of the internal audit function.  

 YES  

Art. 68. If the company does not have internal audit function, the audit committee has once in the 
last 12 months evaluated the need for this function as part of its assessment of internal 
control systems.  
NO The Internal Audit and Control Department is set up in the Company.  

Whistle-blowing 

Art. 69. Management board, with the prior approval of the supervisory board, adopted a procedure 
for reporting violations of laws or internal rules of the company, actual or in the case of 
suspected violation.  

 YES  

Art. 69. The procedure ensures that workers and external stakeholders do not suffer negative 
consequences if they report suspicious behaviour. 

 YES  

Art. 69. Details of the procedure for registration are available free of charge on the website of the 
company.  
PARTIALLY They are available on the company’s intranet site. 

Art. 70. Articles of association and/or internal company documents stipulate the duty of the 
management board to inform the supervisory board of any irregularities and to agree on 
measures that must be implemented. The audit committee evaluated the effectiveness of 
the procedure and its application in the last 12 months.  

 YES  

Art. 70. All information that the company is required to disclose in accordance with the law, rules on 
the listing, the Code and its own Articles of Association are available free of charge on the 
website of the company.  

 YES  
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Section 8  DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY 

Use of company website 

Art. 71. The company makes freely available and easily accessible on the website all the information 
requested by Article 72. of the Code.  

 YES  

Art. 72. The company ensures that the information on the website is kept up to date and published in 
accordance with time limits prescribed in law and regulations.  

 YES  

Art. 73. The company ensures that the information on the website is kept up to date and published in 
accordance with time limits prescribed in law and regulations.  

 YES  

Art. 73. All data on the website are freely available in both Croatian and English. 
PARTIALLY All data is available in Croatian language. Annual Report is available in English. 

 
Annual report 

Art. 74. The annual report contains all the information referred to in Article 74. of the Code.  
 YES  

 
Section 9  SHAREHOLDERS AND THE GENERAL MEETING 

Relations with shareholders 

Art. 75. The Company ensured that all shareholders, regardless of the number or type of shares they 
hold, have equal access to information about the company and about the way they can carry 
and protect their rights. 

 YES  

Art. 76. The Company has established an effective formal mechanisms to ensure minority 
shareholders the possibility of asking questions directly to president of the management 
board and president of the supervisory board, and the details of the functioning of these 
mechanisms are available free of charge on the website of the company. 
NO There are no restrictions that would hinder or prevent the minority shareholders 

from the possibility to ask questions directly to the president of the Management 
Board or the Supervisory Board. 

Art. 77. The Company has selected a person that will for all shareholders be the person to contact in 
relations with investors, and contact of this person is available free of charge on the website 
of the company.  

 YES  

 
General meeting 

Art. 78. The articles of association and/or internal rules of the company do not in any way limit the 
ability of shareholders to call a general meeting, to participate in it or to add items to the 
agenda. 

 YES  

Art. 79. The articles of association and/or internal company documents allow shareholders the 
opportunity to exercise their right to vote by proxy without restriction.  

 YES  

Art. 79. The articles of association and/or internal company documents allow shareholders the 
opportunity to exercise their right to vote electronically without restrictions.  
NO The possibility to vote electronically does not exist. 
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Art. 79. Explanation of other ways in which shareholders can exercise its right to vote are set out in 
the documents for the general meeting. 
YES  

Art. 80. Notice of the general meeting is published no later than 30 days before it is held. 
YES  

Art. 80. The agenda, decisions and all other materials required for the general meeting are available 
free of charge on the website of the company.  

 YES  

Art. 80. All documents are available in English and Croatian language. 
 YES  

Art. 81. All persons referred to in Article 81 of the Code were present at the general meeting in the 
past 12 months.  

 YES  

Art. 81. The external auditor was present at the general meeting where financial statements are 
presented. 
YES  

Art. 82. The company has made the decisions of a general meeting freely available on its website 
without delay. 

 YES  

Art. 82. Within 30 days from the date of the general meeting the company has made available on its 
website free of charge answers to questions raised at the general meeting.  
NO There were no questions. 

 
Section 10  STAKEHOLDERS AND CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

Corporate social responsibility 

Art. 83. The supervisory and management boards have agreed and adopted policies listed in Article 
83. of the Code.  
NO The matters regulated by policies from Art. 83. Of the Code are partially included 

in other internal acts of the Company.  

Art. 83. These policies are available free of charge on the company's website.  
NO See the reply under Art. 84. 

Art. 84. When the management board asks prior consent from the supervisory board for the 
decisions, accompanying documents explain how the recommended measure is in line with 
the policies associated with the impact assessment of company's activities on the 
environment and the community, with the policies associated with the preservation of 
human rights and workers' rights and the measures associated with prevention and 
sanctioning of corruption and bribery. 
PARTIALLY All proposals made by the Management Board to the Supervisory Board with the 

purpose to receive prior consent from the Supervisory Board, contain all 
information and explanations enabling the members of the Supervisory Board to 
make correct decisions. 
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Stakeholder engagement 

Art. 85. The supervisory board and management board jointly identified which are considered key 
stakeholders in relation to company.  
YES  

Art. 85. Management board has ensured the existence of effective mechanisms for regular 
interaction with key stakeholders, as well as to inform the supervisory board about the 
results of these communications. 

 YES  

Art. 86. The supervisory board is authorized, subject to prior notification to the president of the 
management board, to organize meetings with external stakeholders when it deems it 
necessary.  

 YES  

Art. 87. In the mandate of every committee of the supervisory board it is provided for what purpose 
president of the committee may communicate directly with stakeholders and what 
procedure to follow. 
NO There are no restrictions with regard to direct communication of the president of 

the Supervisory Board with external stakeholders.  
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Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 

The Management Board of the Bank is required to prepare financial statements for each financial 
year which present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Istarska Kreditna Banka 
Umag d.d. („the Bank“), the results of its operations and its cash flows, in accordance with applicable 
accounting standards, and is responsible for maintaining proper accounting records to enable the 
preparation of such financial statements at any time. It has a general responsibility for taking such 
steps as are reasonably available to it to safeguard the assets of the Bank and to detect and prevent 
fraud and other irregularities.  

The Management Board is responsible for selecting suitable accounting policies to conform with 
applicable accounting standards and then apply them consistently; making judgements and 
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and preparing the financial statements on a going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Bank will continue in business.  

The Management Board is responsible for the submission to the Supervisory Board of its annual 
report for acceptance. If the Supervisory Board approves the annual report, it is deemed confirmed 
by the Management Board and the Supervisory Board.  

The Management Board is also responsible for preparation and fair presentation of supplementary 
schedules in accordance with the Decision of the Croatian National Bank on the Structure and 
Content of the Annual Financial Statements of Credit Institutions (Official Gazette 42/18, 122/2020).  

Financial statements set out on pages 45 to 160 as well as supplementary schedules for the Croatian 
National Bank on pages 162 to 168 and reconciliation of the statutory financial statements with the 
supplementary schedules for the Croatian National Bank, set out on pages 169 to 174, were 
authorised by the Management Board on 17 February 2022 for submission to the Supervisory Board 
and are signed below to signify this.  

The Management Board is also responsible for the preparation and content of the Management 
Report of Condition as required by the Croatian Accounting Law, and for other information 
presented on pages 12 to 20. 
 
Signed on behalf of the Management Board: 
 
 
Miro Dodić Klaudija Paljuh Emanuela Vukadinović 

President of the Member of the Member of the 
Management Board Management Board Management Board 
 
 
 
 
Istarska kreditna banka Umag d.d. 
Ernesta Miloša 1 
52470 Umag 
Republic of Croatia 
 
17 February 2022 

 

 

This version of the financial statements is a translation from the original, which was prepared in Croatian language. All possible 

care has been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. However, in all matters of 

interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original language version of our report takes precedence over translation.
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Istarska kreditna banka Umag d.d. (“the Bank”), which 

comprise the statement of financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2021, and the 

statements of comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in equity of the Bank for the year 

then ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information 

(further referred to as “the financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 

position of the Bank as at 31 December 2021 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for 

the year then ended in accordance with statutory accounting requirements for credit institutions in 

Croatia.  

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Croatia and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)  

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 

our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 

context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 

we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

Impairment of loans to customers 
As at 31 December 2021, gross loans and advances to customers: HRK 2,287,489 thousand, related impairment 
allowance: HRK 170,931 thousand and impairment release recognised in the income statement for the year then 
ended: HRK 5,935 thousand (31 December 2020, gross loans and advances to customers: HRK 2,142,052 thousand, 
impairment allowance: HRK 175,738 thousand and impairment loss recognised in the income statement for the 
year then ended: HRK 4,967 thousand). 

Refer to note 2.4 Financial instruments  (Summary of significant accounting policies), note 4. Key accounting 

estimates – Impairment of financial, note 3.1.5 Financial instruments exposed to credit risk (Financial risk 

management) and note 21 Loans to customers. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the matter 
Impairment allowances 

represent the Management 

Board’s best estimate of the 

expected credit losses (“ECLs”) 

within the loans and advances 

to customers at the reporting 

date. We focused on this area 

as the determination of the 

amount of such impairment 

losses requires a significant 

amount of judgment from the 

Management Board.  

The impairment allowances for 

the performing exposures 

(Stage 1 and Stage 2 in the 

IFRS 9 hierarchy) are 

determined by modelling 

techniques (“collective 

impairment allowance”) 

relying on key parameters, 

including the probability of 

default (PD) and loss given 

default (LGD), taking into 

account historical experience, 

identification of exposures 

with a significant deterioration 

in credit quality and forward-

looking information.  

 

Our audit procedures in this area, performed, where applicable, assisted by our 

own valuation specialists, included, among others: 

 Inspecting the Bank’s ECL impairment methodology and assessing its 
compliance with the relevant requirements of the financial reporting 
standards and of the CNB rules.  

 Testing the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of selected 
key controls over the approval, recording and monitoring of loans. 

 Assessing whether the definition of significant increase in credit risk and an 
event of default are appropriate and whether the staging criteria were 
consistently applied. 

 Evaluating whether in its loan staging and ECL measurement the Bank 
appropriately considered the effects of the market disruption resulting from 
the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 For a sample of loans, with focus on debtors from the economic sectors most 
affected by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, assessing the existence of 
any triggers for classification to Stage 2 or Stage 3 as at 31 December 2021, 
by reference to the underlying loan files and through inquiries of the 
Management Board and risk management personnel. 
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)  

Key Audit Matters (continued) 

Impairment of loans and advances to customers (continued) 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the matter 
Expected credit losses for non-

performing exposures (Stage 3) 

are determined on an 

individual basis by means of a 

discounted cash flow analysis. 

The process involves reliance 

on a number of significant 

subjective assumptions, 

including those in respect of 

the probable sale proceeds 

from the related collateral and 

minimum period for collateral 

disposal. Considered is the 

Bank’s own historical 

experience and specific 

guidance of the Croatian 

National Bank (CNB) regarding 

minimum haircuts to be 

applied on the estimated value 

of collateral. 

Due to the above factors, 

coupled with the need to 

consider the effects of the 

COVID-19 pandemic (discussed 

in Note 1B) on the Bank’s 

business environment and the 

measurement of ECLs, the area 

required our increased 

attention in the audit and as 

such was determined to be a 

key audit matter. 

 

In addition, for loss allowances calculated on a collective basis: 

 Obtaining the relevant forward-looking information and macroeconomic 
projections used in the Bank’s ECL assessment.  Independently assessing the 
information by means of corroborating inquiries of the Management Board 
and by reference to publicly available sources; 

 Challenging the collective LGD and PD parameters used by the Bank, among 
other things, by reference to the analysis of historical defaults and historical 
realized losses on those defaults, and considering any required adjustments 
to reflect expected changes in circumstances; 

 Assessing whether the minimum impairment allowance requirements as 
prescribed by the CNB have been met, also considering the requirements of 
the financial reporting standards. 

 

In addition, for impairment allowances calculated individually; 

 For a sample of Stage 3 loans, challenging key assumptions applied in the 
Management Board’s estimates of future cash flows used in the impairment 
calculation such as: 

– collateral values (including related haircuts) and realization period - by 
reference to debtor information in loan files, publicly available market 
data, also considering the Bank’s historical collateral realisation 
experience and CNB requirements in respect of collateral haircuts, and 

– where relevant, by comparing cashflows estimated by the Bank with our 
own independent expectations based on debtor’s historical EBITDA, 
adjusted, where relevant, by the expected effects of forward-looking 
factors. 

 Assessing the overall reasonableness of the impairment allowances, including 
the loans provision coverage development. 

 Assessing whether the loan impairment and credit risk-related disclosures in 
the financial statements appropriately include and describe the relevant 
quantitative and qualitative information required by the applicable financial 
reporting framework. 
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Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

Management Report and Corporate Governance Statement included in the Annual Report of the 

Bank, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the 

extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion 

thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 

the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 

materially misstated. 

With respect to the Management Report and Corporate Governance Statement, we also performed 

procedures required by the Accounting Act in Croatia (“Accounting Act”). Those procedures include 

considering whether:  

 the Management Report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of Article 

21 of the Accounting Act,  

 the Corporate Governance Statement includes the information specified in Article 22 of the 

Accounting Act. 

Based solely on the work required to be undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial 

statements and procedures above, in our opinion: 

 the information given in the Management Report and Corporate Governance Statement for 

the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared, is consistent, in all 

material respects, with the financial statements; 

 the Management Report has been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the 

requirements of Article 21 of the Accounting Act; 

 the Corporate Governance Statement includes the information specified in Article 22 of the 

Accounting Act. 

In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the entity and its environment obtained 

in the course of the audit, we are also required to report if we have identified material 

misstatements in the Management Report and Corporate Governance Statement. We have nothing to 

report in this respect.   

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 

Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair 

view in accordance with Statutory accounting requirements for credit institutions in Croatia, and for 

such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to 

cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 

Statements (continued) 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting 

process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing will 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 

and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 

to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional 

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 

audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 

not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 

from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 

or the override of internal controls. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal controls. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 

events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 

in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions 

may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions 

and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal controls that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 

relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all 

relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 

where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.    
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)  

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 

that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are 

therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or 

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 

we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 

such communication.  

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

Pursuant to the Decision of the Croatian National Bank on the Structure and Content of the Annual 

Financial Statements of Credit Institutions (Official Gazette 42/18, 122/20),the Management Board 

of the Bank has prepared the schedules (“the Schedules“), which comprise an alternative 

presentation of the statement of financial position as of 31 December 2021, and of the statement of 

total comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the 

year then ended, and a reconciliation (“the Reconciliation”) of the Schedules with the financial 

statements. The schedules are set out on pages 162 to 168, and the Reconciliation is set out on 

pages 169 to 174. The Management Board of the Bank is responsible for the Schedules and the 

Reconciliation. The financial information in the Schedules is derived from the financial statements 

of the Group and the Bank set out on pages 45 to 160 on which we have expressed an opinion as set 

out above. 

We were appointed by those charged with governance on 23 April 2021 to audit the financial 

statements of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2021. Our total uninterrupted period of 

engagement is 2 year, covering the periods from 31 December 2020 to 31 December 2021. 

We confirm that: 

 our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report presented to the Audit 

Committee of the Bank dated 17 February 2022; 

 for the period to which our statutory audit relates, we have not provided any non-audit 

services (NASs), hence we have not provided any prohibited non-audit services referred 

to in Article 44 of the Audit Act. We also remained independent of the audited entity in 

conducting the audit;  

 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Katarina 

Kecko. 

 

 

KPMG Croatia d.o.o. za reviziju 17 February 2022 

Croatian Certified Auditors  

Eurotower, 17th floor  

Ivana Lučića 2a  

10000 Zagreb Katarina Kecko 

Croatia Partner, Croatian Certified Auditor 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 Note  2021  2020 

      

Interest income calculated using the effective 

interest method 
6  78,783  77,190 

Other interest income  6  81  77 

Interest expenses 6  (3,585)  (4,173) 

Net interest income   75,279  73,094 

      

Fee and commission income 8  32,606  27,263 

Fee and commission expense 8  (4,804)  (3,743) 

Net fee and commission income   27,802  23,520 

      

Impairment charge for credit losses – net  7  (5,284)  (5,046) 

Net income after impairment charges for 

credit losses 
  97,797  91,568 

Foreign exchange differences – net 9  16,894  12,894 

Realised gains from the sales of financial assets 

-  net 
10  -  8,804 

Other operating income 11  1,072  1,852 

Staff costs 12  (42,867)  (42,454) 

General and administrative expenses 13  (21,911)  (21,370) 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 14  (5,360)  (5,630) 

Other operating expenses 15  (163)  (8,023) 

Profit before income tax   45,462  37,641 

Income tax  16  (8,224)  (6,900) 

Net profit for the year   37,238  30,741 

Other comprehensive income/(loss):      

Items that are subsequently not reclassified to 

profit or loss 
     

Net change in fair value – equity instruments   (163)  - 

Deferred tax   29  - 

Items that are subsequently reclassified to 

profit or loss 
     

Net change in fair value – debt securities    (94)  (5,888) 

Deferred tax   17  1,060 

Total other comprehensive income/(loss)/   (211)  (4,828) 

      

Total comprehensive income for the year    37,027  25,913 

Earnings per share – basic (in HRK) 17  251.61  207.70 

Earnings per share –diluted (in HRK) 17  251.61  207.70 

 
The notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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Statement of Financial Position 

 Note  
31 December 

2021 
 

31 December 

2020 

      

ASSETS      

Cash and accounts with Croatian National 

Bank 
18a  

1,361,214 
 832,905     

Other balances with Croatian National Bank 18b  213,778  186,490 

Loans and deposits to banks 20  215,103  155,599 

Financial assets designated at fair value 

through other comprehensive income: 
     

Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance 19  247,166  530,144 

Bonds 19  23,191  23,238 

Equity securities (irrevocable election) 19  2,560  3,041 

Loans to customers 21  2,116,558  1,966,314 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss 
23  1,783  1,708 

Financial assets at amortised cost 22  201,045  92,569 

Intangible assets 24  2,607  2,253 

Property and equipment 25  34,751  37,114 

Right-of-use assets 40  952  1,140 

Investment property 26  12,025  11,843 

Foreclosed assets 28  6,231  6,303 

Deferred tax asset 16  1,221  1,182 

Other assets 27  3,718  3,780 

Total assets   4,443,903  3,855,623 

      

LIABILITIES      

Due to banks 29  66,917  21,898 

Due to customers 30  3,966,622  3,434,123 

Subordinated liabilites 31  9,847  21,574 

Other liabilities  32  12,683  16,449 

Lease liabilities  41  1,012  1,193 

Income tax liabilities 32  1,343  94 

Total liabilities   4,058,424  3,495,331 

      

EQUITY      

Share capital  33  162,800  162,800 

Share premium 33  181  181 

Reserves  34  37,331  37,542 

Retained earnings  34  185,167  159,769 

Total equity   385,479  360,292 

Total equity and liabilities   4,443,903  3,855,623 

 
The notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Changes in Shareholder’s Equity 

 

 
Share 

capital 
 
Treasury 

shares 
 

Share 

premium 
 

Fair value 

reserve– 

equity 

securities  

 

Fair value 

reserve–  

debt 

securities  

 

Reserves 

for 

deferred 

tax assets/ 

liabilities 

 
Other 

reserves 
 

Retained 

earnings 
 Total 

                  

At 1 January 2020 162,800  -  181  236  6,274  (1,172)  37,032  129,028  334,379 

Net profit for the year -  -  -  -  -  -  -  30,741  30,741 

Change in fair value of 

financial assets measured at 

fair value through other 

comprehensive income – debt 

securities  

-  -  -  -  (5,888)  -  -  -  (5,888) 

Deferred tax   -  -  -  -  -  1,060  -  -  1,060 

Total comprehensive income -  -  -  -  (5,888)  1,060  -  30,741  25,913 

Dividend relating to 2019 (note 

35) 
-  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

At 31 December 2020 162,800  -  181  236  386  (112)  37,032  159,769  360,292 

 
 

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Share 

capital 
 
Treasury 

shares 
 

Share 

premium 
 

Fair value 

reserve– 

equity 

securities  

 

Fair value 

reserve–  

debt 

securities  

 

Reserves 

for 

deferred 

tax assets/ 

liabilities 

 
Other 

reserves 
 

Retained 

earnings 
 Total 

                  

At 1 January 2021 162,800  -  181  236  386  (112)  37,032  159,769  360,292 

Net profit for the year -  -  -  -  -  -  -  37,238  37,238 

Change in fair value of 

financial assets measured at 

fair value through other 

comprehensive income – debt 

securities  

-  -  -  (162)  (95)  -  -  -  (257) 

Deferred tax   -  -  -  -  -  46  -  -  46 

Total comprehensive income -  -  -  (162)  (95)  46  -  37,238  37,027 

Dividend relating to 2020 (note 

35) 
-  -  -  -  -  -  -  (11,840)  (11,840) 

At 31 December 2021 162,800  -  181  74  291  (66)  37,032  185,167  385,479 

 
 

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 

 

 Note  2021  2020 

Cash flows from operating activities      

Profit before taxation   45,462  37,641 

Adjustments for non-cash items:      

Depreciation and amortisation 14  5,360  5,630 

Increase in impairment provisions 7  5,284  5,045 

Unrealised foreign exchange differences -net 9  (992)  (898) 

Profit from sale of non-current assets   (62)  (758) 

Net interest income 6  (75,280)  (73,094) 

Net fee and commission income 8  (27,802)  (23,520) 

Dividend income 11  (246)  (311) 

Cash flows used in operating activities before changes in 

operating assets and liabilities 
  (48,276)  (50,265) 

- net (increase)/decrease in assets with the Croatian 

National Bank 
  

(27,363) 
 55,080 

- net increase in loans to customers   (160,979)  (194,593) 

- net decrease increase in other assets   161  892 

- net (increase)/decrease of foreclosed assets   (197)  (76) 

- net increase in due to customers   529,770  161,938 

- net increase in other liabilities   (3,191)  2,110 

Interest received   80,177  75,068 

Interest paid   (3,960)  (5,142) 

Fee and commission received   32,595  27,346 

Fee and commission paid   (4,804)  (3,722) 

Income tax paid   (6,967)  (8,578) 

Net cash from operating activities    386,966  60,058 
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 Note  2021  2020 

Cash flows from investing activities      

Net decrease of investments in securities   176,816  174,390 

Dividends received   311  - 

Purchase of intangible assets  24  (1,188)  (661) 

Purchase of property and equipment and investment 

property  
25,26  (1,499)  (3,017) 

Sale of property and equipment and investment property 25,26  -  1,598 

Net cash received from  investing activities    174,440  172,310 

      

Cash flows from financing activities      

Repayment of other borrowed funds 29  (9,130)  (4,847) 

Receipts from other borrowed funds 29  54,149  700 

Repayment of subordinated liabilites 31  (11,727)  (7,053) 

Dividends paid    (11,840)  - 

Contract repayments   (508)   (586) 

Net cash used by financing activities   20,944  (11,786) 

      

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   582,350  220,582 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 36  988,504  768,873 

Net cash from/(used by) operating activities    386,966  60,058 

Net cash from investing activities    174,440  172,310 

Net cash used by financing activities    20,944  (11,786) 

Effect of exchange rate changes   5,483  (941) 

Effect of impairment changes   (20)  (10) 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 36  1,576,317  988,504 
 

 

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
NOTE 1A – GENERAL INFORMATION 

 

History and incorporation 

 

Istarska kreditna banka Umag d,d,, Umag (“Bank“) was incorporated in 1956 and registered as a joint 

stock company on 19 December 1989. The address of the Bank's registered office is Ernesta Miloša 1, 

Umag, Croatia. 

 

Principal activities of the Bank 

  

1. accepting and placing of deposits, 

2. providing current and term deposit accounts,  

3. granting short and long-term loans and guarantees to the Ministry of Finance, local municipalities, 

corporate customers, private individuals and other credit institutions dealing with finance lease and 

foreign exchange transactions,  

4. treasury operations in the interbank market, 

5. trust management and investment banking services,  

6. performing local and international payments, 

7. providing banking services through an extensive branch network in the Republic of Croatia. 

 

Governance and Management        

 

GENERAL ASSEMBLY 

  

Marijan Kovačić President 

 

SUPERVISORY BOARD AND RISK AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 

Milan Travan President 

Edo Ivančić Vice president 

Marijan Kovačić Member 

Milenko Opačić Member  

Anton Belušić Member    (mandate until 26 April 2021) 

Marina Vidič Member    (mandate from 27 April 2021) 

 

MANAGEMENT BOARD 

 

Miro Dodić President 

Klaudija Paljuh Member  

Emanuela Vukadinović Member  

 

The shareholders of the Bank as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are disclosed in Note 33. 

 

The Bank has its primary listing on the Zagreb Stock Exchange. 

 

The Bank is subject to the regulatory requirements of the Croatian National Bank (“CNB”). These 

regulations include limits and other restrictions pertaining to minimum capital adequacy requirements, 

classification of loans and off-balance sheet commitments and provisioning to cover credit risk, 

liquidity, interest rate and foreign currency position.  

 

These financial statements were approved by the Management Board on 17 February 2022 and will be 

submitted to the Supervisory Board for approval. 
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NOTE 1B – IMPACT OF COVID-19 PANDEMIC ON THE BANK’S BUSINESS AND 

IMPLEMENTATION OF PROPOSED MEASURES TO ASSIST THE ECONOMY IN THE 

CORONAVIRUS OUTBREAK  

 
 

During 2021, the Bank continued to actively monitor the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the 

bank's operations through the analysis of the impact on customer risk profile, by focusing primarily on 

customers in the tourism and service sectors and wider macroeconomic effects which are reflected in 

supply-related disruptions and increasing inflation on a global scale. 
 

Continuous monitoring of the quality of the loan portfolio during 2021 did not indicate a significant 

increase in expected credit losses after the expiry of the moratorium granted to clients as part of 

mitigation measures for the negative COVID-19 impact and the expiry of the period of increased 

flexibility in identifying significant increases in credit risk, which was implemented according to the 

CNB guidelines. Despite the above, the long-term impact of the pandemic on the Bank's operations 

and further macroeconomic developments are currently difficult to quantify. 

 

 

The Bank still maintains a satisfactory level of capitalisation and liquidity and an appropriate level of 

provisions for exposures. Therefore, the Management Board of Bank estimates that the continuity of 

business of the Bank is beyond doubt. 
 

The impact of the COVID-19 effects on the Bank's results is presented in the following notes: 
 

- Credit risk; 

- Analysis of input for ECL model; 

- Impairment loss and provisions.   
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 

below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented in these statements, unless 

otherwise stated. 

 

2.1.  Basis of preparation 

 

(a) Statement of compliance 

 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with statutory accounting requirements for 

credit institutions in the Republic of Croatia. The statutory accounting requirements for banks in the 

Republic of Croatia as of 31 December 2021 are based on the recognition and measurement 

requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted in the EU (“EU IFRS” or “the 

Standards”) and the CNB’s banking regulations. 

 

In these financial statements, the balances in the statement of financial position and the accompanying 

notes as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are in line with the recognition and 

measurement requirements under EU IFRS, in all material respects, except in the following cases, 

where the stricter requirements of the Decision on the classification of exposures into risk groups and 

the method of determining credit losses issued by the Croatian National Bank (the "Decision") were 

applied: 

 

 The decision requires minimum levels of impairment for certain non-performing exposures for 

which impairment is recognized on an individual basis, regardless of the net present value of 

expected future cash flows, so that the calculated impairment may differ from the impairment loss 

that should be recognized in accordance with the requirements of EU IFRS. 

 

Other differences between Statutory accounting requirements for banks in the Republic of Croatia and 

EU IFRS, listed below, do not raise material departure from the recognition and measurement 

requirements of EU IFRS as of 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021:  

 

 The Bank recognises provisions for court cases by incorporating the probability of loss into 

measurement of the provision (i.e. if the probability of loss is estimated to be 10%, the provision 

will be calculated as 10% of the potential loss), which is contrary to IFRS, which require the full 

amount of potential loss to be recognised where it is probable that the court case will be lost. The 

Bank maintains provisions for legal proceedings in accordance with the CNB's Decision on the 

obligation to make provisions for litigations conducted against a credit institution. 

 

 Suspended interest represents the accrued uncollected interest on assets which are classified as 

Stage 3. Upon reclassification the Bank provides the full amount of the accrued uncollected 

interest in the income statement, and ceases to recognise any further interest in the statement of 

financial position and recognises suspended interest off-balance-sheet until collected in cash from 

the borrower. This policy is not in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue and IFRS 9 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and measurement which requires interest income on impaired financial 

assets to be recognised using the effective interest rate method. 

 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are 

summarised below. The Bank has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods 

presented in these financial statements, except as disclosed above. Where specific accounting policies 

are aligned with accounting principles set out in EU IFRS, reference may be made to certain Standards 

in describing the accounting policies of the Bank. Unless otherwise stated, these references are to 

Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and endorsed by the 

European Union (“EU”) applicable as at 31 December 2021.   
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 

 

(b) Basis of measurement 

 

The financial statements are prepared on a fair value basis for financial assets at fair value through 

profit and loss and, financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and part of loans 

and advances portfolio. Other financial assets and liabilities, and non-financial assets and liabilities, 

are stated at amortized or historical cost.  

 

(c) Use of estimates and judgments 

 

In preparing the financial statements, the Management Board has made judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets and 

liabilities and disclosure of potential liabilities at the reporting date, as well as on the amounts of 

income, expense and other comprehensive income of the period. The estimates and associated 

assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 

reasonable under the circumstances and information available at the date of the preparation of the 

financial statements, the result of which form the basis for making judgements about carrying amounts 

of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from 

these estimates. 

 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. The effects of revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 

affects only that period or in the period of revision and future periods if the revision affects both 

current and future periods. 

 

Judgements made by the management in application of applicable standards that have significant 

effects on the financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of a possible material 

adjustment in future periods are discussed in Note 4. 

 

(d) Functional and presentation currency 

 

The Bank's financial statements are presented using the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which the Bank operates (the functional currency), Croatian kuna (HRK). Amounts are 

rounded to the nearest thousand. The exchange rates of currencies, in which the majority of the Bank's 

assets and liabilities are denominated, are used for the translation of the Bank's assets and liabilities 

and as at 31 December 2021 they were as follows: EUR 1 = HRK 7.537 (2020: EUR 1 = HRK 7.517) 

and USD 1 = HRK 6.644 (2020: USD 1 = HRK 6.139). 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.2 Investment in subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Bank. The Bank ‘controls’ an entity if it is exposed to, or has 

rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 

through its power over the entity. The Bank reassesses whether it has control if there are changes to 

one or more of the elements of control. This includes circumstances in which protective rights held 

(e.g. those resulting from a lending relationship) become substantive and lead to the Bank having 

power over an investee. The Bank assessed that it does not have any subsidiaries which would meet 

the definition of IFRS 10.  

 

2.3 Foreign currency translation 

 

Foreign currency transactions and balances 

 

Foreign currency transactions that are transactions denominated, or that require settlement, in a foreign 

currency are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of 

the transactions. 

 

Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated with the closing rate as at the reporting 

date. If several exchange rates are available, the spot rate is used at which the future cash flows represented 

by the transaction or balance could have been settled if those cash flows had occurred. Non-monetary items 

measured at historical cost denominated in a foreign currency are translated with the exchange rate as at the 

date of initial recognition; non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured at fair value are 

translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and 

from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 

foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, except when deferred in 

equity as gains or losses from qualifying cash flow hedging instruments or qualifying net investment 

hedging instruments.  

 

All foreign exchange gains and losses recognised in the statement of comprehensive income are 

presented net within the corresponding item of profit or loss. 

 

2.4 Financial instruments 

 

Business models can be determined according to the following categories: 

 

1. ‘hold to collect’ business model   

2. ‘hold to collect and sell’ business model  

3. other business models 

 

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets measured ‘at fair 

value through profit or loss' (“FVTPL”), financial assets measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income and financial assets measured at amortised cost. The classification depends on 

business model, SPPI test result (assessment whether cash flows represent solely payment of principal 

and interest on an outstanding principal amount). All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets 

are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 

sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation 

or convention in the marketplace. A financial asset is initially recognized at fair value. 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.4 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

(a) Financial assets valued at fair value through profit or loss 

 

A financial asset is valued at fair value through profit or loss if it is acquired or originated principally 

for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term and/or trading i.e. if cash flows are not 

characterized by solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI). 

 

Hence, the portfolio of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss includes financial assets 

classified as other than “hold to collect” or “hold to collect and sell” business model, i.e. assets held to 

collect contractual cash flows or held to collect cash flows or sell, which did not pass the SPPI testing. 

 

Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value. 

 

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss’ category are stated in the income statement. Dividend income is recognized in the 

income statement. 

 

(b) Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 

 

Financial assets are classified as financial assets valued at fair value through other comprehensive 

income:  

(a) in case of debt financial instruments (treasury bills and bonds): if the business model is to hold 

for cash flow collection or sale, and if the cash flow features are solely payment of principal and 

interest. Hence, debt financial instruments are classified as financial assets measured at fair 

value through other comprehensive income if the business model is to hold for collection and 

sale and if a financial asset passes the SPPI testing. 

(b) in case of equity instruments: if the Bank made an irrevocable election to classify an asset into 

this portfolio. These instruments are not held for trading. 

 

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are initially valued at fair 

value. Subsequent valuation is carried out at fair value and the effects are recognized in other 

comprehensive income. On derecognition of debt instruments, the effects are transferred to the income 

statement. On derecognition of equity instruments, the effects are never transferred to the income 

statement. The interest is recognized in the income statement by using the effective interest rate 

method. The model of expected credit losses is applicable to debt securities, but not to equity 

instruments. Dividends are recognized in the income statement. 

 

Gains or losses arising from the change in the fair value of debt securities are recognised in other 

comprehensive income, and respective foreign exchange gains or losses are recognised in the profit or 

loss. Foreign currency differences, arising from the translation of the equity investments in respect of 

which an election has been made to present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive 

income, are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 

In the statement of financial position the financial assets measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income are reported separately, i.e. by particular categories of financial assets (treasury 

bills, bonds and equity instruments). 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.4 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

(c) Financial assets measured at amortised cost 

 

A financial asset is classified as financial assets valued at amortised cost if the business model is “hold 

to collect” and if the cash flow features are solely payment of principal and interest. Hence, the 

financial assets with business model “hold to collect” which passes the SPPI  testing is classified in the 

portfolio of financial assets at amortised cost. The Bank classifies these assets as loans and 

receivables, and debt instruments. Interest income is recognized by using the effective interest rate 

method. 

 

In the statement of financial position, the financial assets measured at amortised cost are reported 

separately, i.e. by particular categories of financial assets (bonds, loans and receivables).  

 

Estimate whether contractual cash flows are solely principal and interest payments 

 

In order to assess whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the 

principal is defined as the fair value of financial assets at initial recognition. Interest is defined as 

compensation for the time value of money and credit risk associated with the outstanding principal 

amount over a specified period of time and for other basic risks and costs of lending (eg liquidity risk 

and administrative costs) and as a profit margin. 

 

When assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely principal and interest payments (SPPI), 

the Bank considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether a financial 

asset contains a contractual term that could change the time or amount of contractual cash flows so 

that it would not meet the SPPI requirement. When assessing, the Bank considers: 

- potential events that would change the amount and time of cash flows; 

- terms of prepayment and extension; and 

- features that alter the consideration of the time value of money (eg periodic interest rate reset). 
 

Reclassification 

 

Financial assets are not reclassified after initial recognition, except in the period after the change in the 

financial model for the financial asset management. 

 

Derecognition of financial assets due to substantial modification of terms and conditions 

 

The Bank derecognises a financial asset, such as a loan to customer, when the terms and conditions 

have been renegotiated to the extent that, substantially, it becomes a new loan, with the difference 

recognised as a derecognition gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has not already been 

recorded. The newly recognised loans are classified as Stage 1 for ECL measurement purposes, unless 

the new loan is deemed to be POCI. 

 

When assessing whether or not to derecognise a loan to a customer, amongst others, apart from 

quantitative factors, the bank considers the following: change in currency of the loan, introduction of 

an equity feature, change in counterparty, whether the modification is such that the instrument no 

longer meets the SPPI criterion. 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.4 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Modifications of financial assets which do not result in substantially different cash flows 

 

If the modification does not result in cash flows that are substantially different, the modification does 

not result in derecognition. Based on the change in cash flows discounted at the original effective 

interest rate, the Bank records a modification gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has not 

already been recorded. Realised gains and losses from the disposal of financial instruments are 

calculated by using the weighted average cost method. 

 

Derecognition of financial assets other than for substantial modification 

 

A financial asset (or, a portion thereof or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised 

when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired, or when they have been 

transferred and either (i) the Bank transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, or (ii) 

the Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the Bank 

has not retained control. 

 

The Bank considers control to be transferred if and only if, the transferee has the practical ability to 

sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally 

and without imposing additional restrictions on the transfer. 

 

The Bank enters into transactions where it retains the contractual rights to receive cash flows from 

assets but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to other entities and transfers 

substantially all of the risks and rewards. These transactions are accounted for as “pass-through” 

arrangements that result in derecogntion if the Bank: (i) has no obligation to make payments unless it 

collects equivalent amounts from the assets, (ii) is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets and 

(iii) has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the assets without material delay. 

 

When the Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards and has 

retained control of the asset, the asset continues to be recognised only to the extent of the Bank’s 

continuing involvement, in which case, the Bank also recognises an associated liability. The 

transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and 

obligations that the Bank has retained. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over 

the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the 

maximum amount of consideration the Bank could be required to pay. 

 

Collaterals (e.g. bonds) furnished by the Bank under standard repurchase agreements and borrowing 

transactions are not dereocognised because the Bank retains substantially all the risks and rewards on 

the basis of the predetermined repurchase price and the criteria for derecognition are therefore not met. 

 

Derecogntion of financial liabilities 

 

The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled 

or expire. If the terms of a financial liability are significantly modified, the Bank will cease 

recognising that liability and will instantaneously recognise a new financial liability, with new terms 

and conditions. 

 

Realised gains and losses from the disposal of financial instruments are calculated by using the 

weighted average cost method. 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.4 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Impairment of financial assets  

 

The Bank recognises loss allowances for "expected credit losses" (hereinafter: ECL) on the following 

financial instruments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL): 

- debt instruments; 

- issued guarantees; and 

- loans and advances to customers. 

 

No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments and financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss (FVTPL). 

 

The Bank measures impairment losses at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses (ECL), 

except for the following, for which they are measured as 12-month expected credit loss (ECL):  

- debt securities for which it was determined to have a low credit risk at the reporting date; and 

- other financial instruments for which credit risk has not significantly increased since their 

initial recognition. 

 

12-month expected credit losses (ECL) are the portion of expected credit loss (ECL) that result from 

default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. 

Financial instruments for which a 12-month expected credit loss (ECL) is recognised are referred to as 

“Stage 1 financial instruments”, or A-1 risk category by CNB.  

 

Life-time expected credit losses (ECL) are the expected credit losses (ECL) that result from all 

possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument. Financial instruments for 

which a lifetime expected credit loss (ECL) is recognised but which are not credit-impaired are 

referred to as “Stage 2 financial instruments”, or A-2 risk category by CNB.  

 

 

Expected credit losses model 

 

Determining the value of financial instruments measured using the amortized cost method involves 

identifying credit losses that have not yet occurred (at the time of the respective instrument valuation), 

but the Bank expects them to occur in the coming period, taking into account different macroeconomic 

scenarios. 

 

Expected credit losses related to a given exposure are assessed on the basis of expected future cash 

flows related to a respective contract, including the amounts which may arise through the realisation of 

relevant collaterals. All expected cash flows are stated at present value through discounting method by 

applying the effective interest rate. 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.4 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Expected credit losses model (continued) 

 

With the introduction of this concept, where the impairment amount represents the amount of expected 

credit losses per financial asset, a certain non-zero probability of default is allocated to each exposure, 

resulting in a specific impairment amount different from zero. 

 

The calculation of the percentage value of expected credit losses is based on standard credit risk 

parameters: 

- PD (Probability of Default) – the likelihood of non-performing of financial obligations 

- LGD (Loss Given Default) – the loss incurred upon the onset of the default status. 

 

For the purpose of the PD parameter value assessment the Bank categorized all exposures into 

homogeneous groups with similar characteristics and categorized them into rating classes.  

 

The Bank determined several homogeneous groups, depending on the customer characteristics 

classified into such homogeneous groups, and in such a manner formed the following different groups:  

- Individual customers (retail segment) 

- Small entities with single-entry bookkeeping  

- Corporate entities and SME’s with double-entry bookkeeping 

- Regulators 

- Non-profit organisations 

- Public sector entities 

- Local/regional government 

- Non-banking financial institutions 

- Commercial banks 

 

Rating classes have been determined for each homogeneous group, so that the individual customers’ 

group uses eight rating classes and the other groups ten rating classes. Each rating class  was given an 

appropriately assigned one-year PD value and a corresponding multi-annual maturity structure of PDs. 

Thus, the resulting PD values reflect the current impartial expectation of the Bank regarding the future 

default rate. The PD values are also adjusted to the expected (projected) values of relevant 

macroeconomic factors. 

 

For the calculation of PD parameter the Bank uses the transition matrix model of movements between 

rating classes during longer time periods.   

 

PD rates which have been determined in such a manner are additionally modified by the Bank to 

reflect the assessment of impact of macroeconomic environment, by using three different scenarios.  

 

In the baseline scenario, the Bank assumed that there would be no significant changes in the 

macroeconomic environment. In the optimistic scenario, the Bank used available macroeconomic 

forecast data (published by the Ministry of Finance, the CNB and foreign institutions) that projected 

GDP growth in 2021 and further growth in 2022, with a higher weight added to the estimate of GDP 

trends during 2021 (0.8) and a lower weight to estimates of GDP trends in 2022 (0.2). For the 

pessimistic scenario, the Bank presumes a decline in GDP during 2021 at the level of 50% of the GDP 

decline rate recorded in 2020 (the GDP decline rate in 2020 was reduced by 50% as the Bank 

considers it unrealistic to expect that the GDP decline would be repeated in 2021). The rate of decline 

in GDP determined in such a manner, which was used for the pessimistic scenario, was additionally 

modified by the determined rate of inflation recorded during 2021. 

  



ISTARSKA KREDITNA BANKA UMAG d.d., Umag 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021  

(all amounts are expressed in thousands of HRK) 

Istarska Kreditna Banka Umag d.d. 61 2021 Annual Report 

 

NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.4 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Expected credit losses model (continued) 

 

In the baseline scenario, a weight for the probability of occurrence was added that corresponds to the 

share in the GDP structure of those economic branches that the Bank estimates will not be 

significantly affected by the negative conjuncture. 

 

For the pessimistic and optimistic scenarios, the weights for the probability of occurrence were added 

in such a way that the higher weight was allocated to the pessimistic scenario. 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.4 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Expected credit losses model (continued) 

    

The loss given default (LGD) represents an internal rate of the loss level associated with the credit 

exposure in the event of default. The obtained LGD values are classified into LGD-homogeneous 

groups and an estimate of the representative LGD parameter value is made for each group. The Bank 

estimated of the value of the LGD parameter by applying the so-called "work-out" assessment method 

based on an analysis of historical cases of post-default collection. For each such case a series of cash 

flows occuring during the collection process (inflows such as payments by the debtor, collection from 

the debtor's funds and collaterals related to the particular exposure, as well as outflows related to 

internal and external expenses of the collection process) is discounted by applying the original 

effective interest rate in order to obtain the present value of the post-default collection. This value is 

divided by the corresponding exposure value at the time of the default occurrence, in order to obtain a 

percentage rate of post-default collection (RR - recovery rate). The LGD of the underlying placement 

is obtained by subtraction of this amount from 100%. The obtained values of LGD are classified into 

LGD-homogeneous groups. 

 

The exposure at default (EAD) represents the total amount of exposure for which impairment 

allowance must be made. 

 

When estimating the provisions for off-balance sheet items, the Bank applies the conversion factor 1 

in line with the CNB decision. 

 

The value of expected credit losses (ECL) for exposures where after initial recognition no significant 

increase in credit risk since initial recognition was identified, is calculated as an expected credit loss 

over a twelve-month period, which represents a part of expected credit losses over full lifetime that 

would occur in the event of default in the following twelve months period (risk sub-category A1 – 

stage 1). With exposures where after initial recognition a significant increase in credit risk is not 

identified, EAD represents total exposure at the time of impairment calculation. 

 

For the exposures where after initial recognition a significant increase in credit risk at a reporting date 

is identified, expected credit losses over full lifetime are calculated (risk sub-category A2 – stage 2). 

For exposures of risk sub-categories B and C (stage 3) the expected credit losses are calculated using 

the standard DCF method (the method of present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at 

the effective interest rate). 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.4 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Classification of exposures into risk categories 

 

To estimate the impairment amounts and provisions for credit losses based on the assessment of credit 

loss levels, the Bank classifies on reporting dates the financial assets measured at amortised cost, 

including off-balance sheet exposures from commitments for loans and financial guarantee contracts, 

as well as financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, other than 

equity instruments, claims to which the impairment conditions are applied, into the following 

categories: 

 

1. risk category A1 

2. risk category A2 

3. risk categories B (B1, B2, B3) and C 

4. POCI - Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets 

 

Risk category A1 – Exposures where no significant increase in credit risk is identified (since initial 

recognition), are classified into the risk category A1. Impairments and provisions for credit losses for 

these exposures are determined based on expected credit losses over a twelve-month period, which 

represents a part of expected credit losses over full lifetime that would occur in the event of default in 

the following twelve-month period. 

 

Risk category A2 (increased credit risk level) – Exposures where a significant increase in credit risk 

from the time of initial recognition is identified, but there is no objective evidence of impairment, are 

classified into the risk category A2. Impairments and provisions for credit losses for these exposures 

are determined based on expected credit losses over full lifetime. As indicators of significant increase 

in the credit risk of a debtor the Bank takes into account the delayed repayment of obligations towards 

the Bank over 30 but less than 90 days overdue, transaction account blocking for 30 days over the 

period of last 180 days and a substantial deterioration of the debtor's credit rating at the time of initial 

recognition (for more than three rating classes). 

 

Risk categories B and C (identified impairment) – Exposures where objective evidence of impairment 

were identified are classified into the risk categories B and C. These non-performing exposures are at 

default in accordance with the Decision on the Classification of Exposures into Risk Categories and 

the Method of Determining Credit Losses. Exposures classified as distress exposures and the 

exposures to debtors who have entered bankruptcy or liquidation proceedings are also regarded by the 

Bank as defaulted exposures. The level of impairment of individual exposures classified into risk 

categories B and C is determined as a positive difference between the gross carrying amount of an 

individual exposure and the present value of estimated debtor's future cash flows discounted by 

applying the effective interest rate and respecting the minimal impairment levels required by the 

Decision.  
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.4 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (POCI assets) 

 

POCI assets are financial assets for which, at initial recognition, there is objective evidence of credit 

impairment as the credit risk of originated or issued assets is very high or, in the case of purchase, the 

assets have been purchased at a high discount.  

 

At initial recognition, the expected credit losses are included in the fair value of POCI assets and the 

loss allowance equal zero. 

 

On the reporting date, only cumulative changes in the lifetime expected credit losses that occur after 

the initial recognition of POCI assets are recognised as loss allowance for the impairment of POCI 

assets. 

 

For the purposes of impairment calculation, the lifetime expected credit losses are always recognised 

for these assets. POCI assets remain allocated to Stage 3 until derecognition. 

 

Financial liabilities 

 

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL' or ‘other financial liabilities'. 

The Bank’s holding in financial liabilities is recorded at amortised cost. There are no financial 

liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. Financial liabilities are derecognised when 

extinguished. 

 

(a) Liabilities measured at amortised cost 

 

Financial liabilities that are not classified as at fair value through profit or loss fall into this category 

and are measured at amortised cost. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are deposits and 

from banks or customers, borrowings and subordinated financial liabilities. 

 

Determination of fair value 

 

With securities classified into portfolios that are subject to valuation at fair value when a quoted price 

exists on the stock exchange, the valuation is performed based on the published average price on the 

day of recording changes in fair value. Average prices on the day of recording changes in fair value 

are taken from the official listings on stock exchange for the last trading day of the month in which the 

valuation is carried out. In the event that at the date of valuation there are several average prices of 

financial assets being valued, the average weighted price is calculated. In the absence of the average 

daily price on the trade listing on the date of recording the changes in fair value, the fair value of 

financial assets is calculated based on the last known daily average trading price of the current 

calendar month. For securities that are not traded during the current calendar month as of the coming 

valuation date, the fair value is the latest determined fair value in the previous calendar month if the 

securities under review were traded in that month. 
 

For securities listed on the domestic market the data on price movements from the Zagreb Stock 

Exchange are used. 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.4 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Determination of fair value (continued) 

 

For securities carried at fair value not traded in the previous and current calendar month as of the 

valuation date as well as for those securities that are listed on foreign stock exchange markets, the fair 

value is defined based on the last bid price quoted on the official web site of renowned and recognised 

capital market participants or based on the telephone quotation of the last bid of renowned and 

recognised capital market participants, or based on the last bid price for purchase officially quoted on 

the web sites of financial information services, which are renowned and recognised capital market 

participants. 

 

The fair values of treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Croatia allocated in the 

portfolio of financial assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive income are determined 

in the following manner: they are initially valued at fair value, which is equal to the value at the 

acquiring date.Subsequently they are valued first by amortisation of initially recognized discount by 

using the effective interest rate, based on the actual remaining period to maturity. A discount 

calculated in such a manner is recognized as part of the interest income in the income statement and 

afterwards the fair value is calculated by including the remaining period to maturity and available 

auction prices of the financial instrument. Unrealised gains/losses derived from reconciliation with the 

fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income, while recently realised effects are included 

in the income statement. 

 

The fair value for loans and liabilities to banks and customers are determined using a present value 

model on the basis of contractually agreed cash flows, by discounting contractual future cash flows at  

with current market interest rates. The carrying value of non-performing loans and loans and deposits 

with maturities up to 1 year as well as loans and deposits with variable interest rates, is considered to 

be the same as the fair value of the instrument. 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.4 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Classes of financial instruments 
 

The Bank classifies the financial instruments into classes that reflect the nature of information and 

take into account the characteristics of those financial instruments, business model, SPPI test. While 

conducting the SPPI testing, no failure to satisfy the test criteria was reported. The classification made 

can be seen in the table below:  

 

Financial 

assets 

 

Class (as determined 

by the Bank) 

Subclasses Business 

model 

SPPI test Category 

(according to 

IFRS 9) 

Investment securities – 

Equity and debt 

securities 

Debt securities Held for 

collection 

of cash 

flows or 

sale 

YES Financial assets at 

fair value through 

other comprehensive 

income 

Equity securities (irrevocable 

election) 

Not 

applicable 

Loans and deposits to banks: 

- Deposits to banks 

- Loans to banks 

Held for 

collecti

on of 

cash 

flows 

YES 

Financial assets at 

amortised cost 

 

Loans and receivables Loans to 

individuals 

(retail) 

Overdrafts 

Held for 

collecti

on of 

cash 

flows 

YES 

Credit cards  YES 

Housing YES 

Mortgages YES 

Other YES 

Craftsmen YES 

Loans to 

corporate 

entities  

Large 

corporate 

customers 

YES 

SMEs YES 

Other YES 

Other receivables YES 

Investment securities – 

Debt securities 

Listed YES 

Unlisted YES 

Investment securities – 

Debt and equity 

securities 

Listed Held for 

sale or 

trading 

Not 

applicable 

Financial assets at 

fair value through 

profit or loss 
Unlisted Not 

applicable 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.4 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

 

Financial liabilities 

 

Class (as determined by 

the Bank) 
Subclasses 

Category (according to 

IFRS 9) 

Borrowings 

Financial liabilities at 

amortised cost 

Deposits from banks 

Deposits from customers 

Retail customers 

Large corporate 

customers 

SME 

Subordinated liabilities  

 

Off-balance sheet 

financial 

instruments 

Loan commitments 

Guarantees, letters of credit and other financial instruments  

 

 

2.5 Offsetting financial instruments 

 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of financial 

position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an 

intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 

2.6 Interest income and expense 

 

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised within 

‘interest income’ and ‘interest expense’ in the statement of comprehensive income using the effective 

interest method.  

 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a 

financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 

through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net 

carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, 

the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for 

example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all 

fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest 

rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts. 

 

Interest income is recognized depending on the degree of credit risk of a financial instrument and for 

financial assets classified in Stage 1 and Stage 2 (performing) - when calculating interest income, the 

EIR is applied to the gross carrying amount of financial assets, and for financial assets allocated to 

Stage 3 the interest is suspended. Suspended interest represents an already charged interest on an asset 

for which an individual impairment has been recognized (non-performing). At the time of 

reclassification into uncollectable receivables, the Bank writes off the full amount of accrued 

uncovered interest at the expense of the income statement and suspends further calculation in the 

balance sheet and keeps the suspended interest off-balance until the debtor makes a cash payment. 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.7  Fee and commission income 

 

Fee and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial 

asset or financial liability are included in the effective interest rate. Other fee and commission income 

– fees income from companies for guarantees granted and other services rendered by the Bank, 

together with fees for foreign and domestic payment transactions – is recognised as the related 

services are performed.  If a loan commitment is not expected to result in the draw-down of a loan, 

then the related loan commitment fee is recognised on a straight-line basis over the commitment 

period. 

Fee and commission income of non-interest income character (loan management fees for and on 

behalf of other parties, payment transaction fees, other fees of non-interest type) are recognized in the 

profit or loss as the transaction is carried out.  

 

Fees for issued guarantees are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis for the 

duration of the guarantee. Fees and commissions consist mainly of fees received from payment 

transactions, guarantees, letters of credit and other services that the Bank provides. 

 

2.8 Dividend income 

 

Dividends are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the entity’s right to receive 

payment is established. 

 

2.9 Impairment of other financial instruments 

 

Financial instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income  

 

The Bank assesses at each reporting date and states the impairments i.e. provisions for expected credit 

losses for debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Any changes 

in the amounts of provisions for expected credit losses are recognized in the income statement. 

 

Off-balance sheet exposures 

  
At each reporting date the Bank classifies into appropriate risk categories the off-balance sheet 

exposures related to the Bank's credit risk exposure. When estimating the expected credit losses for 

off-balance sheet exposures the Bank applies the conversion factor 1. The amount of the expected 

credit losses related to off-balance sheet liabilities is charged to the expenses for the period when the 

loss was incurred and credited to the corresponding provisions account in the Bank's liabilities 

(Provision for off-balance sheet items). 

 

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets 

 

Assets that have an indefinite useful life and are not subject to amortisation and depreciation are tested 

annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation and depreciation are reviewed for 

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 

recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 

exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 

to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels 

for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that 

suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.11 Intangible assets 

 

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and 

bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives (4 years). 

 

2.12 Property and equipment 

 

Property and equipment are included in the Statement of financial position at historical cost less 

accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition 

of the items. 

 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 

to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are 

charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are 

incurred. Land is not depreciated. 

 

Depreciation of property and equipment during 2021 and 2020 is calculated using the straight-line 

method to allocate their cost over their estimate useful lives as follows: 

 

Buildings 33 years 

Computers 4 years 

Furniture and equipment 5-15 years 

Motor vehicles 4 years 

Leasehold improvements 5-10 years 

 

Depreciation is calculated for each asset until the asset is fully depreciated. 

 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are 

included through the statement of comprehensive income. 

 

2.13 Non-current assets held for sale 

 

Non-current assets are classified in the Statement of financial position as ‘Non-current assets held for 

sale’ if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than 

through continuing use. Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their 

carrying and fair value, less costs to sell. The assets should be available for immediate sale in their 

present condition and their sale should be very likely. 

 

2.14 Investment property 

 

Investment property, principally comprising land and business premises, is held for long-term rental 

yields or appreciation and is not occupied by the Bank. Investment property is treated as a long-term 

investment unless it is intended to be sold in the next year and a buyer has been identified in which 

case it is classified within current assets. 

 

Investment property is carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for 

impairment, where required, Investments in progress are not depreciated. Depreciation is calculated 

using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful 

lives (33 years). 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.14 Investment property (continued) 

 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that future economic benefits 

associated with it will flow to the Bank and the cost can be measured reliably. All other repairs and 

maintenance costs are expensed in the statement of comprehensive income when incurred. If an 

investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified to property and equipment, and its 

carrying amount at the date of reclassification becomes its deemed cost to be subsequently 

depreciated. 

 

2.15 Leases 

 

(a)  Bank as a lessee 

 

At inception of a contract, the Bank assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, 

or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period 

of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use 

of an identified asset, the Bank uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16. 

 

The Bank recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The 

right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 

adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct 

costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove any improvements made to branches 

or office premises. 

 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 

commencement date to the end of the lease term. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically 

reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 

 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 

the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot 

be readily determined, the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Bank uses its 

incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: fixed 

payments, including in-substance fixed payments. 

 

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  

 

The Bank presents right-of-use assets in ‘property and equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘other 

liabilities’ in the statement of financial position. 

 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets  

 

The Bank has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value 

assets and short-term leases. The Bank recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as 

an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 

The Bank elected the option to recognize the costs for short-term leases (less then 12 months) and 

low-value leases on a straight-line basis in the amount of lease payments.  

 

The Bank did not have any financial leases in its portfolio. 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.15 Leases (continued) 

 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets (continued) 

 

The average incremental interest rate the applied to leases is 4.47% (2020: 4.77%). The Bank 

calculated the incremental rate for each asset held in lease taking into consideration the risk free rate 

(for the relevant borrowing currency), economic conditions, difference in the finance cost for 

investments, term of the lease and the location of the asset. 

 

(b) Bank as a lessor 

 

Leases in which a significant portion of risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 

classified as operating leases. Assets leased out under operating leases are included in ‘Investment 

property’ in the Statement of financial position. Assets are depreciated on the straight-line basis equal 

to other property and equipment. Lease income is recognised over the period of the lease. 

 

2.16 Cash and cash equivalents 

 

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less 

than 90 days maturity from the date of acquisition including: cash and current accounts with banks, 

amounts due from other banks and treasury bills. 

 

Impairments are performed in line with the internal methodology related to expected credit losses. 

 

2.17 Provisions 

 

Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 

past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 

obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated. The Bank recognises no provisions for future 

operating losses. 

 

Where there is a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 

settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised 

even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of 

obligations may be small. 

 

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 

obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 

the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised 

as interest expense. 

 

2.18 Financial guarantee contracts 

 

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to 

reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, 

in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantees are given to banks, 

financial institutions and other bodies on behalf of customers to secure loans, overdrafts and other 

banking facilities.  

 

Impairments are performed in line with the internal methodology related to expected credit losses. 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.19 Employee benefits 

 

(a) Pension obligations and post-employment benefits 

 

In the normal course of business through salary deductions, the Bank makes payments to mandatory 

pension funds on behalf of its employees as required by law. All contributions made to the mandatory 

pension funds are recorded as salary expense when incurred. The Bank does not have any other 

pension scheme and consequently, has no other obligations in respect of employee pensions. In 

addition, the Bank is not obliged to provide any other post-employment benefits.  

 

(b) Termination benefits 

 

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Bank before the normal 

retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these 

benefits. The Bank recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either: 

terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without 

possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage 

voluntary redundancy.  

 

(c) Short-term employee benefits 

 

The Bank recognises a provision for bonuses where contractually obliged. In addition, the Bank 

recognises a liability for accumulated compensated absences based on unused vacation days at the 

Statement of financial position date. 

 

2.20 Managed funds for and on behalf of third parties 

 

The Bank manages assets for and on behalf of legal entities and individuals, and charges a fee for such 

services. Given that those assets do not represent the assets of the Bank, they have not been included 

in the Statement of financial position.  

 

2.21 Current and deferred income tax 
 

The current income tax charge is calculated at a rate of 18% according to Croatian laws and regulations. 

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which 

applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the 

basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 

 

Deferred income tax is recognised using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, 

However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or 

liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects 

neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and 

laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the Statement of financial position date and 

are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax 

liability is settled. 

 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will 

be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.22 Borrowings 

 

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 

subsequently stated at amortised cost. 

 

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the 

extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. To the extent there is no 

evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as 

a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates. 

 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Bank has an unconditional right to defer 

settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the Statement of financial position date. 

 

2.23 Share capital 

 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 

shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Where the Bank purchases its 

equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any directly attributable 

incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the Bank’s equity 

holders until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where such shares are subsequently 

sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction 

costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the Bank’s equity holders. 

 

Dividend distribution to the Bank’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the financial statements 

in the period in which the dividends are approved by the General Meeting of the Bank’s shareholders. 

 

2.24 Segment reporting 

 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 

chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker is the person or group that 

allocates resources to and assesses the performance of the operating segments of an entity. The 

Statutes of the Bank determines the Bank's Management Board as its chief operating decision maker. 

 

Income and expenses directly associated with each segment are included in determining business 

segment performance. 

 

The Bank has the following business segments: retail banking and corporate banking. 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

The Bank’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis, 

evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. The Bank’s 

aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential 

adverse effects on the Bank's financial performance. 

 

The Bank’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set 

appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of 

reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Bank regularly reviews its risk management policies 

and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practice. By setting up limits 

for particular types of risk the Bank has determined its inclination in terms of risk assumption.  

 

Risk management control is carried out by the Risk Management and Loan Recovery Department 

under policies approved by the Management Board. The Risk Management and Loan Recovery 

Department identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the Bank’s 

operating units. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written 

policies covering specific areas. In addition, internal audit is responsible for the independent review of 

risk management and the control environment. 

 

The most important types of risk are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and operational risks. 

Market risk includes currency risk, interest rate and other price risks. 

 

3.1 Credit risk 

 

The Bank takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will cause a financial 

loss for the Bank by failing to discharge an obligation. Significant changes in the economy, or in the 

health of a particular industry segment that represents a concentration in the Bank’s portfolio, could 

result in losses that are different from those provided for at the Statement of financial position date, 

Management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk. Credit exposures arise principally 

in loans, debt and other securities. There is also credit risk in off-balance sheet financial arrangements 

such as loan commitments – guarantees and letters of credit. The credit risk management control and 

the risk control are centralised in a credit risk management team in the Risk Management and Loan 

Recovery Department and reported to the Management Board and head of each business unit 

regularly. The Bank assesses customers’ credit worthiness and accepts collaterals in order to mitigate 

the credit risk. 

 

3.1.1  Credit risk measurement 

 

(a) Loans and receivables 

The Bank assesses the credit quality of exposures throughout the contractual relationship and classifies 

those exposures into appropriate risk groups based on the following general classification criteria: 

(1) the debtor's creditworthiness 

(2) regularity in the settlement of the debtor's obligations to the credit institution and other creditors 

represents the debtor's ability to fully settle its obligations to the Bank on the basis of principal, 

interest, fees and other grounds within the agreed terms and that it does not satisfy the conditions 

laid down in Article 178 of Regulation (EU) no. 575/2013 defining default status 

(3) the quality of the security for individual exposures, which is determined on the basis of market 

liquidity, documentation and the ability to exercise supervision by the bank, the possibility of 

forced collection and value in relation to the exposure based on placements / off-balance sheet 

liabilities.   



ISTARSKA KREDITNA BANKA UMAG d.d., Umag 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021  

(all amounts are expressed in thousands of HRK) 

Istarska Kreditna Banka Umag d.d. 75 2021 Annual Report 

 

NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.1  Credit risk measurement (continued) 

 

The Bank performs the assessment of borrower’s credit worthiness based on the following elements: 

 

(1) debtor’s financial position,   

(2) management quality,  

(3) debtor’s market position, 

(4) debtor’s business potential and perspectives, and 

(5) debtor’s exposure to currency risk and interest rate risk. 

 

The risk classification process and classification criteria into risk categories and impairment for 

expected credit losses is defined by the CNB’s Decision on the Classification of Exposure to Risk 

Groups and the Method of Determining Credit Losses and IFRS 9. 

 

The Bank classifies its loan exposures into two groups: small loan portfolio (group of related 

exposures below HRK 500 thousand) and individually significant exposures (group of related 

exposures exceeding HRK 500 thousand). Impairment of small loan portfolio is assessed for 

impairment on collectively basis, while impairment of individually significant exposures are 

individually assessed for impairment. 

 

Depending on the assessment of the previously specified criteria, the Bank classifies all credit 

exposures into the following categories: 

 

a. risk category A, consisting of risk sub-categories A1 and A2,  

b. risk category B, consisting of risk sub-categories B1, B2 and B3,  

c. risk category C and 

d. POCI. 

 

On initial recognition, financial assets subject to the expected credit loss model are classified in risk 

category A-1, except in the case of purchased or created financial assets less credit losses when the 

indicator POCI is added to the risk category. 

 

The Bank classifies into the risk category A1 (stage 1) credit exposures where no significant increase 

in credit risk since initial recognition has been identified. For these exposures impairments and 

provisions for credit losses are determined based on expected credit losses over a twelve-month 

period, which represents a part of expected credit losses over full lifetime that would occur in the 

event of default in the following twelve-month period. 

 

The Bank classifies into the risk category A2 (stage 2) credit exposures where a significant increase in 

credit risk from the time of initial recognition is identified, but there is no objective evidence of 

impairment. For these exposures impairments and provisions for credit losses are determined based on 

expected credit losses over full lifetime. As indicators of significant increase in the credit risk of a 

debtor the Bank takes into account the delayed repayment of obligations towards the Bank over 30 but 

less than 90 days overdue, transaction account block for 30 days over the period of last 180 days and a 

substantial deterioration of the debtor's credit rating at the time of initial recognition (for more than 

three rating classes). 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.1  Credit risk measurement (continued) 

 

The Bank classifies into the risk categories B and C (stage 3 – identified impairment) defaulted credit 

exposures. These non-performing exposures are at default status in accordance with the Decision on 

the Classification of Exposures into Risk Categories and the Method of Determining Credit Losses. 

Exposures classified as distress exposures and the exposures to debtors who have entered bankruptcy 

or liquidation proceedings are also regarded by the Bank as defaulted exposures. The level of 

impairment of individual exposures classified into risk categories B and C is determined as a positive 

difference between the gross carrying amount of an individual exposure and the present value of 

estimated debtor's future cash flows discounted by applying the effective interest rate and respecting 

the minimal impairment levels required by the Decision.  

 

The Bank reassesses the risk of each exposure subject to the expected credit loss model at least every 3 

months, and possibly more frequently if necessary.  

 

Input data analysis for ECL model 

 

The measurement of the ECL contains an element of judgement relating to the assessment of the 

probability of default (PD), loss in the event of default (LGD), future economic scenarios, assessment 

of default exposure (EAD) and assessment of significant increases in credit risk. 

 

Future economic scenarios include an economic variable (GDP) based on statistical models based on 

historical correlations between the economic variable (GDP) and the default rate (DR). 

 

The scenarios used to calculate the Bank's ECL were reviewed and updated during 2021, by using the 

most recent data on economic recovery following the adverse effects of the COVID-19 pandemic in 

2020, but also after receiving the most recent data on the inflation rate increase observed in 2021. 

 

As a result of the stimulating measures introduced by banks in the form of a moratorium, by the 

Government in the form of reimbursement of wages to affected industries and the tourist season which 

was outstandingly good especially in the areas of the Bank’s business operation, a significant 

deterioration in creditworthiness was not realized on a large number of clients. Due to uncertainties, 

the Management Board conducts continuous monitoring of its clients and reclassifies clients to Stage 2 

when identifying problems. 

 

The economic environment remains uncertain, and future impairment costs depend on further 

volatility (including changes in macroeconomic variables projections), the longevity of the COVID-19 

pandemic and restrictive measures, as well as support measures. 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.1  Credit risk measurement (continued) 

 

Significant increase in credit risk (SICR) 

 

Increased credit risk arises in the event of any of these conditions occurring and indicates the 

reclassification of exposures from the risk subcategory A1 to A2: 

 

— the borrower is late in payment of its overdue exposures by more than 30 days at the reporting 

date, but is still within deadlines not exceeding 90 days,  

— deterioration of credit rating for more than three classes than the rating at initial recognition, 

— the record of transaction account block for more than 30 days over the period of last 180 days. 

 

The occurrence of any of the indicators indicates a reclassification of exposures. 

 

Almost all accounting and prudential authorities have coordinately issued recommendations or 

measures in the context of the COVID-19 crisis to assess expected losses under IFRS 9, aiming to 

provide additional information to credit institutions, relating to measuring expected credit losses, given 

the difficulties in making reliable macroeconomic forecasts and with the assumption that it is a 

temporary economic shock. 

 

Preferential treatment in terms of classification of exposures into risk categories for credit exposures 

with approved COVID-19 measures that could be applied in 2020 is not applicable as at 31 December 

2021 and the classification of credit exposures into risk categories as from 30 June 2021 is carried out 

in accordance with the provisions of the Decision on the classification of exposures into risk 

categories and the method of determining credit losses.  

 

 

Impact of COVID 19 on credit risk 

 

To assess the impact of the crisis on its clients' portfolio, the Bank introduced a more frequent review 

of customer portfolios. In addition, during 2021 the majority of credit exposures were transferred from 

the moratorium granted as a result of the COVID crisis to regular repayments.   

 

Despite initial uncertainties about the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the economic 

environment of the Republic of Croatia and the Bank's dominant territory of operation, business 

entities and individuals that make up the Bank' s credit base have proved to be very resilient to the 

negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, especially in the context of the 2021 tourist season, 

which was much better than initially expected forecasts, and especially due to successful 

implementation of measures of the Government of the Republic of Croatia aimed to ensure the 

liquidity of economic entities and preserve jobs, availability of vaccines against SARS-CoV-2 virus 

and measures introduced to mitigate the spread of the virus. 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.1  Credit risk measurement (continued) 

 

Impact of COVID 19 on credit risk (continued) 

 

Given the above, the Bank’s management has applied COVID-19 specific adjustments and the 

recorded inflation rate in forward looking information in PD calculation to ensure the full potential 

negative future impacts of COVID-19 to ECL are provided for. 

 

For non-performing loans, in line with the CNB requirements, the Bank applies minimum impairment 

requirements in case of arreas (more than 2 years) and holds provisions which further increase by 5% 

for each additional 6 months of delays irrespective of the quality of collateral coverage. 

 

The economic environment remains uncertain, so additional impairments may arise in future periods 

as a result of the longevity of the COVID-19 pandemic, the emergence of new virus strains  and in the 

light of persistant inflationary impacts. 

 

The pandemic has affected the global economy throughout 2021, but macroeconomic forecasts show 

that in future periods further increases of the BDP rate can be expected, which could be significantly 

higher than initially anticipated. However, a very small number of clients had as a consequence 

deteriorated credit ratings, mainly due to continued government support to the most vulnerable 

economic branches and due to a very successful tourist season that exceeded initial expectations.  

 

Also, the average portfolio risk profile remained broadly stable throughout the year and did not 

deteriorate in line with the macroeconomic crisis characterized by the persistence of the COVID - 19 

pandemic and the established inflation rate. 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.1  Credit risk measurement (continued) 

 

Definition of default 

 

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt 

financial assets carried at FVOCI are credit-impaired (referred to as ‘Stage 3 financial assets’). 

 

The borrower is considered as defaulted and therefore Stage 3 in cases when the borrower is more than 

90 days past due on any material credit obligation to the Bank or when the borrower is unlikely to pay 

its credit obligations to the institution, the parent undertaking or any of its subsidiaries in full, without 

recourse by the institution to actions such as realising security. 

 

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:  

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor; 

- breach of contract such as failure to complete or due to maturity; 

- restructuring of a loan or an advance by the Company under conditions that the Company 

would not consider in the normal circumstances; 

- it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or another type of financial 

reorganisation. 

 

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition is usually 

considered to be credit-impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash 

flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment. 

 

When determining a default status, in addition to the aforementioned, the relations within a group of 

related entities are also considered if the default status has been established with regard to one of the 

debtors within the respective group of related entities that results in the spreading of the default status 

on other entities within the same group.  

 

All financial instruments of client in default status are classified to Stage 3. 

 

Placements to clients in default status due to a material delay in the payment of obligations for more 

than 90 days can be classified to the performing category after the lapse of at least three months during 

which the default status triggers do not exist any more. 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.1  Credit risk measurement (continued) 

 

After calculating the required impairment, the Bank allocates exposures to risk categories depending 

on the level of the calculated loss (in accordance with the CNB Regulations). 

 

1. Risk category A 
 

A1 - newly approved exposures at the beginning of the contractual relationship and 

exposures where no significant increase in credit risk was identified since initial 

recognition (calculation of expected credit losses over a twelve-month period) 

A2 - exposures where a significant increase in credit risk was recognized since initial 

recognition (calculation of expected credit losses over the lifetime of the financial asset) 

 

2. Risk category B – partly recoverable exposures which are classified into three subcategories, 

depending on the percentage of the impairment losses recognized in relation to the nominal 

carrying amount: 
 

B1 – when the level of impairment and provisions does not exceed 30% of the exposure 

amount; 

B2 – when the level of impairment and provisions amounts to more than 30% (minimum 

30.01%) and not more than 70% of the exposure amount; 

B3 – when the level of impairment and provisions is more than 70% (minimum 70.01%) 

and less than 100% of the exposure amount. 

 

3. Risk category C - non-recoverable exposures with impairment at the amount of 100% 

exposure.  

 

Exposures classified in risk category A represent performing exposures while exposures in risk 

category B and C represent non-performing exposures. 
 

In order for the expected credit losses to include the expected increase in client credit risk resulting 

from the COVID-19 crisis, but also from the increase of the inflation rate, the probability of default 

rate (hereinafter: PD) has been increased compared to the PD base rate to include the expected default 

percentage due to COVID circumstances and to the circumstamces of inflation rate increase.  
 

In order to determine the impact of future macroeconomic conditions on expected credit losses, by 

analysis based on historical data, PD has been adjusted to macroeconomic expectations disclosed by 

recognized relevant institutions which publish details on the assessment of movements in 

macroeconomic indicator rates. In doing so, the Bank used three different scenarios of further 

economic development, as follows: 
 

- Pessimistic scenario, which forecasts appreciable decrease in GDP and increase of inflation 

- Baseline scenario, assuming an unchanged macroeconomic environment  

- Optimistic scenario, which forecasts an increase in the GDP rate in upcoming years, where 

earlier years retain higher weight and the later ones lower weight 
 

Taking into consideration all above stated inputs, the default probability rate was increased due to the 

crises induced by COVID-19 pandemic and the established inflation rate, and the Bank included them 

in the expected credit losses calculation model. 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.1  Credit risk measurement (continued) 

 

(b) Debt securities and other bills  

 

The investments in those securities and bills are viewed as a way to gain a better mapping and 

maintain a readily available source to meet the funding requirement at the same time. 

 

3.1.2  Risk limit control and mitigation policies  

 

Concentration of risk towards the Republic of Croatia 

 

The Bank manages and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified − in 

particular, to individual counterparties and groups, and to industries and countries. 

 

There is a significant concentration in the assets and liabilities of the Bank towards the Republic of 

Croatia ("RC"), as follows (after impairment charge): 

 

 2021  2020 

 

Cash and balances with Croatian National Bank 1,383,125  829,408 

Treasury bills of the RC 247,166  530,144 

Bonds of the Republic of Croatia 166,972  106,166 

Deferred tax assets 1,221  1,182 

Income tax liabilities (1,343)  (94) 

Other liabilities (601)  (650) 

 1,796,540  1,466,156 

 

Indirect exposure of the Bank towards the Republic of Croatia as at 31 December is the following: 

 

 2021  2020 

 

Loans guaranteed by the RC and institutions founded by the 

RC 
100,713  73,852 

Loans to companies founded by the RC 44,393  44,798 

Other assets 3  3 

Borrowings received from HBOR (66,900)  (21,898) 

Due to customers (7,224)  (5,816) 

 70,985  90,939 

 

The exposure to any one borrower, including banks, is further restricted by sub-limits covering on- 

and off-balance sheet exposures, and daily delivery risk limits in relation to trading items. Actual 

exposures against limits are monitored daily. 

 

Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and 

potential borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending 

limits where appropriate. 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.2  Risk limit control and mitigation policies (continued) 

 

Exposure securities 

 

(a) Security instruments and other means of collateral 

 

The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most frequent of these 

is the taking of security for funds receivables, which is common practice. The Bank implements 

guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The principal 

collateral types for loans and receivables are: 

 

 Mortgages over residential properties – a charge over an apartment, a house or a residential 

building; 

 Charges over business assets – business premises; 

 Charges over other assets – building land, agricultural plots; 

 Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities and equities; 

 Pledge of cash deposits 

 

The Bank also accepts collateral instruments in the form of intangible credit protection such as 

guarantees and other collateral accepted in accordance with European Union and national regulations. 

 

Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally secured, whereas different forms 

of card exposures or overdraft exposures in the retail segment are generally unsecured.  

 

Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans is determined by the nature of the 

instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured, with the 

exception of asset-backed securities and similar instruments, which are secured by portfolios of 

financial instruments. 

 

(b) Credit-related commitments 

 

The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as 

required. Guarantees and letters of credit carry the same credit risk as loans.  

 

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form 

of loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, 

the Bank is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, 

the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments, as most commitments to extend 

credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards, when the Bank approves 

the use of credit by signing an annex to the contract and in this regard, depending on the credit risk, 

the Bank may not extend further use of credit. Impairments of commitments are performed in line with 

the internal methodology related to expected credit losses. 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.3  Impairment and provisioning policies  

 

The expected credit losses shown in the Statement of financial position at year-end are based on 

effective legal regulations. The table below shows the percentage of the Bank’s on-balance sheet 

relating to loans and the associated expected credit losses for each of the Bank’s internal rating 

categories:  

 

Bank’s rating    

 2021  2020 

 Gross loans to 

customers  

Expected 

credit losses  

 Gross loans to 

customers  

Expected 

credit losses  
     

Stage 1 1,806,253 10,564  1,695,694 10,626 

Stage 2 180,941 12,032  143,436 10,207 

Stage 3 300,295 148,335  302,922 154,905 

 2,287,489 170,931  2,142,052 175,738 

 

Bank’s rating    

 2021  2020 

 Gross loans to 

customers  

(%)  

Expected 

credit losses  

(%)  

 Gross loans to 

customers  

(%)  

Expected 

credit losses 

(%)  
     

Stage 1 78.96 6.18  79.16 6.05 

Stage 2 7.91 7.04  6.70 5.81 

Stage 3 13.13 86.78  14.14 88.14 

 100.00 100.00  100.00 100.00 

 

The Bank’s policy requires the review of individual financial assets that are above materiality 

thresholds at least annually or more regularly when individual circumstances require. Expected credit 

losses are estimated based on an internal model of expected credit losses and according to the 

provisions of the Decision on the Classification of Exposures into Risk Categories and the Method of 

Determining Credit Losses, and are applied to all individually significant accounts. The assessment 

normally encompasses collateral held (including re-confirmation of its enforceability) and the 

anticipated receipts for that individual account. 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements  

 

Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets 

are as follows: 2021 2020 

 

Cash and accounts with Croatian National Bank 1,361,214 642,918 

Other balances with Croatian National Bank 213,778 186,490 

Loans and deposits to banks 215,103 155,599 

Loans to customers:   

Loans to individuals:   

− Consumer loans 301,859 312,983 

− Mortgages  27,702 20,840 

− Housing loans 483,417 405,015 

− Loans to craftsmen 140,957 129,071 

− Other 10,711 12,044 

Loans to corporate entities:   

− Large corporate customers 147,686 206,307 

− Small and medium size enterprises (SMEs) 929,567 795,578 

− Other 74,659 84,476 

Investment securities   

− Financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 
270,357 553,382 

− Financial assets at amortised cost  201,045 92,569 

Other assets 2,523 2,687 

 4,380,578 3,599,959 

 

Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet  

items are as follows: 2021 2020 
 

Financial guarantees and letters of credit  93,750 75,555 

Loan commitments and other credit related liabilities 191,867 294,833 

 285,617 370,388 

At 31 December 4,666,195 3,970,347 

 

The above table represents the maximum exposure of the Bank to credit risk at 31 December 2021 and 

2020, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. For on-

balance-sheet assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amount of a certain placement 

and the current value of estimated cash flows as reported in the Statement of financial position. 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.4  Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements 

(continued) 

 

As shown above, 48.29% of the total maximum exposure is derived from loans to customers (2020: 

47.23%); in addition, 31.06% represents investments held with the Croatian National Bank (2020: 

20.01%). 

By analysing the portfolio of loans to customers the following was determined: 

 86.87% of the loans portfolio, Stage 1 and Stage 2 (2020: 85.86% of the portfolio), are considered 

to be fully recoverable; 

 13.13% of the loans portfolio, Stage 3 (2020: 14.14% of the portfolio), are considered to be 

partially recoverable or unrecoverable. 

 

Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure  
 

(a) Geographical sectors 

 

The following table breaks down the Bank’s main credit exposure at their carrying amounts, as 

categorised by geographical region as of 31 December 2021. For this table, the Bank has allocated 

exposures to regions based on the country of domicile of its counterparties. 

 

 

 Croatia 
Other EU 

countries  

Other 

countries 
Total 

Cash and accounts with Croatian National 

Bank 1,361,214 - - 1,361,214 

Other balances with Croatian National 

Bank 213,778 - - 213,778 

Loans and deposits to banks 53,544 100,873 60,686 215,103 

Loans to customers:     

  Loans to individuals:     

− Consumer loans 301,008 845 6 301,859 

− Mortgages to craftsmen 27,702 - - 27,702 

− Housing loans 483,417 - - 483,417 

− Loans to craftsmen  140,957 - - 140,957 

− Other 10,711 - - 10,711 

 Loans to corporate entities:     

− Large corporate customers 147,686 - - 147,686 

− SMEs 929,567 - - 929,567 

− Other 74,659 - - 74,659 

Investment securities: 
    

Financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 
270,345 12 - 270,357 

Financial assets at amortised cost 201,045 - - 201,045 

Other assets  2,497 24 2 2,523 

At 31 December 2021 4,218,130 101,754 60,694 4,380,578 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.4  Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements 

(continued) 
 

Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet items are as follows: 
 

 Croatia 
Other EU 

countries 

Other 

countries 
Total 

Financial guarantees and letters of credit  191,646 221 - 191,867 

Loan commitments and other loan related 

liabilities  
93,749 - - 93,749 

At 31 December 2021 285,395 221 - 285,616 

 

 Croatia 
Other EU 

countries  

Other 

countries 
Total 

Cash and accounts with Croatian National 

Bank 642,918 - - 642,918 

Other balances with Croatian National Bank 186,490 - - 186,490 

Loans and deposits to banks 51,408 59,630 44,561 155,599 

Loans to customers:     

  Loans to individuals:     

− Consumer loans 312,357 622 4 312,983 

− Mortgages to craftsmen 20,840 - - 20,840 

− Housing loans 405,015 - - 405,015 

− Loans to craftsmen  129,071 - - 129,071 

− Other 12,044 - - 12,044 

     

 Loans to corporate entities:     

− Large corporate customers 206,307 - - 206,307 

− SMEs 795,050 - 528 795,578 

− Other 84,476 - - 84,476 

Investment securities:     

Financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 553,382 - - 553,382 

Financial assets at amortised cost 92,569 - - 92,569 

Other assets  2,677 6 4 2,687 

At 31 December 2020 3,494,604 62,058 45,097 3,599,959 

 

Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet items are as follows: 
 

 Croatia 
Other EU 

countries 

Other 

countries 
Total 

Financial guarantees and letters of credit  75,555 - - 75,555 

Loan commitments and other loan related 

liabilities  
294,554 279 - 294,833 

At 31 December 2020 370,109 279 - 370,388 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

3.1.4  Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements (continued) 

(b) Industry sectors   
 

The following table breaks down the Bank’s main credit exposure at their carrying amounts, as categorised by the industry sectors of the counterparties. 
 

2021 
Financial 

institutions 
Manufacturing 

Real 

estate 

Wholesale and 

retail trade 

Public 

sector 

Other 

industries 
Individual Total 

Cash and accounts with Croatian National Bank 1,361,214 - - - - - - 1,361,214 

Other balances with Croatian National Bank 213,778 - - - - - - 213,778 

Loans and deposits to banks 215,103 - - - - - - 215,103 

Loans to customers:         

Loans to individuals:         

−  Consumer loans - - - - - - 301,859 301,859 

−  Mortgages - - - - - - 27,702 27,702 

−  Housing loans - - - - - - 483,417 483,417 

−  Loans to craftsmen - - - - - - 140,957 140,957 

−  Other - - - - - - 10,711 10,711 

Loans to corporate entities:         

−  Large corporate customers - 55 54,660 4,375 - 88,596 - 147,686 

−  SMEs 13,414 285,319 125,791 170,059 45,255 289,729 - 929,567 

−  Other 169 22,299 11,192 22,412 613 17,974 - 74,659 

Investment securities:         

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

income 
- - - - 270,357 - - 270,357 

Financial assets at amortised cost - 49,191 - - 145,136 6,718 - 201,045 

Other assets  1,099 122 104 232 107 347 512 2,523 

At 31 December 2021 1,804,777 356,986 191,747 197,078 461,468 403,364 965,158 4,380,578 

Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet items are as follows: 

2021  
Financial 

institutions 
Manufacturing 

Real 

estate 

Wholesale and 

retail trade 

Public 

sector 

Other 

industries 
Individuals Total 

Financial guarantees and letters of credit  299 33,952 20,306 16,140 549 41,854 78,768 191,868 

Loan commitments and other credit related liabilities  - 17,632 31,417 18,796 - 22,593 3,311 93,749 

At 31 December 2021 299 51,584 51,723 34,936 549 64,447 82,079 285,617 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

3.1.4  Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements (continued) 
 

2020 
Financial 

institutions 
Manufacturing 

Real 

estate 

Wholesale and 

retail trade 

Public 

sector 

Other 

industries 
Individual Total 

Cash and accounts with Croatian National Bank 642,918 - - - - - - 642,918 

Other balances with Croatian National Bank 186,490 - - - - - - 186,490 

Loans and deposits to banks 155,599 - - -  - - 155,599 

Loans to customers:         

Loans to individuals:         

−  Consumer loans - - - - - - 312,983 312,983 

−  Mortgages - - - - - - 20,840 20,840 

−  Housing loans - - - - - - 405,015 405,015 

−  Loans to craftsmen - - - - - - 129,071 129,071 

−  Other - - - - - - 12,044 12,044 

Loans to corporate entities:         

−  Large corporate customers - 6,770 51,590 42,266 - 105,681 - 206,307 

−  SMEs 12,520 249,817 130,920 181,515 21,946 198,860  795,578 

−  Other 59 28,776 15,651 20,914 329 18,747 - 84,476 

Investment securities:     -    

Financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 
- - - - 553,382 - - 553,382 

Financial assets at amortised cost - - - 194 82,722 9,653 - 92,569 

Other assets  1,260 183 93 192 99 439 421 2,687 

At 31 December 2020 998,846 285,546 198,254 245,081 658,478 333,380 880,374 3,599,959 

Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet items are as follows: 

2020  
Financial 

institutions 
Manufacturing 

Real 

estate 

Wholesale and 

retail trade 

Public 

sector 

Other 

industries 
Individuals Total 

Financial guarantees and letters of credit  - 15,258 23,983 12,715 - 20,815 2,784 75,555 

Loan commitments and other credit related liabilities  276 20,836 18,946 33,338 26,804 112,992 81,641 294,833 

At 31 December 2020 276 36,094 42,929 46,053 26,804 133,807 84,425 370,388 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.5  Financial instruments exposed to credit risk 

 

Financial instruments exposed to credit risk allocated to risk stages are summarised as follows:  

 

 

2021 

Cash and 

accounts with 

Croatian 

National Bank 

Other balances 

with Croatian 

National Bank 

Loans to 

customers 

Loans and 

deposits to 

banks 

Financial 

assets at fair 

value through 

other 

comprehensive 

income 

Financial 

assets at 

amortised 

cost 

Other 

assets 

        

Stage 1 1,361,214 213,965 1,806,253 215,184 270,413 201,080 2,114 

Stage 2 - - 180,941 - - - 154 

Stage 3 - - 271,611 - - - 3,819 

POCI: - - 28,684 - - - - 

Gross 1,361,214 213,965 2,287,489 215,184 270,413 201,080 6,087 

 

Impaired for: 

Expected credit 

losses 

- (187) (167,988) (81) (56) (35) (3,565) 

POCI 

impairment 
- - (2,943) - - - - 

Net 1,361,214 213,778 2,116,558 215,103 270,357 201,045 2,522 

 

 

2021 
 

Financial guarantees 

and letters of credit 

Loan commitments 

and other credit 

related liabilities 

Stage 1 92,754 182,004 
Stage 2 1,463 8,752 
Stage 3 - 2,081 

Gross 94,217 192,837 
Impaired for: 

Expected credit losses 
(467) (970) 

Net 93,750 191,867 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.5  Financial instruments exposed to credit risk 

 

2020 

Cash and 

accounts with 

Croatian 

National Bank 

Other balances 

with Croatian 

National Bank 

Loans to 

customers 

Loans and 

deposits to 

banks 

Financial 

assets at fair 

value through 

other 

comprehensive 

income 

Financial 

assets at 

amortised 

cost 

Other 

assets 

        

Stage 1 642,918 186,602 1,695,694 155,657 553,457 92,583 2,219 

Stage 2 - - 143,436 - - - 98 

Stage 3 - - 271,428 - - 290 4,387 

POCI: - - 31,494 - - - - 

Gross 642,918 186,602 2,142,052 155,657 553,457 92,873 6,704 

 

Impaired for: 

Expected credit 

losses 

- (112) (172,663) (58) (75) (304) (4,017) 

POCI 

impairment 
- - (3,075) - - - - 

Net 642,918 186,490 1,966,314 155,599 553,382 92,569 2,687 

 

 

2020 
 

Financial guarantees 

and letters of credit 

Loan commitments 

and other credit 

related liabilities 

Stage 1 70,994 284,579 
Stage 2 4,990 10,815 
Stage 3 163 858 

Gross 76,147 296,252 
Impaired for: 

Expected credit losses 
(592) (1,419) 

Net 75,555 294,833 

 

Financial instruments allocated to Stage 1 and Stage 2 are regarded as recoverable, while Stage 3 is 

regarded as partially or fully unrecoverable. 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.5  Financial instruments exposed to credit risk (continued) 

 

Transition of impairment allowances in 2021 between stages is summarized as follows: 

 

 

Balances with Croatian National Bank 2021 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

At 1 January 2021 112 - - 112 

Transfers: - - - - 
     

Net remeasurement of loss allowance 75 - - 75 
     

At 31 December 2021 187 - - 187 

 

 

 

Balances with Croatian National Bank 2020 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

At 1 January 2020 92 - - 92 

Transfers: - - - - 
     

Net remeasurement of loss allowance 20 - - 20 
     

At 31 December 2020 112 - - 112 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.5  Financial instruments exposed to credit risk (continued) 

 

 

Loans to customers 2021 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

At 1 January 2021 9,116 11,784 170,822 191,722 

Transfers:     

To Stage 1 3,026 (2,429) (597) - 

To Stage 2 (1,063) 1,727 (664) - 

To Stage 3 (433) (984) 1,417 - 
     

Net remeasurement of loss allowance (3,788) 3,115 7,514 6,841 
     

Newly originated financial assets* 4,115 1,415 1,748 7,278 
     

Collected in course of the year (1,919) (1,019) (5,246) (8,184) 

Write offs and other movements - - (10,742) (10,742) 

At 31 December 2021 10,564 12,032 148,335 170,931 

 

 

Loans to customers 2020 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

At 1 January 2020 9,116 11,784 170,822 191,722 

Transfers:     

To Stage 1 6,419 (5,612) (807) - 

To Stage 2 (373) 908 (535) - 

To Stage 3 (489) (1,229) 1,718 - 
     

Net remeasurement of loss allowance (5,835) 3,997 11,735 9,897 
     

Newly originated financial assets* 2,799 1,058 2,749 6,606 
     

Collected in course of the year (1,011) (699) (9,826) (11,536) 

Write offs and other movements - - (20,951) (20,951) 

At 31 December 2020 10,626 10,207 154,905 175,738 

 

 

*- The line 'Newly originated financial assets' discloses expected credit losses by exposures originated 

during the period in the amount and the stage to which the exposure was classified at the end of the 

year. 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.5  Financial instruments exposed to credit risk (continued) 

 

Loans and deposits to banks 

 

 2021 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

At 1 January 2021 58 - - 58 

Transfers: - - - - 
     

Net remeasurement of loss allowance 9 - - 9 
     

Newly originated financial assets* 11 - - 11 
     

Write offs and other movements 3 - - 3 

At 31 December 2021 81 - - 81 

 

 

 2020 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

At 1 January 2020 68 - - 68 

Transfers: - - - - 
     

Net remeasurement of loss allowance (8) - - (8) 
     

Newly originated financial assets* 1 - - 1 
     

Write offs and other movements (3) - - (3) 

At 31 December 2020 58 - - 58 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.5  Financial instruments exposed to credit risk (continued) 

 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

 

 

 2021 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

At 1 January 2021 75 - - 75 

Transfers: - - - - 

     
     

Net remeasurement of loss allowance - - - - 
     

Newly originated financial assets* 33 - - 33 
     

Collected in course of the year (71) - - (71) 

At 31 December 2021 37 - - 37 

 

 

 2020 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

At 1 January 2020 91 - - 91 

Transfers: - - - - 

     
     

Net remeasurement of loss allowance - - - - 
     

Newly originated financial assets* 72 - - 72 
     

Collected in course of the year (88) - - (88) 

At 31 December 2020 75 - - 75 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.5  Financial instruments exposed to credit risk (continued) 

 

Financial assets at amortised cost 

 

 2021 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

At 1 January 2021 30 - 274 304 

Transfers: - - - - 
     

Net remeasurement (16) - 15 (1) 

Newly originated financial assets* 21 - - 21 
     

Collection in course of the year - - - - 

Write offs and other movement - - (289) (289) 

At 31 December 2021 35 - - 35 

 

 

 2020 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

At 1 January 2020 31 7 326 364 

Transfers: - - - - 
     

Newly originated financial assets* 5 - - 5 
     

Collection in course of the year - (7) (24) (31) 

Write offs and other movement (6) - (28) (34) 

At 31 December 2020 30 - 274 304 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.5  Financial instruments exposed to credit risk (continued) 

 

Other assets 

 

 2021 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

At 1 January 2021 71 21 3,925 4,017 

Transfers:     

To Stage 1 28 (11) (17) - 

To Stage 2 (1) 8 (7) - 

To Stage 3 (3) (7) 10 - 
     

Net remeasurement of loss allowance (39) 1 (74) (112) 

     

Newly originated financial assets* 2 1 23 26 
     

Collection in course of the year (3) (2) (62) (67) 

Write offs and other movements - - (300) (300) 

At 31 December 2021 55 11 3,498 3,564 

 

 

 2020 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

At 1 January 2020 74 13 3,878 3,965 

Transfers:     

To Stage 1 13 (9) (4) - 

To Stage 2 (7) 12 (5) - 

To Stage 3 (4) (5) 9 - 
     

Net remeasurement of loss allowance (10) 10 111 111 
     

Newly originated financial assets* 5 1 10 16 
     

Collection in course of the year - (1) (52) (53) 

Write offs and other movements - - (22) (22) 

At 31 December 2020 71 21 3,925 4,017 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.5  Financial instruments exposed to credit risk (continued) 

 

Provision for off-balance items 

 

 2021 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

At 1 January 2021 1,620 143 248 2,011 

Transfers:     

To Stage 1 129 (117) (12) - 

To Stage 2 (65) 65 - - 

To Stage 3 (18) (4) 22 - 
     

Net remeasurement of loss allowance (809) 9 10 (790) 

     

Newly originated financial assets* 730 19 22 771 
     

Collection in course of the year (409) (11) (135) (555) 

Write offs and other movements - - - - 

At 31 December 2021 1,178 104 155 1,437 

 

 

 2020 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

At 1 January 2020 1,430 155 392 1,977 

Transfers:     

To Stage 1 45 (40) (5) - 

To Stage 2 (27) 22 5 - 

To Stage 3 (9) (4) 13 - 
     

Net remeasurement of loss allowance 239 37 75 351 
     

Newly originated financial assets* 805 76 85 966 
     

Collection in course of the year (863) (103) (324) (1,290) 

Write offs and other movements - - 7 7 

At 31 December 2020 1,620 143 248 2,011 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.5  Financial instruments exposed to credit risk (continued) 

 

The credit risk assessment of loans and receivables is based primarily on the assessment of the 

customer's creditworthiness (so-called credit scoring). Credit rating models use internal and external 

data to assess the creditworthiness of debtors, forecast future operations, and manage approval limits 

and collection activities. Internal credit rating is one of the factors used in the process of accepting 

new customers and managing existing customers. 

 

In order to calculate the customer's internal credit rating, the borrower's credit rating is categorized by 

a default probability ("PD") for further grouping into a rating category. 

 

The following table shows the mapping of PD rates by risk level: 

 

 

PD bands Description 

0.03% - 1.97%  Low risk 

1.98% - 7.82% Medium risk 

7.83% - 16.12% High risk 

100% Impaired / Default 

 

 

Loans and receivables from customers and banks according to internal credit rating: 

 

 

 2021 2020 

 Loans to 

customers 

Loans to banks Loans to 

customers 

Loans to banks 

Low risk 1.294.274 215.103 1,160,592 155,599 

Medium risk 608.303 - 567,095 - 

High risk 62.022 - 90,610 - 

Without 

assessment - - - - 

Impaired 151.959 - 148,017 - 

Total net 

exposure 2.116.558 215.103 1,966,314 155,599 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  

 

3.1.5 Financial instruments exposed to credit risk (continued) 

(a) Loans in A1 risk category 

Loans to customers and loans to banks classified in the risk category A1 are placements less than 30 

days past due. No significant increase of credit risk was identified after the initial recognition and they 

were impaired based on expected credit losses over a 12-month period, which represents a part of 

expected credit losses over full lifetime of a loan that would be incurred if the probability of default 

would appear in the following 12 months. 

 

The breakdown of these loans is as follows: 

 

31 December 2021 

 
Corporate 

entities 

Public 

sector 

Consumer 

loans 

Crafts-

men 
Mortgage Housing Other Total 

Loans covered by 

guarantees of other 

parties including loan 

insurance 

23,185 44,456 - 4,128 - - - 71,769 

Loans secured by:          

- residential property 155,571 581 139,957 48,658 19,192 386,409 - 750,368 

- other property 451,331 18,715 9,409 39,778 4,175 27,040 - 550,448 

- cash deposits 7,696 - 8,634 1,279 75 3,690 - 21,374 

Total 637,783 63,752 158,000 93,843 23,442 417,139 - 1,393,959 

Unsecured amount 134,758 88,578 110,194 28,737 202 39,846 9,979 412,294 

Total loans 772,541 152,330 268,194 122,580 23,644 456,985 9,979 1,806,253 

 

 

31 December 2020 

 
Corporate 

entities 

Public 

sector 

Consumer 

loans 

Crafts-

men 
Mortgage Housing Other Total 

Loans covered by 

guarantees of other 

parties including loan 

insurance 

2,165 44,735 - 1,188 - - - 48,088 

Loans secured by:          

- residential property 162,052 665 147,941 39,007 12,971 316,352 - 678,988 

- other property 515,250 10,243 13,938 45,661 3,011 17,469 - 605,572 

- cash deposits 4,512 - 6,797 1,830 75 4,009 - 17,223 

Total 683,979 55,643 168,676 87,686 16,057 337,830 - 1,349,871 

Unsecured amount 100,997 58,664 109,190 27,105 871 38,174 10,822 345,823 

Total loans 784,976 114,307 277,866 114,791 16,928 376,004 10,822 1,695,694 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.5 Financial instruments exposed to credit risk (continued) 

 

(b) Loans in A2 risk category 

 

Loans to customers and loans to banks classified in the risk category A2 are placements with identified 

increase of credit risk since initial recognition or those with identified delay in repayment over 30 but 

less than 90 days past due. They were impaired based on expected credit losses over full lifetime of a 

loan. 

 

31 December 2021 

 
Corporate 

entities 

Public 

sector 

Consumer 

loans 

Crafts-

men 
Mortgage Housing Other Total 

Loans covered by 

guarantees of other 

parties including 

loan insurance 

16,884 - - 397 - - - 17,281 

Loans secured by:          

- residential property 19,563 - 22,685 3,616 1,495 22,921 - 70,280 

- other property 64,538 - 990 4,030 1,330 462 - 71,350 

- cash deposits 1,855 - 373 - - 444 - 2,672 

Total 102,840 - 24,048 8,043 2,825 23,827 - 161,583 

Unsecured amount 8,317 - 7,581 1,276 - 1,512 672 19,358 

Total loans 111,157 - 31,629 9,319 2,825 25,339 672 180,941 

 

 

31 December 2020 

 
Corporate 

entities 

Public 

sector 

Consumer 

loans 

Crafts-

men 
Mortgage Housing Other Total 

Loans covered by 

guarantees of other 

parties including loan 

insurance 

4,227 - - - - - - 4,227 

Loans secured by:          

- residential property 16,837 - 25,144 5,289 602 23,092 - 70,964 

- other property 40,562 - 1,143 429 1,073 800 - 44,007 

- cash deposits 1,793 - 630 - - 484 - 2,907 

Total 63,419 - 26,917 5,718 1,675 24,376 - 122,105 

Unsecured amount 2,769 6,018 7,167 1,067 - 3,328 982 21,331 

Total loans 66,188 6,018 34,084 6,785 1,675 27,704 982 143,436 

 

Upon initial recognition of loans, the fair value of the collateral is based on valuation techniques 

commonly used for the corresponding assets. In subsequent periods, the fair value is updated by 

reference to the market price or indexes of similar assets. 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.5 Financial instruments exposed to credit risk (continued) 

  

(c) Loans in B and C risk categories  

 

Loans to customers and loans to banks categorized in the risk categories B and C have been 

individually impaired. The total value of these loans before taking into consideration the cash flows 

from collateral held amounted to HRK 271,611thousand (2020: HRK 271,428thousand). Despite 

quality collateral, due to significant delays and deteriorated financial position of the debtor, an 

impairment of the loans and receivables has been performed. 

 

The breakdown of the gross amount of individually impaired loans by class, along with the fair value 

of related collateral held by the Bank as security, is as follows: 

 

31 December 2021 

 
Corporate 

entities 

Public 

sector 

Consumer 

loans 
Craftsmen Mortgage Housing Other Total 

Loans covered by 

guarantees of other 

parties including 

loan insurance 

- - - 665 - - - 665 

Loans secured by:          

- residential 

property 
53,536 - 5,680 6,234 4,658 8,718 - 78,826 

- other property 86,190 - 167 7,856 81 - - 94,294 

- cash deposits - - 5 - - 127 - 132 

Total 139,726 - 5,852 14,755 4,739 8,845 - 173,917 

Unsecured amount 76,967 - 10,901 4,761 - 2,331 2,734 97,694 

Total loans 216,693 - 16,753 19,516 4,739 11,176 2,734 271,611 

 

 

Corporate customers POCI assets 

31 December 2021 

POCI 28,684 

Secured by residential property 1,497 

Secured by other property 27,187 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.1.5 Financial instruments exposed to credit risk (continued) 

 

31 December 2020 

 
Corporate 

entities 

Public 

sector 

Consumer 

loans 
Craftsmen Mortgage Housing Other Total 

Loans covered 

by guarantees of 

other parties 

including loan 

insurance 

85 - - 1,944 - - - 2,029 

Loans secured 

by:  
        

- residential 

property 
16,663 - 3,181 6,097 5,094 9,239 - 40,274 

- other property 114,499 7,220 1,071 6,174 127 95 - 129,186 

- cash deposits - - 160 - - 270 - 430 

Total 131,247 7,220 4,412 14,215 5,221 9,604 - 171,919 

Unsecured 

amount 
76,833 - 11,276 5,292 - 3,327 2,781 99,509 

Total loans 208,080 7,220 15,688 19,507 5,221 12,931 2,781 271,428 

 

 

 

Corporate customers POCI assets 

31 December 2020 

POCI 30,000 

Secured by residential property - 

Secured by other property 30,000 

 

 

(d) Loans renegotiated 

 

Restructuring activities include extended payment arrangements, modification and deferral of 

payments. Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria which, in the 

judgment of the Management Board, indicate that payment will most likely continue. These policies 

are kept under continuous review. Restructuring is most commonly applied to loans for corporate 

customers financing. 

 

In some situations, changing the terms or modifying the contracted cash flow may result in 

derecognition of existing financial assets. When a modification of a financial asset derecognises an 

existing financial asset and then recognizes the modified financial asset, the modified financial asset is 

treated as a “new” financial asset. 

 

Modification or change in contractual cash flows of financial assets occurs upon re-contracting or 

some other change in contractual cash flows in the period between the first recognition and maturity of 

financial assets. Changes to the originally agreed terms must be legally binding and enforceable. 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  
 

3.1.5  Financial instruments exposed to credit risk (continued) 

 

(d) Loans renegotiated (continued) 

 

When re-contracting or otherwise changing the contractual cash flows between the first recognition 

and maturity of financial assets, the Bank shall determine whether the modification occurs and 

whether the modification is so significant that it ceases to recognize existing financial assets and 

recognize new financial assets. 

 

The amount of exposures in "forbearance" measures (restructured) was slightly increased and amounts 

to HRK 160,165 thousand (2020: 146,497 thousand) due to the deterioration of financial position of 

certain customers, where with some of them the financial position deteriorated due to COVID-19 

pandemic. 

 

3.1.6 Debt securities, treasury bills, commercial and other eligible bills 

 

According to Moody’s, in 2021 the Republic of Croatia had Ba1 credit rating with stable outlook 

(2020: Ba1). The Bank does not expect that the collection of treasury bills will be difficult, since they 

are primarily short-term securities that are regularly redeemed at maturity.  

 

3.1.7  Repossessed collateral 

 

As at 31 December repossessed collateral is as follows: 

 

 Carrying value   

Nature of assets 2021 2020 

Housing facilities 511 762 

Land 12.905 12,398 

Business premises      4.265 4,265 

Total 17.681 17,425 

 

Occasionally, the Bank repossesses the properties in exchange for outstanding debts in foreclosure 

procedures and acquires title of ownership based on a court decision on the settlement of the claim. 

The value of repossessed property is carried at fair value which is the lower of the following: the 

estimated fair value or the value of loan at the date of repossession. Repossessed property is classified 

in the Statement of financial position within other assets as inventories and the selling activities are 

carried out in shortest terms possible. In case when the repossessed property is leased out, it is 

disclosed in the Statement of financial position within the investment properties. 

 

In 2021 the Bank classified the amount of HRK 6,231 thousand as foreclosed assets, whereas the 

residual amount of HRK 11,450 thousand was classified as investment property (in 2020 the amount 

of HRK 6,303 thousand was classified as foreclosed assets, while the residual amount of HRK 11,122 

thousand was classified as investment property). 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.2 Market risk  

 

The Bank takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 

financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from open 

positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific 

market movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates, 

credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The Bank manages and controls the exposure to 

market risks within acceptable parametres to secure the solvency and optimim return on assets.  

 

3.2.1 Market risk measurement techniques 

 

As part of the risk management process, the Bank operates a strategy to minimise risk. The risk is 

minimized through regular monitoring of the Bank’s exposure to each specific risk by using different 

models of measurement and monitoring of market risks and maintaining the exposures within 

acceptable limits. 

 

3.2.2 Foreign exchange risk 

 

The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange 

rates on its financial position and cash flows. The exposure to foreign currency risk arises from credit, 

deposit and investment activities. The exposure to foreign currency risk is monitored on a daily basis 

according to internally set limits of exposure to individual currencies and the aggregate exposure to all 

currencies. 
 

The Bank sets principles and limits for foreign currency exposures which are monitored daily. The 

Bank directs its business activities trying to minimise the gap between assets and liabilities 

denominated in or linked to foreign currency, and maintaining the daily business activities within daily 

potential loss limits. The parameters are regularly reviewed in accordance with fluctuations in foreign 

currency rates and correlations between currencies. 
 

At 31 December 2021, if the EUR had strengthened by 4% (4% for 2020) against the HRK, with all 

other variables held constant, the net profit for the reporting period would have been HRK 925 

thousand lower (2020: HRK 1,192 thousand lower), mainly as a result of net foreign exchange 

differences on translation of EUR-denominated foreign cash funds, loans, deposits and borrowings.  
 

At 31 December 2021, if the USD had strengthened by 10% (10% for 2020) against the HRK, with all 

other variables held constant, the net profit for the reporting period would have been HRK 1 thousand 

lower (2020: HRK 69 thousand lower ), mainly as a result of net foreign exchange differences on 

translation of USD-denominated foreign cash funds, loans, deposits and borrowings.  
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.2.2 Foreign exchange risk (continued) 

 

The table below summarises the Bank’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at 31 

December. Included in the table are the Bank’s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised 

by currency.  
 

Concentrations of currency risk – on- and off-balance sheet financial instruments 
 

 

  HRK  EUR  USD  
Other 

currencies 
 Total 

At 31 December 2021          

FINANCIAL ASSETS           

Cash and accounts with Croatian 

National Bank 
991,824  362,981  2,455  3,954  1,361,214 

Other balances with Croatian 

National Bank 
213,778  -  -  -  213,778 

Loans and deposits to banks 385  120,204  61,131  33,383  215,103 

Loans to customers 583,511  1,523,756  -  9,291  2,116,558 

Investment securities:          

- at amortised cost  159,358  21,447  20,240  -  201,045 

- at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 
195,389  77,528  -  -  272,917 

- at fair value through profit or loss -  1,783  -  -  1,783 

Other assets 2,506  17  -  -  2,523 

Total financial assets 2,146,751  2,107,716  83,826  46,628  4,384,921 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES          

Due to banks 61,165  5,752  -  -  66,917 

Due to customers 1,721,639  2,114,685  83,814  46,484  3,966,622 

Subordinated liabilites -  9,847  -  -  9,847 

Other liabilities 13,726  271  17  12  14,026 

Lease liabilities 719  293  -  -  1,012 

Total financial liabilities 1,797,249  2,130,848  83,831  46,496  4,058,424 

Net on-balance sheet financial 

position 
349,502  (23,132)  (5)  132  326,497 

Credit commitments 124,904  67,933  -  -  192,837 

Total net position 474,406  44,801  (5)  132  519,334 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.2.3 Foreign exchange risk (continued) 

 

Concentrations of currency risk – on- and off-balance sheet financial instruments (continued) 
 

  HRK  EUR  USD  
Other 

currencies 
 Total 

At 31 December 2020          

FINANCIAL ASSETS           

Cash and accounts with Croatian 

National Bank 
555,965  86,953  -  -  642,918 

Other balances with Croatian 

National Bank 
186,490  -  -  -  186,490 

Loans and deposits to banks 165  78,830  46,141  30,463  155,599 

Loans to customers 465,101  1,484,974  5,329  10,910  1,966,314 

Investment securities:          

- at amortised cost  52,401  21,465  18,703  -  92,569 

- at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 
493,660  62,763  -  -  556,423 

- at fair value through profit or loss 1,708  -  -  -  1,708 

Other assets 2,657  26  1  3  2,687 

Total financial assets 1,758,147  1,735,011  70,174  41,376  3,604,708 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES          

Due to banks 11,002  10,896  -  -  21,898 

Due to customers 1,434,905  1,885,316  72,863  41,039  3,434,123 

Subordinated liabilites 6,500  15,074  -  -  21,574 

Other liabilities 15,798  719  15  11  16,543 

Lease liabilities 873  320  -  -  1,193 

Total financial liabilities 1,469,078  1,912,325  72,878  41,050  3,495,331 

Net on-balance sheet financial 

position 
289,069  (177,314)  (2,704)  326  109,377 

Credit commitments 211,615  83,218  -  -  294,833 

Total net position 500,684  (94,096)  (2,704)  326  404,210 
 

  



ISTARSKA KREDITNA BANKA UMAG d.d., Umag 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 

(all amounts are expressed in thousands of HRK) 

Istarska Kreditna Banka Umag d.d. 107 2021 Annual Report 

 

NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.2.3 Interest rate risk 

 

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a 

financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Bank takes on 

exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both its fair 

value and cash flow risks. The Board accepts limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing 

that may be undertaken. The exposure to interest rate risk is monitored and measured by analysing the 

following: the mismatches, the calculation of assessment of changes in the economic value of the 

Bank’s capital, the movements of profitability indicators, the impact of changes in interests rates to the 

market value of instruments categorized in the portfolio through other comprehensive income and the 

movements of average interest rates and interest margins, according to internal rules and procedures. 

 

At 31 December 2021, if interest rates on assets had been higher by 5% or 0.16 p.p. (2020: by 5% or 

0.15 p.p.) higher, with all other variables held constant, the net profit for the reporting period would 

have been HRK 1,565 thousand (2020: HRK 1,579 thousand) higher, mainly as a result of higher 

interest income on placements at variable rates. 

 

At 31 December 20210, if interest rates on liabilities had been higher by 10% or 0.0031 p.p. (2020: by 

10% or 0.03 p.p.) higher, with all other variables held constant, the net profit for the reporting period 

would have been HRK 73 thousand (2020: HRK 709 thousand) lower, mainly as a result of higher 

interest expense on deposits at variable rates. 

The table below summarises the Bank’s exposure to interest rate risks, Included in the table are the 

Bank’s assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or 

maturity dates. 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

3.2.3 Interest rate risk (continued) 
 

  
Up to 1 

month 
 

1-3 

months 
 

3-12 

months 
 1-3 years  

Over 3 

years 
 

Non- interest 

bearing 
 Total 

At 31 December 2021              

FINANCIAL ASSETS               

Cash and accounts with Croatian 

National Bank 
-  -  -  -  -  1,361,214  1,361,214 

Other balances with Croatian 

National Bank 
213,778  -  -  -  -  -  213,778 

Loans and deposits to banks 215,103  -  -  -  -  -  215,103 

Loans to customers 79,662  40,698  299,304  477,325  1,219,569  -  2,116,558 

Investment securities:              

- at fair value 52,554  21,997  175,174  20,860  2,332  -  272,917 

- at amortised cost  342  390  12,991  33,243  154,079  -  201,045 

- at fair value through profit or loss 83  -  -  -  1,700  -  1,783 

Other assets 2,523  -  -  -  -  -  2,523 

Total financial assets 564,045  63,085  487,469  531,428  1,377,680  1,361,214  4,384,921 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES              

Due to banks 662  1,298  5,878  15,832  43,247  -  66,917 

Due to customers 2,974,898  220,280  639,272  109,873  22,299  -  3,966,622 

Subordinated liabilites -  -  2,255  7,592  -  -  9,847 

Lease liabilities 43  86  278  294  311  -  1,012 

Other liabilities 11,533  65  519  145  421  -  12,683 

Total financial liabilities 2,987,136  221,729  648,202  133,736  66,278  -  4,057,081 

Interest repricing gap on-balance 

sheet  
(2,423,091)  (158,644)  (160,733)  397,692  1,311,402  1,361,214  327,840 

Credit commitments 44,163  6,070  49,897  23,907  68,800  -  192,837 

Total interest repricing gap  (2,378,928)  (152,574)  (110,836)  421,599  1,380,202  1,361,214  520,677 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

3.2.3 Interest rate risk (continued) 
 

  
Up to 1 

month 
 

1-3 

months 
 

3-12 

months 
 1-3 years  

Over 3 

years 
 

Non- interest 

bearing 
 Total 

At 31 December 2020              

FINANCIAL ASSETS               

Cash and accounts with Croatian 

National Bank 
-  -  -  -  -  642,918  642,918 

Other balances with Croatian 

National Bank 
186,490  -  -  -  -  -  186,490 

Loans and deposits to banks 151,738  -  3,861  -  -  -  155,599 

Loans to customers 97,529  63,426  344,464  387,555  1,073,340  -  1,966,314 

Investment securities:              

- at fair value 39,993  79,986  410,124  -  23,279  3,041  556,423 

- at amortised cost  158  390  514  38,282  53,225  -  92,569 

- at fair value through profit or loss -  -  -  -  -  1,708  1,708 

Other assets -  -  -  -  -  2,687  2,687 

Total financial assets 475,908  143,802  758,963  425,837  1,149,844  650,354  3,604,708 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES              

Due to banks 186  464  3,592  7,213  10,443  -  21,898 

Due to customers 2,388,855  237,726  676,371  113,434  17,737  -  3,434,123 

Subordinated liabilites 2,110  1,131  8,460  9,873  -  -  21,574 

Lease liabilities 16,543  -  -  -  -  -  16,543 

Other liabilities 42  71  268  425  387  -  1,193 

Total financial liabilities 2,407,736  239,392  688,691  130,945  28,567  -  3,495,331 

Interest repricing gap on-balance 

sheet  
(1,931,828)  (95,590)  70,272  294,892  1,121,277  650,354  109,377 

Credit commitments 294,833  -  -  -  -  -  294,833 

Total interest repricing gap  (1,636,995)  (95,590)  70,272  294,892  1,121,277  650,354  404,210 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.3 Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its 

financial liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn. The consequence 

may be the failure to meet obligations to repay depositors and fulfil commitments to lend.  

 

3.3.1 Liquidity risk management process 

 

The Bank is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources from overnight deposits, current 

accounts, maturing deposits, loan draw downs, guarantees and from margin and other calls on cash 

settled derivatives. The Bank does not maintain cash resources to meet all of these needs as experience 

shows that a minimum level of reinvestment of maturing funds can be predicted with a high level of 

certainty. Management accepts correction factors on the minimum proportion of maturing funds 

available to meet such calls and on the minimum level of inter-bank and other borrowing facilities that 

should be in place to cover withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand. The Bank manages liquidity 

reserves daily, ensuring also accomplishment of all customer needs. In addition to the fulfilment of 

regulatory requirements of CNB (e.g. LCR, minimum required amount of foreign currency claims) the 

Bank sets internal limits for measuring and monitoring of the liquidity risk exposure and the 

contingency planning indicators.   

 

3.3.2 Funding approach 

 

Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed by the Bank to maintain a wide diversification by currency, 

geography, provider, product and term. 

 

3.3.3 Undiscounted cash flows 

 

The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Bank under undiscounted  financial liabilities 

by remaining contractual maturities at the Statement of financial position date. The amounts disclosed 

in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, whereas the Bank manages the liquidity risk 

based on expected undiscounted cash inflows. 

 

 
Up to 1 

month 
 

1- 3 

months 
 

3-12 

months 
 1-3 years  

Over 3 

years 
 Total 

At 31 December 2021            

LIABILITIES            
Due to banks 670  1,337  5,981  16,009  43,358  67,355 

Due to customers 2,974,898  220,282  639,298  109,874  22,299  3,966,651 

Subordinated financial 

instruments 
32  58  2,485  7,617  -  10,192 

Other liabilities 11,533  65  519  145  421  12,683 

Lease liabilities 47  94  307  346  343  1,137 

Total liabilities 

(contractual maturity 

dates) 

2,987,180  221,836  648,590  133,991  66,421  4,058,018 

Assets held for 

managing liquidity 

risk (contractual 

maturity dates) 

1,916,722  63,085  491,324  531,427  1,377,680  4,380,238 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.3.3 Non-discounted cash flows (continued) 

 

From the breakdown of term structure of assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2021 (review by 

maturity dates) as shown in the above table, it is evident that the liabilities maturing in the periods up 

to one year are higher than the assets maturing in the same period by HRK 1,386,475 thousand, and 

that the ratio of cumulative liquidity gap up to one year amounts to 0.64.  

 

However, when considering the above liquidity gap, it is not necessary for the Bank in all maturity 

categories to maintain those levels of highly liquid assets which would be sufficient to cover all 

liabilities. The Bank tries to anticipate the minimum amount of reinvestment of matured funds and 

especially monitors the liabilities with approaching maturity dates, for which no cash outflows are 

expected, mainly transaction accounts, savings and term deposits. The Bank regularly takes into 

account the above presumptions while managing the liquidity risk. 

 

 

 
Up to 1 

month 
 

1- 3 

months 
 

3-12 

months 
 1-3 years  

Over 3 

years 
 Total 

At 31 December 2020            

LIABILITIES            
Due to banks 207  536  3,841  7,663  10,766  23,013 

Due to customers 2,388,458  237,749  676,655  113,642  17,737  3,434,241 

Subordinated financial 

instruments 
2,195  1,283  8,920  10,217  -  22,615 

Other liabilities 16,543  -  -  -  -  16,543 

Lease liabilities 47  80  306  491  441  1,365 

Total liabilities 

(contractual maturity 

dates) 

2,407,450  239,648  689,722  132,013  28,944  3,497,777 

Assets held for 

managing liquidity 

risk (contractual 

maturity dates) 

1,309,991  144,049  758,963  425,837  1,154,765  3,793,605 

 

Assets held for the purpose of managing liquidity risk are stated in accordance with agreed maturities 

and increased by interest not due, which was calculated using the variable interest rate prevailing as at 

31 December 2021 and 2020. All overdrafts are stated based on expected cash flows and included in 

the maturity group 'Up to 1 month'. 

 

3.3.4 Assets held for managing liquidity risk 

 

Assets available to meet all of the liabilities and to cover outstanding loan commitments include cash, 

central bank balances, items in the course of collection and treasury and other eligible bills and other 

financial instruments; loans and deposits to banks; and loans to customers. In the normal course of 

business, a proportion of customer loans contractually repayable within one year will be extended. In 

addition, debt securities and treasury and other bills may be pledged to secure liabilities. The Bank 

would also be able to meet unexpected net cash outflows by selling securities. 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.3.5 Commitments and contingencies 

 

(a) Loan commitments   

 

The dates of the contractual amounts of the Bank’s off-balance sheet financial instruments that commit 

it to extend credit to customers and other facilities (Note 37), are summarised in the table below. 

 

(b) Other financial facilities   

 

Other financial facilities (Note 37) are also included below based on the earliest contractual maturity 

date. 

 

(c) Contingent liabilities and commitments 

 

Where the Bank is the lessee, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 

leases, and other contingent liabilities and commitments as disclosed in Note 37, are summarised in 

the table below. 

 

 
No later than 1 

year  
1-3 years Over 3 years Total 

At 31 December 2021     

Loan commitments 99,754 23,691 68,423 191,868 

Guarantees, 

acceptances and other 

financial facilitie 
62,640 16,294 14,815 93,749 

Operating lease 

commitments 389 354 - 743 

Total  162,783 40,339 83,238 286,360 

 

 

  
No later than 1 

year  
1-3 years Over 3 years Total 

At 31 December 2020     

Loan commitments 199,880 19,778 75,175 294,833 

Guarantees, 

acceptances and other 

financial facilitie 
39,383 25,175 10,997 75,555 

Operating lease 

commitments 363 347 - 710 

Total  239,626 45,300 86,172 371,098 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.4  Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 

 

Some of the Bank's financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The following table gives information about how the fair 

values of these financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used). 

 

Financial assets measured at 

fair value 

Fair value as at Fair value 

hierarchy  

Valuation technique(s) and key input(s) Significant 

unobservable 

input(s) 

 31 December 2021 31 December 2020    
      

Financial assets valued at fair 

value through profit or loss 

1,783 1,708 Level 3 The most of instruments do not have a 

quoted price in an active market and their 

fair value cannot be reliably measured so 

they are measured at fair value based on 

the last bid price. 

Information on 

quoted price is not 

publicly available  

Financial assets through 

other comprehensive income: 

     

Treasury bills  247,166 530,144 Level 2 Fair value is calculated using the recent 

Ministry of Finance primary auctions. 

N/a 

Equity securities 

 

2,050 2,050 Level 3 The most of equity instruments do not 

have a quoted price in an active market 

and their fair value cannot be reliably 

measured. Their fair value is approximate 

the acquisition cost. 

Acquisition cost 

Equity securities 510 991 Level 1 Average price quoted on a stock exchange 

on the last trade date in the month of 

valuation. 

N/a 

Bonds 

 

23,191 23,238 Level 1 Average price quoted on a stock exchange 

on the last trade date in the month of 

valuation. 

N/a 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.4  Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 

an orderly transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under 

current market condition (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 

estimated using another valuation technique. 

 

3.4.1. Assets and liabilities at fair value 

 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

At 31 December 2021     

Financial assets valued at fair value through 

profit or loss 
- - 1,783 1,783 

Treasury bills - 247,166 - 247,166 

Equity securities 510 - 2,050 2,560 

Bonds 23,191 - - 23,191 

Total assets 23,701 247,166 3,833 274,700 

     

 

 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

At 31 December 2020     

Financial assets valued at fair value through 

profit or loss 
- - 1,708 1,708 

Treasury bills - 530,144 - 530,144 

Equity securities 991 - 2,050 3,041 

Bonds 23,238 - - 23,238 

Total assets 24,229 530,144 3,758 558,131 

     

 

Investment securities are carried at the cost of investment and include small interests in Croatian 

companies, including a pension fund management company and other similar companies. These 

companies are all strategic investments for which fair value cannot be measured reliably. The shares of 

the Zagreb Stock Exchange are listed at the regulated market and they are valued at fair value. 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.4.1. Assets and liabilities at fair value (continued) 

 

Movements in financial assets categorized as Level 3 were as follows: 

 

 

 
Financial assets 

valued at fair value 

through profit or loss 

 
Equity 

instruments 

    

At 1 January 2021  1,708  2,362 

Increase: -  - 

   Purchase 75  242 

    

Decrease: -  (554) 

   Losses recognized through profit or loss account -  - 

At 31 December 2021 1,783  2,050 

 

 
Financial assets 

valued at fair value 

through profit or loss 

 
Equity 

instruments 

    

At 1 January 2020  1,607  2,368 

Increase: 97  - 

   Purchase -  - 

    

Decrease:    

   Losses recognized through profit or loss account 4  (6) 

At 31 December 2020 1,708  2,362 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.4.2. Assets and liabilities not valued at fair value  

 

The following table shows fair values of financial instruments that are not valued at fair value and are 

categorized to corresponding fair value hierarchy as follows: 

 

 

2021      

 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Total fair 

value  

Carrying 

value 

ASSETS      

Cash and accounts with 

Croatian National Bank 

- - 1,361,214 1,361,214 1,361,214 

Other balances with Croatian 

National Bank 
- - 213,778 213,778 213,778 

Loans and deposits to banks - - 215,103 215,103 215,103 

Loans to customers - - 2,139,426 2,139,426 2,116,558 

Financial assets at amortised 

cost 
204,829 - - 204,829 201,045 

      

LIABILITIES      

Due to banks - - 66,917 66,917 66,917 

Due to customers - - 3,966,466 3,966,466 3,966,622 

Subordinated liabilities - - 9,847 9,847 9,847 
      

 

 

2020      

 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Total fair 

value  

Carrying 

value 

ASSETS      

Cash and accounts with 

Croatian National Bank 

- - 832,905     832,905     832,905     

Other balances with Croatian 

National Bank 
- - 186,490 186,490 186,490 

Loans and deposits to banks - - 155,599 155,599 155,599 

Loans to customers - - 1,982,176 1,982,176 1,966,314 

Financial assets at amortised 

cost 
94,829 -  94,829 92,569 

      

LIABILITIES      

Due to banks - - 21,898 21,898 21,898 

Due to customers - - 3,433,821 3,433,821 3,434,123 

Subordinated liabilities - - 21,574 21,574 21,574 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.4.2. Assets and liabilities not valued at fair value  (continued) 

 

Cash and accounts with the Croatian National Bank  

 

The carrying amounts of funds in accounts with banks and the central bank generally approximate 

their fair values due to the short-term maturity of these funds. 

 

Loans and deposits to banks  

 

The estimated fair value of loans to and deposits with banks represents the discounted amount of 

future receipts from cash flows. Due to their short-term character, their fair value is approximately 

equal to their carrying value. 

 

Loans to customers 

 

Fair value is based on an analysis of discounted cash flow using currently valid interest rates on loans 

subject to similar terms or which have similar credit characteristics. A significant part of the Bank's 

loan portfolio is approved with a variable interest rate. Using the method of discounting the principal 

and interest cash flows (under the assumption that the loan is repaid according to the agreed time 

schedule and taking into account existing losses from specific provisions) there is a difference between 

the fair value of the loan portfolio and the carrying value, and the reason is that the Bank’s interest 

rates are higher than the market interest rate. The fair value of loans to customers who do not repay 

their liabilities is estimated on the basis of an analysis of discounted cash flow or the estimated value 

of the collateral for the particular loan. The estimated fair value of loans and advances to customers 

represents the discounted amount of expected future cash receipts. Expected future cash receipts are 

discounted using the market interest rate. 

 

Due to banks and customers 

 

The fair value of term deposits due on call represents the carrying amount of the liabilities payable on 

the balance sheet day. The fair value of fixed-term deposits with variable interest rates is approximate 

to the carrying amount on the balance sheet day. The fair value of fixed rate deposits is estimated by 

discounting future cash flows using the interest rates currently applicable to deposits with similar 

remaining maturities. By using the method of discounting principal and interest cash flows, it was 

concluded that fair values do not differ significantly from the carrying value. Most customer deposits 

with fixed interest rates are due within a year and therefore their fair value does not differ significantly 

from the carrying value. 

 

Subordinated liabilities 

 

Since there are no similar investments in the market, the Management believes that the carrying value 

of subordinated debt approximates its fair value. 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.5  Concentration by types of collateral 

 

 2021  2020 

    

Business premises and land 716,092  780,256 

Residential properties 899,473  820,227 

Guarantees and sureties of the Republic of Croatia 89,715  54,345 

Deposits 24,178  20,562 

Total 1,729,458  1,675,390 

 

3.5.1  Exposure to credit risk by industry 

 

 2021  2020 

    

Agriculture, forestry and fishery 8,517  17,836 

Mining and excavation 806  476 

Processing industry 339,205  310,628 

Electricity, gas, steam and air-conditioning supply 6,699  5,288 

Water supply 52,882  43,953 

Construction industry 168,923  170,954 

Retail and wholesale trade 261,817  305,883 

Transport and warehousing 58,525  40,785 

Accommodation and catering services 140,263  137,896 

Information and communications industries 7,835  9,531 

Financial and insurance industry 13,652  12,640 

Real estate business 29,240  36,178 

Expert, scientific and technical activities 58,608  66,837 

Administrative services and supporting service industries 20,979  23,867 

Education 27,077  2,083 

Public administration and defence, compulsory social security 

services 
3,169  16,135 

Health and social welfare services 15,773  4,081 

Art, entertainment and recreation industry 9,502  5,570 

Other service industries 57,935  7,663 

Total gross loans to corporate customers 1,281,407  1,218,284 

Gross loans to citizens 1,006,082  923,768 

Covered with collateral 1,729,458  1,675,390 

Provisions for impairments 170,931  175,738 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.6 Capital management 

 

The Bank’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face 

of Statement of financial positions, are:  

 

1. to comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators;  

2. to safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide 

returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and  

3. to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.  

 

Calculation of financial institution’s capital starting from 1 January 2014 is determined by Regulation 

(EU) No 575/13 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential 

requirements for credit institutions and investment firms. The Regulation determines specific rules and 

requirements for regulatory capital instruments. The purpose of the regulation is to strengthen capital 

requirements and introduce mandatory capital conservation and discretionary specific counter-cyclical 

capital buffers. 

 

Regulatory capital consists of core (Tier 1) and supplementary (Tier 2) capital. The required 

regulatory capital is the sum of all capital requirements calculated under the Regulation. Regulatory 

capital must not fall below the amount of initial capital requirement at the time of licensing, 

 

The core (Tier 1) capital consists of Common Equity Tier 1 capital and Additional Tier 1 capital. The 

Common Equity Tier 1 capital positions are: 

 

 equity instruments that are recognized as Common Equity Tier 1 (paid-in capital, share 

premium) 

 retained earnings and accumulated other comprehensive income 

 other reserves and reserves for general banking risks 

 deductions from Common Equity Tier 1 components with respect to the loss of the current 

financial year  and intangible assets. 

 

Additional Tier 1 capital comprises all equity instruments and subordinated loans that are recognized 

as supplementary capital as specified in the Regulation. 

 

Supplementary (Tier 2) capital includes hybrid and subordinated instruments that need to be fully 

adjusted. All of these instruments are subject to the depreciation requirement for the last five years to 

maturity applies. 

 

The Bank calculates its capital ratios based on the determined amounts of its core and regulatory 

capitals, and the total amount of its risk exposure. The total risk exposure is measured by reference to 

a hierarchy of six risk weights classified according to the nature of particular assets and clients and 

reflecting estimated credit, market and other risks, taking into consideration any eligible collateral or 

guarantees and other recognized security instruments. A similar treatment is applied to the off-balance 

sheet exposure, with certain adjustments made to reflect the contingent nature of potential losses. 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.6  Capital management (continued) 

 

Capital ratios are determined as follows: 

 

a) Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio reflects the ratio of Common Equity Tier 1 capital and 

total risk exposure, expressed as a percentage; 

b) Core (Tier 1) capital ratio is the ratio of core capital and total risk exposure, expressed as a 

percentage; 

c) Total capital ratio is the ratio of the institution’s regulatory (Tier 2) capital and the total risk 

exposure, expressed as a percentage. 

 

The required level of the regulatory capital, i.e. the minimum capital requirement has at all times be as 

follows: 

 

(a) Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio: 4.5 %;  

(b) Tier 1 capital ratio: 6%; 

(c) Total capital ratio: 8%, 

 

In addition to ensuring coverage of individual risk exposures, the Bank has to maintain its total capital 

at a level sufficient to cover the individual capital buffers, i.e. the capital conservation buffer and the 

systemic risk buffer. 

 

The capital buffers are intended for strengthening the capital at times of expansion to be able to 

compensate for losses during recession. This applies to the capital conservation buffer, which is set at 

2.5 percent of the total risk exposure, and the systemic risk buffer of 1.5 percent, amounting in total to 

4 percent of the total exposure. Hence, the total capital ratio, plus the capital buffers, amounts to 12 

percent for banks in the Republic of Croatia, whereas based on the SREP (Supervisory Review and 

Evaluation Process) assessment the total capital ratio plus the capital buffers to be maintained by the 

Bank have been set by the Croatian National Bank to 14.5% (2020: 14.5%). 

 

The table below summarizes the composition of the regulatory capital and the ratios of the Bank for 

the years ended 31 December. 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.6  Capital management (continued) 

 

 

 

2021  

(not finalized) 

Common Equity Tier 1  

Ordinary shares paid in 162,800 

Preference shares paid in (other than cumulative preference shares) - 

Reserves out of after-tax profit 37,757 

Retained earnings (including prior-year profit) 147,929 

Current-year profit (after dividend distribution) 25,398     

Capital gains 181 

Deductions from Common Equity Tier 1  

Repurchased own shares - 

Accumulated other comprehensive income 425 

Value adjustment due to prudential requirements 275 

Intangible assets 1,476 

Non-realised gains - 

Total deductions from Common Equity Tier 1 2,176 

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital of the Bank 371,889 

Core (Tier 1) capital 371,889 

Supplementary (Tier 2) capital 1,925 

Subordinated financial instruments - 

Supplementary (Tier 2) capital of the Bank 1,925 

Regulatory capital 373,813 

  

Risk-weighted assets 1,733,174 

Operational risk capital requirement (multiplied by factor 12.5) 216,647 

  

Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio 19.08 

Tier 1 capital ratio 19.08 

Total capital ratio 19.18 
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NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

3.6  Capital management (continued) 

 

 2020  

Common Equity Tier 1  

Ordinary shares paid in 162,800 

Preference shares paid in (other than cumulative preference shares) - 

Reserves out of after-tax profit 37,757 

Retained earnings (including prior-year profit) 99,036 

Current-year profit (after dividend distribution) - 

Capital gains 181 

Deductions from Common Equity Tier 1  

Repurchased own shares - 

Accumulated other comprehensive income 215 

Value adjustment due to prudential requirements 558 

Intangible assets 983 

Non-realised gains - 

Total deductions from Common Equity Tier 1 1,756 

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital of the Bank 328,010 

Core (Tier 1) capital 328,010 

Supplementary (Tier 2) capital - 

Subordinated financial instruments 5,027 

Supplementary (Tier 2) capital of the Bank 5,027 

Regulatory capital 333,037 

  

Risk-weighted assets 1,681,606 

Operational risk capital requirement (multiplied by factor 12.5) 209,024 

  

Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio 17.29 

Tier 1 capital ratio 17.29 

Total capital ratio 17.55 
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NOTE 4 – CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

 

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 

within the next financial year. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on 

historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 

reasonable under the circumstances. 
 

Classification of financial assets  
 

Business Model Assessment 
 

The Bank determines its business models based on the objective under which its portfolios of financial 

assets are managed. In determining its business models, the Bank considers the following: 

 Management's intent and strategic objectives and the operation of the stated policies in 

practice; 

 The primary risks that affect the performance of the business model and how these risks are 

managed; 

 How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to management; and 

 The frequency and significance of financial asset sales in prior periods, the reasons for such 

sales and the expected future sales activities. 
 

Solely Payments of Principal and Interest Test (SPPI test) 
 

In assessing whether contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Bank considers the contractual terms of the 

instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could 

change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that they would not be consistent with a 

basic lending arrangement. In making the assessment, the Bank considers the primary terms as follows 

and assess if the contractual cash flows of the instruments continue to meet the SPPI test: 

 Performance-linked features; 

 Terms that limit the Bank's claim to cash flows from specified assets (non-recourse terms); 

 Prepayment and extension terms; 

 Leverage features; and 

 Features that modify elements of the time value of money. 
 

Impairment of financial assets  
 

Significant Increase in Credit Risk 
 

The Bank considers that the credit risk has increased considerably after the initial recognition if any of 

the following occurs: 

– at the reporting date the borrower is more than 30 days past due, but is still within a 

period not exceeding 90 days; 

– at the reporting date the borrower’s transaction account is blocked for over 30 days 

within the period of last 180 days; 

– at the reporting date the borrower’s credit rating deteriorated for more than 3 classes as 

compared to the borrower’s rating at initial recognition.  
 

In addition to days past due, the Bank uses qualitative indicators to determine a significant increase in 

credit risk such as various available information on possible deterioration of the borrower’s financial 

position, which might include the loss of key markets, buyers or suppliers, days past due in servicing 

liabilities toward third parties etc. 
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NOTE 4 – CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (continued) 

 

Definition of default 

 

The Bank considers that default statuts have occurred in the following conditions and refers to the 

reclassification of exposures to the minimum B1 risk category: 

 

- the debtor has failed to fulfill its overdue obligation for more than 90 days under any significant 

credit obligation to the credit institution, its parent company or any of its subsidiaries 

 

- the Bank considers it probable that the debtor will not be able to fully meet the obligations to the 

Bank, its parent company or any of its subsidiaries without considering the possibility of collateral 

collection. In this regard, the Bank prescribes indications that, in addition to overdue days, point to the 

default status. These are indicators of qualitative and quantitative nature closely related to the 

customer's business. 

 

Measurement of Expected Credit Loss 

 

For exposures classified as Stage 1, expected credit loss is calculated as the product of 12-month PD 

multiplied with LGD and EAD.  

 

For exposures classified as Stage 2, lifetime expected credit loss (ECL) is calculated as the product of 

the corresponding multi-annual probability of default (i.e. the corresponding PD for the remaining 

years of loan repayment) multiplied by the loss given default (LGD) and the exposure at default 

(EAD).  

 

Assets that are classified in business model ATR (amortized cost), and refers to the corporate loan 

portfolio are divided into eight homogeneous groups, while the retail portfolio is allocated into one 

homogeneous group. Probability of default (PD) provides  probability that the borrower will not be 

able to meet its obligations. For the purpose of estimating 12M ECLs and LT ECLs for the ATR 

portfolio, models based on historical data are used, with adjustments for future macroeconomic 

developments. 

 

The Bank calculates the probability of default over a specified period of time: one year PD12 - 12 

months or lifetime PD - for the duration of the Life Time PD for each homogeneous group, based on 

the calculated historical default rate (DR) at the borrower level.  

 

For the calculation of PD parameter the Bank uses the transition matrix model of movements between 

rating classes during longer time periods. In such a matrix the movement between 1 to n rating classes 

is observed, whereby a rating class representing customer default has been added as well. Starting with 

the first month of available historical data the movement is analised month by month up to 12 months 

before the last month. This is how a rating pair is formed (ratingt, ratingt+12m) for each month. In such a 

manner, a resulting PD parameter is a percentage of customers from a certain rating class who 

acquired the default status after the lapse of 12 months.    

 

Multi-annual PD structure for the ECL calculation is made by multiplying annual PD parameter rate 

with the corresponding number of years and these multi-annual PD values provide the borrower's total 

probability of default over the lifetime (i.e. remaining maturity) of its credit liability towards the Bank.  
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NOTE 4 – CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (continued) 

 

Measurement of Expected Credit Loss (continued) 

 

Macroeconomic adjustment for the purpose of calculating PD is carried out through additional 

modification of determined PD rates to reflect the assessment of impact of macroeconomic 

environment to the client's business. As possible variables the Bank may use to modify the PD rates, 

are the macroeconomic variables such as: 

 

- GDP rate movements 

- unemployment rate movements 

- inflation rate movements, etc. 

 

The Bank made a statistic analysis of the relation between historic rates of movement in GDP and the 

default rate (DR) and between the unemployment rate and the DR. The Bank observed that the 

movements in GDP rates corelates mostly to the DR, so the GDP rate was chosen as the variable the 

Bank shall use to modify the PD rate. In doing so, the Bank uses three different scenarios of GDP rate 

movement: optimistic, baseline and pessimistic, where the optimistic scenario assumes the increase in 

GDP, baseline scenario assumes no changes in GDP, whereas the pessimistic scenario assumes s 

decrease in GDP. For each of these scenarios the Bank determined the corresponding probability 

weight. The product of the weight and the GDP movement rate represents the variable used by the 

Bank to modify the PD parameter value.  

 

To determine the PD (probability of default) for sovereign exposures or exposures that have an 

external credit rating, the Bank uses the data on the current rating of such entities available on the 

Moody's Investor Service - Annual Default Study (Average One-Year Alphanumeric Rating Migration 

Rates) website.  

 

At the time of estimating the provisions, if the presumed net present value of estimated cash flows had 

been higher by 2%, the provisions in 2021 would have been estimated by HRK 3,043 thousand lower 

(2020: HRK 2,963 thousand lower). 

 

(b) Estimates and assumptions  

 

The making of estimates and creation of assumptions with an impact on disclosed amounts of assets 

and liabilities in the period of the following financial year are explained in the accounting policies and 

they are a constituent part of the Notes to the financial statements.   

 

Estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 

expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Bank 

makes estimates and creates assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates, by 

definition, rarely equal the related actual results.  

 

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 
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NOTE 4 – CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (continued) 

 

(b) Estimates and assumptions (continued) 

 

Legal disputes 

 

The provisions for litigations and court proceedings are made based on the estimate of the 

management concerning potential losses upon consultation with the Bank’s legal department. Based 

on such information, possible outcomes of legal proceedings are reasonably estimated and provisions 

are made if potential losses are estimated to result from court proceedings or out-of-the-court 

settlements. The provision amount is disclosed in Note 32. 

 

Taxation 

 

The Bank allocates funds for tax liabilities in accordance with the tax laws of the Republic of Croatia. 

Tax returns are subject to changes by tax authorities who have the right to carry out subsequent 

assessments of taxpayers' business records. 

 

Valuation of foreclosed assets 

 

The Bank occasionally acquires land and properties in settlement of certain loans and advances. Real 

estate is stated at the lower of the carrying value of the related loans and advances at the date of 

settlement and the net realisable value of such assets. When assessing the valuation of foreclosed 

assets, the Bank engages chartered surveyors, and subsequently reviews them and compares them with 

the carrying amount. Gains or losses on disposal are recognised in the income statement. 

 

Regulatory requirements 

 

The CNB is entitled to carry out regulatory inspections of the Bank’s operations and to request 

changes to the carrying values of assets and liabilities, in accordance with the underlying regulations. 

 

 



ISTARSKA KREDITNA BANKA UMAG d.d., Umag 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 

(all amounts are expressed in thousands of HRK) 

Istarska Kreditna Banka Umag d.d. 127 2021 Annual Report 

 

NOTE 5 – SEGMENT INFORMATION 

 

(a) By operating segment 
 

Following the management approach of IFRS 8, operating segments are reported in accordance with 

the internal reporting provided to the Bank’s Management Board (the chief operating decision-maker), 

which is responsible for allocating resources to the reportable segments and assesses their 

performance. 
 

The Bank’s operations are divided into two main business segments: 

•  Retail banking – incorporating private customer transaction accounts, savings, deposits, credit 

and debit cards, consumer loans and mortgages; 

• Corporate banking – incorporating direct debit facilities, transaction accounts, deposits, 

overdrafts, loan and other credit facilities, foreign currency and derivative products. 
 

Other Bank operations comprise financial instruments trading and fund management, none of which 

constitutes a separately reportable segment. 
 

There were no changes in the reportable segments during the year. 

 

5.1 Segment results of operations   
 

The segment information provided to the Bank’s Management Board for the reportable segments for 

the year ended 31 December 2021 is as follows:   
 

The information disclosed under items Other refers to transactions with sovereigns or financial 

institutions i.e. in the section relating to items that include expenses of different Bank departments.  
 

  
Retail 

 banking 
 

Corporate 

 banking 
 Subtotal 

 
Other  Total 

At 31 December 2021          

Interest income  35,433  41,054  76,487  2,378  78,865 

Interest expense   (1,475)  (709)  (2,184)  (1,401)  (3,585) 

Impairment charges for credit 

losses - net 
312  (5,646) 

 
(5,334) 

 
50 

 
(5,284) 

Net fee and commission  

income 
13,515  14,868 

 
28,383 

 
(580) 

 
27,803 

Other operating income -  1,071  1,071  -  1,071 

Staff costs (14,616)  (6,757)  (21,373)  (21,494)  (42,867) 

General and administrative 

expenses 
(8,109)  (3,425) 

 
(11,534) 

 
(10,377) 

 
(21,911) 

Depreciation and 

amortisation expense 
(2,167)  (764) 

 
(2,931) 

 
(2,429) 

 
(5,360) 

Other operating expenses (103)  (13)  (116)  (47)  (163) 

Foreign exchange differences 

- net  
3,692  5,485 

 
9,177 

 
7,717 

 
16,894 

Realised gains from sales of 

financial assets - net 
-  - 

 
- 

 
(1) 

 
(1) 

Operating profit 26,482  45,164  71,646  (26,184)  45,462 
          

Total assets 965,033  1,165,843  2,130,876  2,313,027  4,443,903 

Total liabilities 2,562,570  1,413,899  3,976,469  81,955  4,058,424 
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NOTE 5 – SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 

 

5.1 Segment results of operations (continued) 
 

The segment information provided to the Bank’s Management Board for the reportable segments for 

the year ended 31 December 2020 is as follows:   

 

 

  
Retail 

 banking 
 

Corporate 

 banking 
 Subtotal 

 
Other  Total 

At 31 December 2020          

Interest income  34,668  38,880  73,548  3,719  77,267 

Interest expense   (2,412)  (755)  (3,167)  (1,006)  (4,173) 

Impairment charges for credit 

losses - net (1,172)  (3,891)  (5,063)  17 

 

(5,046) 

Net fee and commission  

income 12,539  11,460  23,999  (479) 

 

23,520 

Other operating income -  1,852  1,852  -  1,852 

Staff costs (14,856)  (6,550)  (21,406)  (21,048)  (42,454) 

General and administrative 

expenses (7,430)  (3,434)  (10,864)  (10,506) 

 

(21,370) 

Depreciation and 

amortisation expense (1,760)  (776)  (2,536)  (3,094) 

 

(5,630) 

Other operating expenses (5,506)  (1,855)  (7,361)  (662)  (8,023) 

Foreign exchange differences 

- net  (212)  12,177  11,965  929 

 

12,894 
Realised gains from sales of 

financial assets - net       8,804 

 

8,804 

Operating profit 13,859  47,108  60,967  (23,326)  37,641 

          

Total assets 880,446  1,099,677  1,980,123  1,875,510  3,855,633 

Total liabilities 2,246,918  1,208,778  3,455,696  39,635  3,495,331 
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NOTE 6 – NET INTEREST INCOME 

 

Interest income using the effective interest rate 

 2021  2020 

    

Loans to customers 75,884  76,340 

Short-term  time deposits 3  31 

Securities at fair value through other comprehensive income 289  752 

Securities at amortised cost 2,574   

Other 33  67 

Other interest income 78,783  77,190 

    

Securities at fair value through profit or loss 81  77 

    

 78,864  77,267 

 

Interest expense  

 2021  2020 

    

Liabilities measured at amortised cost: 
 

 

 

- customer deposits 1,885  2,945 

- other borrowed funds 1,620  1,158 

- lease liabilities 80  70 

 3,585  4,173 

 

Collected interest income accrued on partially recoverable investments amounted in 2021 to HRK 

9,937 thousand (2020: HRK 7,391 thousand). 
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NOTE 7 – IMPAIRMENT CHARGE FOR CREDIT LOSSES – NET 

 

 2021  2020 

Net increase/(reversal) of impairment charge: 
   

Other balances with the CNB (Note 18b) 75  20 

Loans and deposits to banks (Note 20) 20  (7) 

Loans to customers (Note 21) 5.935  4,967 

Financial assets at amortised cost (Note 22) 20  (18) 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

income (Note 19) 
(38) 

 (16) 

Other assets (Note 27) (153)  75 

Provisions for off-balance items (Note 37) (575)  25 

Total impairment cost 5.284  5,046 

 

Impairment losses on loans amounted to HRK 5,935 thousand (2020: HRK 4,967 thousand). The 

increase in the allowance for impairment is due to a larger allowance for loans held in S1 and due to 

increased allowance for impairment of exposures held in S2 as a response to previously described 

uncertainties and deterioration of economic prospects with some clients who experienced significant 

impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 

The Bank's business models and portfolios are presented in more detailed manner in Note 2.5 'Classes 

of financial instruments'.  
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NOTE 8 – NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 

 

Fee and commission income  

 

 2021  2020 

Fee and commission income from contracts with 

customers: 

   

Payment transactions  19,811  17,895 

Credit card transactions  7,607  4,791 

Other  3,438  3,027 

Total fee and commission income from contracts with 

customers 
30,856 

 
25.713 

    

Guarantees and letter of credits given 1,750  1,550 

Total fee and commission income 32,606  27,263 

 

Fee and commission expense 

 

 2021  2020 

   

Payment transactions 2,064  1,767 

Credit card transactions 2,438  1,589 

Other 302  387 

Total fee and commission expense 4,804  3,743 

 

 

NOTE 9 – FOREIGN EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES – NET       

 

 2021  2020 

  

Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) on translation of foreign 

currency assets and liabilities to mid exchange rate: 
   

    

  - loans to customers (2,146)  18,316 

  - bank deposits   5,710  (2,958) 

  - securities  759  1,801 

  - cash and balances with the Croatian National Bank (227)  2,017 

  - due to customers and HBOR (3,104)  (18,278) 

 992  898 

    

Foreign exchange gains from operations 15,902  11,996 

 16,894  12,894 

 

Foreign exchange gains from operations relate to the net effects of significant differences arising from 

the purchase and sale of foreign exchange and foreign currencies, as a result of differences between 

various types of exchange rates on the date of transaction (differences between the selling rate and the 

buying rate against the average rate).  
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NOTE 10 – REALISED GAINS FROM THE SALES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS - NET 

 

 2021  2020 

    

Realised gain from sale of assets at fair value through 

other comprehensive income 

-  3,485 

Realised gain from sale of assets at amortised cost -  5,319 

 

-  8,804 

 

 

NOTE 11 – OTHER OPERATING INCOME 

 

 2021  2020 

    

Rental income /i/ 514  573 

Dividend income 246  311 

Income from accounts written off 12  67 

Income from property sales 62  778 

Income from court settlements (Note 27) -  - 

Other  238  123 

 1,072  1,852 

 

/i/ The operating rental income relates to the lease of business premises. Details of operating 

leases commitments, where the Bank is the lessor, are disclosed in Note 26. 

 



ISTARSKA KREDITNA BANKA UMAG d.d., Umag 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 

(all amounts are expressed in thousands of HRK) 

Istarska Kreditna Banka Umag d.d. 133 2021 Annual Report 

 

NOTE 12 – STAFF COSTS 

 

 2021  2020 

    

Net salaries  22,671  21,902 

Pension contributions 6,324  6,204 

Health security contributions 5,024  4,931 

Other contributions and taxes on salaries 2,641  2,983 

Commuting expenses and meal allowances 1,692  1,738 

Termination benefits 201  527 

Christmas bonus and reward expenses 1,999  1,954 

Other staff costs  2,315  2,215 

 42,867  42,454 

 

During 2021, the Bank had an average of 217 employees (2020: 224  employees). 

 

 

NOTE 13 – GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

 

 2021  2020 
    

Professional services 5,967  5,869 

Security services 4,234  3,906 

Repairs and maintenance  2,077  1,728 

Telephone, postal and transportation services  1,571  1,591 

Marketing and promotion 1,070  910 

Software maintenance costs 1,316  1,428 

Rental cost /i/ 648  630 

Office materials 1,072  1,057 

Other general and administrative expenses  244  192 

Energy and water  819  771 

Insurance  835  746 

Cleaning services  665  694 

Donations 301  648 

Vehicle expenses  318  312 

Other expenses 656  711 

Training and education 118  177 

 21,911  21,370 

 

/i/  The operating rental cost relates to the lease of business premises which are not categorized as 

right-of-use assets. For operating leases commitments where the Bank is the lessee see Note 37. 
 

The total amount of fees paid by the Bank to the audit company, independent auditor and for other 

consulting services to other consulting companies in 2021 amounts to HRK 653 thousand (2020: HRK 

539 thousand ). 
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NOTE 14 – DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION EXPENSES 

 

 2021  2020 

Depreciation of property and equipment (Note 25) 3,862  4,090 

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 24) 834  786 

Depreciation of investment property (Note 26) 149  153 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 40) 515  601 

 5,360  5,630 

 

 

NOTE 15 – OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

 

 2021  2020 

Savings deposits insurance premium -  7,361 

Taxes and contributions on income 53  53 

Other 110  609 

 163  8,023 
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NOTE 16 – INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

 

 2021  2020 
    

Recognized through profit or loss    

- tax expense for the current year (8,216)  (6,688) 

- deferred tax (expense)/income (8)  (212) 

Income tax expense  (8,224)  (6,900) 
    

Profits before tax 45,462  37,641 

Income tax rate 18%  (8,183)  (6,776) 

Non-taxable income 65  155 

Non-deductible expenses (106)  (279) 

Income tax expense recognized through profit or loss 8,224  6,900 

Effective tax rate 18.09%  18.33% 

    

 

2021 

Opening 

balance  

1 January  

Recognised 

in profit or 

loss  

Recognised 

in other 

comprehensive 

income  

Closing 

balance  

31 December 

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 

in relation to:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

        

FVTPL financial assets -  -  -  - 

FVTOCI financial assets (112)  -  47  (65) 

Deferred revenue 1,294  (8)  -  1,286 

 1,182  (8)  47  1,221 
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NOTE 16 – INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 

 

 

2020 

Opening 

balance  

1 January  

Recognised 

in profit or 

loss  

Recognised 

in other 

comprehensive 

income  

Closing 

balance  

31 December 

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 

in relation to:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

        

FVTPL financial assets 125  (125)  -  - 

FVTOCI financial assets (1,172)  -  1,060  (112) 

Deferred revenue 1,381  (87)  -  1,294 

 334  (212)  1,060  1,182 

 

In accordance with the regulations of the Republic of Croatia, the Tax authorities may at any time 

inspect the Bank's books and records within 3 years following the year in which the tax liability was 

reported, and may impose additional tax assessments and penalties. The Bank's management is not 

aware of any circumstances, which may give rise to a potential material liability in this respect. 
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NOTE 17 – EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 

Basic 

 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit for the year by the weighted average 

number of existing ordinary shares  for the period, excluding own shares. 

 

 2021  2020 
    

Profit for the year   37,238  30,741 

Weighted average number of shares excluding own shares 148,000  148,000 

Basic earnings per share – ordinary (in HRK) 251.61  207.70 

 

In 2021, the dividend was declared for 2020  in the amount of HRK 80 per share (Note 35). 

 

Diluted 

 

Diluted earnings per share are equal to basic earnings per share. 

 

 

NOTE 18 A – CASH AND ACCOUNTS WITH THE CROATIAN NATIONAL BANK 
 

 2021  2020 
    

Cash in hand 191,867  189,987 

Gyro account with CNB 1,169,347  642,918 

 1,361,214  832,905 
    

 

NOTE 18 B – OTHER BALANCES WITH THE CROATIAN NATIONAL BANK 

 

 2021  2020 
    

Obligatory minimum reserves: /i/    

- in HRK 213,965  186,602 

Impairments for expected credit losses (187)  (112) 

 213,778  186,490 

 

Expected credit losses 2021  2020 
    

As at 1 January 112  92 

Provisions for loan impairments  75  20 

As at 31 December 187  112 

 

/i/ The obligatory reserve represents amounts required to be deposited with the CNB. The obligatory 

reserve requirements consist of a part in HRK calculated on a monthly basis. Obligatory minimum 

reserve is not available for use in the Bank’s day-to-day operations. The reduction in the obligatory 

reserve amount is primarily due to the CNB's decision of March 2020, which reduced the obligatory 

reserve requirement rate from 12% to 9%. 
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NOTE 19 - FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 

INCOME  

 

Movements in financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income may be summarised 

as follows: 

   

 
Treasury bills 

of the Ministry 

of Finance  

Equity 

securities 
Bonds Total 

     

At 1 January 2021 530,144 3,041 23,238 556,423 

Purchases  247,346 - - 247,346 

Maturities and sales (530,277) (322) - (530,599) 

Accrued interest 164 - 86 250 

Collected interest - - (86) (86) 

Impairment adjustment (2) - 40 38 

Fair value adjustment  (16) (159) (82) (257) 

Foreign exchange 

differences 
(193) - (5) (198) 

At 31 December 2021 247,166 2,560 23,191 272,917 

 

At 31 December 2021 
Treasury bills 

of the Ministry 

of Finance 

Equity 

securities 
Bonds Total 

     

Quoted securities - 510 23,191 23,701 

Unquoted securities 247,166 2,050 - 249,216 

At 31 December 2021 247,166 2,560 23,191 272,917 

 

 

 
Treasury bills 

of the Ministry 

of Finance  

Equity 

securities 
Bonds Total 

     

At 1 January 2020 593,940 3,041 78,554 675,535 

Purchases  530,530 - 2,222 532,752 

Maturities and sales (596,102) - (51,220) (647,322) 

Accrued interest 8 - 421 429 

Collected interest - - (892) (892) 

Impairment adjustment 8 - 8 16 

Fair value adjustment  150 - (6,038) (5,888) 

Foreign exchange 

differences 
1,610 - 183 1,793 

At 31 December 2020 530,144 3,041 23,238 556,423 
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NOTE 19 - FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 

INCOME (continued) 

 

 

At 31 December 2020 
Treasury bills 

of the Ministry 

of Finance 

Equity 

securities 
Bonds Total 

     

Quoted securities - 436 23,238 23,674 

Unquoted securities 530,144 2,605 - 532,749 

At 31 December 2020 530,144 3,041 23,238 556,423 

 

 

Movements in impairments for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income: 

 

At 1 January 2021   75 

Additions    33 

Reversals    (71) 

At 31 December 2021   37 

 

 

At 1 January 2020   91 

Additions    72 

Reversals    (88) 

At 31 December 2020   75 

 

The financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income include treasury bills of the 

Ministry of finance, bonds and equity securities under irrevocable option. 

 

Equity securities that the Bank irrevocably elected to designate at fair value through other 

comprehensive income have been disclosed together with their corresponding fair value at the 

reporting date in Note 3.4 'Fair value of financial assets and liabilities'. In Note 2.1.2 'Changes in 

accounting policies – review by financial asset categories’ the fair value is stated at the time of 

irrevocable option election. The Bank elected to apply the irrevocable option because the specified 

equity securities are held for strategic reasons. In the course of 2021 there were derecognitions of 

equity financial instruments in the amount of HRK 311 thousand (in 2020 there were no 

derecognitions of equity financial instruments). Dividend income from financial assets is shown in 

Note 11 ‘Other operating income’ under item ‘Dividend income’. 

 

Treasury bills are debt securities issued by the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Croatia which in 

2021 had an original maturity of twelve months at an average effective interest rate of 0.03%, while in 

2020 they were issued with the same original maturities at an average interest rate of 0.06%. 
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NOTE 20 – LOANS AND DEPOSITS TO BANKS 

 

 2021  2020 

  

Deposits in banks 215,184  155,492 

Loans to banks -  165 

Less: Allowance for impairment (81)  (58) 

 215,103  155,599 

Current  215,103  155,599 

 

 

Reconciliation of the allowance account for losses on loans and deposits to other banks: 

 

Expected credit losses 2021  2020 

    

At 1 January 58  68 

Increase of expected credit losses 92  127 

Decrease of expected credit losses (71)  (134) 

Exchange differences 2  (3) 

At 31 December 81  58 
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NOTE 21 – LOANS TO CUSTOMERS 

 

 2021  2020 

    

Retail customers: 
   

Consumer loans 316,576  327,660 

Mortgages 30,711  23,823 

Housing loans  493,498  416,644 

Loans to craftsmen 151,913  141,083 

Other loans 13,385  14,558 

 1,006,083  923,768 

Corporate entities: 
 

  

- Large corporate customers  151,281  214,887 

- SMEs  1,051,611  913,407 

 1,202,892  1,128,294 

Other /i 78,514  89,990 

    

Gross loans 2,287,489  2,142,052 

Less: Expected credit losses  (170,931)  (175,738) 

    

Net 2,116,558  1,966,314 

Current  113,501  196,467 

Non-current  2,003,057  1,769,847 

 

i/ Item ‘Other’ includes loans to local and regional government bodies and public sector. 

 

The breakdown for off-balance sheet items is disclosed within Note 37. Reconciliation of allowance 

account for expected losses on loans to customers: 

 

Retail customers  

 

  2021 
 

2020 

  
Expected 

credit losses 

 Expected 

credit losses 

At 1 January 43,866 
 

41,760 

Provision for loan impairment 20,901  23,580 

Reversal of impairment (21,052)  (21,684) 

Amount of provisions written-off (2,218)  (37) 

Exchange differences  (61)  247 

At 31 December 41,436 
 

43,866 
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NOTE 21 – LOANS TO CUSTOMERS (continued) 

 

Corporate entities 

 

 2021  2020 

  
Expected 

credit losses 

 Expected 

credit losses 

At 1 January 131,872 
 

149,962 

Provision for loan impairment 33,516  33,771 

Reversal of impairment (27,430)  (30,700) 

Amount of provisions written-off (8,420)  (21,272) 

Exchange differences  (43)  111 

At 31 December 129,495 
 

131,872 

 

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has increased the level of judgement that management have 

been required to exercise over the course of 2021. Customer default rates have remained relatively 

stable despite the impact of the pandemic as a result of government support measures and customer 

deleveraging as well as due to tourist season which exceeded initial negative expectations in the region 

in which the Bank’s operated.  

 

As mentioned in the report, the Management has applied specific adjustments to the ECL model under 

the influence of projected movements in macroeconomic indicators to reflect the impact of 

uncertainties.  
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NOTE 22 – FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST 

 

 

At 31 December 2021    

 
Gross Impairment 

allowance 
Net 

Bonds of the Republic of Croatia 143,900 (19) 143,881 

Corporate bonds 55,925 (16) 55,909 

Municipal bonds 1,255 - 1,255 

 201,080 (35) 201,045 

 

 

At 31 December 2020    

 
Gross Impairment 

allowance 
Net 

Bonds of the Republic of Croatia 82,803 (8) 82,795 

Corporate bonds 9,588 (7) 9,581 

Bills of exchange 483 (290) 193 

 92,874 (305) 92,569 

 

 

 

Financial investments at amortised cost 

 
   

At 1 January 2021   92,569 

Purchases   106,746 

Maturities and sales    (700) 

Accrued interest   4,793 

Collected interest   (4,090) 

Impairment adjustment   268 

Foreign exchange differences   1,459 

At 31 December 2021   201,045 

    

At 1 January 2020   153,100 

Purchases   32,708 

Maturities and sales    (92,528) 

Accrued interest   3,217 

Collected interest   (3,498) 

Impairment adjustment   60 

Foreign exchange differences   (490) 

At 31 December 2020   92,569 
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NOTE 22 – FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST (continued) 

 

 

Movements in impairment allowances for financial investments at amortised cost are as follows:  

 

At 1 January 2021  304 

Provisions  25 

Reversals  (5) 

Amounts written-off  (290) 

At 31 December 2021  34 

 

 

At 1 January 2020  364 

Provisions  5 

Reversals  (30) 

Amounts written-off  (35) 

At 31 December 2020  304 

 

 

Financial investments at amortised cost include bonds of the Republic of Croatia and the companies 

Hrvatska elektroprivreda d.d., Atlantic Grupa d.d., MSAN Grupa d.o.o., INA d.d., the City of 

Varaždin and bills of exchange.  

 

The Bank holds in its portfolios the following bonds of the issuer the Republic of Croatia: HRK 

denominated bonds maturing in 2023, 2025,  2028 and 2029, USD denominated bonds maturing in 

2023 and 2024, and EUR denominated bonds maturing in 2022 and 2025.  

 

The Bank also holds USD denominated bonds of the issuer Hrvatska elektroprivreda d.d. (HEP) 

maturing in 2022 and HRK denominated bonds of the issuer Atlantic Grupa d.d.  maturing in 2025, 

HRK denominated bonds of the issuer MSAN Grupa d.o.o. maturing in 2026, HRK denominated 

bonds of the issuer INA maturing in 2026 and tHRK denominated bonds of the City of Varaždin 

maturing in 2031. 

 

Bills of exchange are debt securities issued in 2021 by various companies with various terms, the 

shortest being up to four  months and the longest up to six months (in 2020 with the terms from one to 

four months). 
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NOTE 23 – FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 

 

 

At 1 January 2021  1,708 

Purchases  - 

Fair value adjustment  - 

Interest income  81 

Foreign exchange differences  (6) 

At 31 December 2021  1,783 

 

 

At 1 January 2020  1,607 

Purchases  - 

Fair value adjustment  - 

Interest income  77 

Foreign exchange differences  24 

At 31 December 2020  1,708 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in 2021 and 2020 consists of securities issued by 

Fortenova Group Top B.V. 
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NOTE 24 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

 Software 

  

Year ended 31 December 2020  

Opening net book amount 2,378 

Additions 661 

Amortisation charge (Note 14) (786) 

Closing net book amount 2,253 

  

At 31 December 2020  

Cost 22,380 

Accumulated amortization (20,127) 

Net book amount  2,253 

  

Year ended 31 December 2021  

Opening net book amount 2,253 

Additions 1,188 

Amortisation charge (Note 14) (834) 

Closing net book amount 2,607 

  

At 31 December 2021  

Cost 23,505 

Accumulated amortization (20,898) 

Net book amount  2,607 



ISTARSKA KREDITNA BANKA UMAG d.d., Umag 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 

(all amounts are expressed in thousands of HRK) 

 

Istarska Kreditna Banka Umag d.d. 147 2021 Annual Report 

NOTE 25 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

 
Land and 

buildings 
 

Computer 

equipment 
 

Furniture and 

equipment 
 Vehicles  

Leasehold 

improvements 
 

Construction in 

progress 
 Total 

              

Year ended 31 December 2021              

Opening net book amount 27,977  3,317  2,928  913  -  1,979  37,114 

Additions 1,848  -  -  -  -  1,500  3,348 

Transfer from construction in progress -  548  409  502  -  (3,307)    (1,848) 

Disposals -  (782)  (329)  -  -  -  (1,111) 

Depreciation charge (Note 14) (1,557)  (1,339)  (563)  (403)  -  -  (3,862) 

Reversal of depreciation charge -  782  328  -  -  -  1,110 

Closing net book amount  28,268  2,526  2,773  1,012  -  172  34,751 

At 31 December 2021              

Cost 56,910  20,280  19,421  3,355  -  172  100,138 

Accumulated depreciation (28,642)  (17,754)  (16,648)  (2,343)  -  -  (65,387) 

Net book amount 28,268  2,526  2,773  1,012  -  172  34,751 
              

Year ended 31 December 2020              

Opening net book amount 29,569  1.994  3.280  1,327  -  2,017  38,187 

Additions -  -  -  -  -  3,034  3,034 

Transfer from construction in progress -  2.858  214  -  -  (3,072)  - 

Disposals -  (489)  (1.849)  (472)  (440)  -  (3.250) 

Depreciation charge (Note 14) (1,592)  (1.519)  (564)  (414)  -  -  (4.089) 

Reversal of depreciation charge -  473  1.847  472  440  -  3.232 

Closing net book amount  27,977  3.317  2.928  913  -  1,979  37.114 

At 31 December 2020              

Cost 55,063  20.514  19.341  2,853  -  1,979  99.750 

Accumulated depreciation (27,086)  (17.197)  (16.413)  (1,940)  -  -  (62.636) 

Net book amount 27,977  3.317  2.928  913  -  1,979  37.114 
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NOTE 26 – INVESTMENT PROPERTY 

 

Year ended 31 December 2020  

Opening net book amount 13,054 

Sale of property (1,058) 

Depreciation (Note 14) (153) 

Closing net book amount 11,843 

  

At 31 December 2020  

Cost 16,329 

Accumulated amortisation (4,486) 

Net book amount 11,843 

 

Year ended 31 December 2021  

Opening net book amount 11,843 

Sale of property - 

Transfer 331 

Depreciation (Note 14) (149) 

Closing net book amount 12,025 

  

At 31 December 2021  

Cost 16,660 

Accumulated amortisation (4,635) 

Net book amount 12,025 

As at 31 December 2021 the fair value of investment property amounts to HRK 14,795 thousand 

(2020: HRK 14,415 thousand).  
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NOTE 26 – INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued) 

 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

At 31 December 2021     

Investment property - - 14,795 14,795 

Total assets  - - 14,795 14,795 

     

At 31 December 2020     

Investment property - - 14,415, 14,415, 

Total assets  - - 14,415, 14,415, 

     

 

Properties have been leased out to third parties in accordance with operating lease agreements for a 

period up to 5 years, with the option to be renewed without any restrictions. In 2021, the Bank realised 

rental income of HRK 514 thousand (2020: HRK 573 thousand). During the year, there were no direct 

operating expenses arising from the utilisation of these assets. Fair value of investment properties does 

not differ substantially from their book values.  

 

Future minimum lease income under lease agreements as at 31 December is as follows: 

 

 2021  2020 

      

Not later than 1 year  316  494 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 312  304 

 628  798 
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NOTE 27 – OTHER ASSETS 

 

 2021  2020 

    

Fees receivable 3,380  3,577 

Less: Allowance for impairment losses  (1,993)  (2,201) 

 1,387  1,376 

 

Fees receivable include receivables for payment transaction fees and other services where a fee is 

charged by the Bank. 

 

Pre-payments 1,024  915 

Small inventory 69  83 

Dividend receivable -  311 

Other 2,810  2,911 

Less: allowance for impairment (1,572)  (1,816) 

 3,718  3,780 

Current  3,718  3,780 

Non-current -  - 

 

 

The movement in the allowance for impairment losses on fees receivable is as follows: 

 

 2021  2020 

    

At 1 January 4,017  3,965 

Increase in impairment 694  953 

Reversals (847)  (878) 

Amounts written-off (301)  (23) 

At 31 December 3,563  4,017 

 

 

NOTE 28 – FORECLOSED ASSETS  

 

 2021  2020 

    

At 1 January  6,303  6,009 

Increase 1,185  2.611 

Decrease (926)  (2.317) 

Transfer (Note 26) (331)  - 

At 31 December 6,231 
 

6,303 

 

The assets were repossessed as property pledged to the Bank as collateral. The foreclosed assets are 

disclosed in amounts specified in court decisions or amounts deemed by the Bank to reflect 

appropriately the market value of the property. 
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NOTE 29 – DUE TO BANKS 

 

 2021  2020 

  

HBOR borrowings 66,900  21,898 

Deposits with banks 17  - 

Current  108  4,242 

Non-current  66,809  17,656 

 

Borrowings from HBOR represent borrowings received on the basis of HBOR lending programmes 

negotiated with average interest rate of 1.4% and the average maturity of 4 years. The proceeds of 

these borrowings are placed as loans to the Bank’s customers. All liabilities to banks carry variable 

rates. 

During 2021, a total of HRK 9,130thousand of principal was repaid per HBOR borrowings, while in 

the same period HRK 54,149 thousand of borrowings were received (2020: HRK 4,847thousand 

repaid, HRK 700 thousand received). 

 

 

NOTE 30 – DUE TO CUSTOMERS 

 

 2021  2020 

  

Large corporate enterprises     

- transaction accounts  24,702  12,096 

- term deposits 19,002  28,010 

SMEs    

- transaction accounts 1,285,715  1,077,900 

- term deposits 84,480  90,773 

Citizens    

- transaction/demand accounts  1,580,079  1,189,810 

- term deposits 972,644  1,035,534 

 3,966,622  3,434,123 

Current 3,691,557  3,137,978 

Non – current 275,065  296,145 

 

Deposits due to customers only include financial instruments classified as liabilities at amortised cost. 

 

Deposits amounting to HRK 969,797 thousand (2020: HRK 992,966 thousand) are at fixed interest 

rates and all other deposits amounting to HRK 2,996,035 thousand (2020: HRK 2,441,157 thousand) 

are at variable rates. In line with legal regulations all short-term deposits are at fixed rates. 
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NOTE 31 – SUBORDINATED LIABILITIES 

 

 2021  2020 

    

Citizens 9,847  21,574 

 9,847  21,574 

 

Movements in subordinated financial instruments   

 2021  2020 

    

At 1 January 21,574  28,627 

Repayments (11,701)  (7,242) 

Foreign exchange differences (26)  189 

At 31 December 9,847  21,574 

 

Subordinated liabilities in form of hybrid financial instruments represent long-term deposits from 

individual customers for a period of 73 months. The customers who deposited the funds agree that the 

funds invested are included in Tier 2 capital, and that they are at disposal in case they are needed for 

covering losses from current operations or in case of bankruptcy or liquidation. 

 

The weighted average effective interest rate for issued subordinates liabilities is 3,73% (2020: 5.03%). 

Issued subordinates liabilities are amortised over the period of five years before maturity using the 

straight-line method based on the remaining maturity of each subordinates liabilities and the net 

amount is recognised in regulatory capital. The table below presents issued subordinates liabilities by 

remaining maturity and remaining recognition in the Bank’s regulatory capital: 

 

  
Up to 12 

months 
 1-3 years  

More than 3 

years 
 Total 

At 31 December 2021        

Remaining maturity  2,255  7,592  -  9,847 

        

At 31 December 2020        

Remaining maturity 11,700  9,874  -  21,574 

 

At 31 December 2021, the subordinated liabilities amount, which is recognised in the Bank’s 

regulatory capital, amounted to HRK 1,924 thousand (31 December 2020: HRK 5,027 thousand). 

There are amounts which become due in 2022 in amount of HRK 2,255thousand (2021: HRK 11,700 

thousand became due) for subordinated liabilities. 
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NOTE 32 – OTHER LIABILITIES AND INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 

 

 2021  2020 

   

Employee payables 5,007  5,141 

Sundry creditors  2,294  4,284 

Provisions for off-balance sheet items (Note 37) 1,437  2,011 

Saving deposits insurance payable -  - 

Items in transfer  2,202  3,642 

Dividends payable 372  330 

Provision for unused entitlements for annual leave 1,050  746 

Other 321  295 

Other liabilities 12,683  16,449 

 

 2021  2020 

   

Income tax liabilities 1,343  94 
 

 

NOTE 33 – SHARE CAPITAL  

 

 

  
Number of 

shares 

Ordinary 

shares 

Share 

premium 

Treasury 

shares 
Total 

      

At 1 January 2021 148,000 162,800 181 - 162,981 

Sale of shares - - - - - 

At 31 December 2021 148,000 162,800 181 - 162,981 

      

      

  
Number of 

shares 

Ordinary 

shares 

Share 

premium 

Treasury 

shares 
Total 

At 1 January 2020 148,000 162,800 181 - 162,981 

Sale of shares - - - - - 

At 31 December 2020 148,000 162,800 181 - 162,981 
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NOTE 33 – SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 

 

As at 31 December 2021, the nominal registered, subscribed and fully paid share capital comprised 

148,000 ordinary shares with a nominal value of HRK 1,100 per share (unchanged in relation to 

2020).  

 

Gains and losses on sales or redemption of own shares are credited or charged to the share premium. 

As at 31 December 2021, the Bank did not have own (treasury) shares (2020: the Bank did not have 

own (treasury) shares). 

 

The Bank’s main shareholders as of 31 December are as follows: 

 

  2021  2020 

Shareholder  Number 

of shares 
 

% in 

share 

capital 

 

% in 

voting 

rights 
 

Number 

of shares 
 

% in 

share 

capital 

 

% in 

voting 

rights 

Intercommerce 

d.o.o. Umag  
 25,403  17.16  17.16  25,403  17.16  17.16 

Serfin d.o.o. Buje  20,518  13.86  13.86  19,809  13.38  13.38 

Assicurazioni 

Generali s.p.a. 
 11,491  7.76  7.76  11,491  7.76  7.76 

Marijan Kovačić  10,227  6.91  6.91  10,227  6.91  6.91 

Plava laguna d.d. 

Poreč 
 6,604  4.46  4.46  6,604  4.46  4.46 

Branko Kovačić  6,600  4.46  4.46  6,600  4.46  4.46 

Edo Ivančić  5,951  4.02  4.02  5,951  4.02  4.02 

Nerio Perich   5,107  3.45  3.45  5,107  3.45  3.45 

Milenko Opačić   5,027  3.40  3.40  5,027  3.40  3.40 

Željko Paić  3,390  2.29  2.29  3,790  2.56  2.56 

Other shareholders  47,682  32.22  32.22  47,991  32.43  32.43 

Total  148,000  100.00  100.00  148,000  100.00  100.00 
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NOTE 34 – RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS 

 

 2021  2020 

    

Legal, statutory  reserves and other reserves 37,032  37,032 

Revaluation reserves 299  510 

Retained earnings 185,167  159,769 

 222,498  197,311 

 

In accordance with national legislation, a portion of the net profit of the Bank is required to be 

transferred to a non-distributable legal reserve until this reserve represents 5% of the share capital of 

the Bank. 

 

Statutory reserves may be used for purchase of own shares and for the transfer to treasury share 

reserves. 

 

Revaluation reserves are comprised of  unrealised gains from changes in the fair value of financial 

assets at fair value through OCI. 
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NOTE 35 – DIVIDENDS PER SHARE 

 

Dividends payable are not accounted for until they have been ratified at the Annual General Meeting 

of the Bank’s shareholders. 

 

In 2021 the Bank distributed the dividend in amount of HRK 80,00 per share from other reserves 

formed from the profit earned in 2020. The Bank allocated the total profit for 2019 to retained 

earnings. 

 

 

NOTE 36 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following 

balances with less than 90 days maturity: 
 

 Note  2021  2020 

  

Cash and accounts with Croatian National Bank 18a  1,361,214  832,905 

Loans and deposits with banks 20  215,103  155,599 

    1,576,317  988,504 

 

 

NOTE 37 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 

 

Legal proceedings 
 

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank is defendant and plaintiff in a number of legal claims and 

does not expect any outflow of resources thereunder.  
 

In 2021 provisions for legal proceedings against the Bank were not allocated (2020: the provisions for 

legal proceedings were not allocated). 

 

Investment commitments 

 

At 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Bank did not have any capital investment commitments.  

 

Loan commitments, guarantees and other financial facilities  

 

The following table indicates the contractual amounts of the Bank’s off-balance sheet financial 

instruments:  

 

 2021  2020 

  

Guarantees 91,740  75,119 

Commitments to lend  150,416  246,918 

Undrawn portion of loans on approved overdrafts 42,171  49,133 

Letters of credit 2,477  1,029 

Other contingent liabilities 250  200 

Less: Provision for off-balance sheet items (Note 32) (1,437)  (2,011) 

 285,617  370,388 
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NOTE 37 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS (continued) 

 

Movements in provisions for potential losses can be summarized as follows: 

 

 2021  2020 

  

At 1 January 2,011  1,977 

Additions 6,522  5,270 

Reversals (7,097)  (5,245) 

Foreign exchange differences 1  9 

At 31 December  1,437  2,011 

 

The primary purpose for commitments to lend from guarantees and letters of credit is to ensure that 

funds are available to a customer as required. Guarantees and standby letters of credit, which represent 

irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its 

obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans. 

 

Commitments to lend represent unused portions of authorisations to lend in the form of loans, 

guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to lend, the Bank is 

potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely 

amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments, since most commitments to lend are 

contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards. 

 

Guarantees, irrevocable letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments are subject to similar credit 

risk monitoring and credit policies as utilised in the extension of loans.  

 

Operating lease commitments  

 

The future minimum lease payments under operating leases are as follows: 

 

 2021  2020 

  

Up to 1 year 389  363 

From 2 to 5 years 354  347 

Over 5 years -  - 

 743  710 

 

The Bank has a total of 23 business premises (8 branches, 14 ATM locations and one advertising 

location) which it holds as a lessee, with a remaining validity ranging from 5 months to indefinite 

period. The lease payments are contracted at market rates or by reference to other terms and conditions 

of the lessor. The leases are renewable automatically or optionally, depending on the underlying 

agreement. 
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NOTE 38 – TRANSACTIONS WITH PERSONS IN A SPECIAL RELATIONSHIP WITH 

THE BANK 

 

Persons in a special relationship with the Bank are determined pursuant to the Credit Institutions Act. 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 

significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. A number of 

banking transactions are entered into with persons in a special relationship with the Bank in the normal 

course of business. The volumes of such transactions outstanding balances at the year-end are: 

 

 
Key management and their 

related parties 
 

Supervisory Board, their 

related parties and 

significant shareholders 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 

 

Loans        

At beginning of the year 2,651  3,414  14,305  12,595 

Increase 859  1,042  15,170  11,733 

Decrease (765)  (1,805)  (17,064)  (10,023) 

        

At 31 December 2,745  2,651  12,411  14,305 

        

Interest income -  82  -  471 

        

Deposits        

At beginning of the year 8,850  7,426  31,082  32,039 

Increase / (decrease) 2,082  1,424  (1,663)  (957) 

        

At 31 December 10,932  8,850  29,419  31,082 

        

Interest expense 4  5  374  460 

Distribution of dividends 322  -  4,190  - 

 

The key management includes members of the Management Board of the Bank and key personnel at 

managerial positions in the Bank. 

  

Key management compensation  
 2021  2020 

  

Gross salaries and other short-term benefits of the key management  11,616  9,021 

 

Gross compensation of the Supervisory Board amounted to HRK 711 thousand (2019: HRK 683 

thousand). 
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NOTE 39 – MANAGED FUNDS ON BEHALF AND FOR ACCOUNT OF THIRD PARTIES  

 

The Bank manages funds on behalf of individuals and other institutions. The risk and rewards 

associated with these assets remain with those third parties and accordingly the assets are not included 

in the Statement of financial position of the Bank. 

 

The net assets and liabilities managed on behalf of third parties may be summarized as follows:  

 

 2021  2020 

  
Assets    

- Loans to citizens 1,220  1,223 

- Other 534  535 

Total assets 1,754  1,758 

Liabilities    

- Financial institutions 1,220  1,223 
- Other 534  535 

Total liabilities 1,754  1,758 

 

 

NOTE 40 – RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS  

 

The Bank as a lessee has contracts for long-term leases of business premises and recognizes them as if 

its own assets (applicable accounting policies disclosed in Note 2.16 Leases). 

 

 2021  2020 

    

As at 1 January  1,140  1,959 

Additions  328  - 

Decrease -  (229) 

Depreciation (515)  (601) 

Foreign exchange differences (1)  11 

As at 31 December  952  1,140 
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NOTE 41 – LIABILITIES FOR RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS  

 

The Bank as a lessor has contracts for long-term leases of business premises and recognizes them as 

its own liabilities (applicable accounting policies disclosed in Note 2.16 Leases). 

 

 

 2021  2020 

    

As at 1 January  1,193  1,997 

Additions  328  - 

Decrease (506)  (815) 

Foreign exchange differences (3)  11 

As at 31 December  1,012  1,193 

    

 

Future maturity of liabilities amount:  2021  2020 

Up to 1 year  407  381 

From 1 to 2 years 202  255 

From 2 to 3 years 92  170 

From 3 to 5 years 200  173 

Over 5 years 111  214 

Total 1,012  1,193 

 

Interest expense on liabilities for the right-of-use assets in 2021 amount to HRK 80 thousand (Note 6). 

 

 

NOTE 42 – EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

 
There were no significant reportable events after the reporting period. 
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Supplementary Financial Statements for the Croatian National Bank 
 
 
Financial statements prepared in accordance with the framework for reporting and statutory 
financial statements prescribed by the CNB's Decision on the structure and contents of the annual 
financial statements of credit institutions 
 

BALANCE SHEET 

 

(in thousands of HRK) 
 

 

ASSETS 2021 2020 

Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits 1,555,411 984,391 

- cash on hand 191,867 189,987 

- cash balances at central banks 1,167,737 642,861 

- other demand deposits 195,807 151,543 

Financial assets held for trading   - - 

- derivatives - - 

- equity instruments - - 

- debt securities - - 

- loans and advances - - 

Non-trading financial assets mandatory measured at fair value 
through profit or loss 

1,783 1,703 

- equity instruments 313 314 

- debt securities 1,467 1,389 

- loans and advances - - 

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss - - 

- debt securities - - 

- loans and advances - - 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 272,917 556,736 

- equity instruments 2,560 3,353 

- debt securities 270,357 553,383 

- loans and advances - - 

Financial assets at amortised cost 2,554,819 2,251,864 

- debt securities 201,124 92,571 

- loans and advances 2,353,695 2,159,293 

Derivatives – Hedge accounting - - 

Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest 
rate risk 

- - 

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates - - 

Tangible assets 36,604 38,974 

Intangible assets 2,657 2,303 

Tax assets 1,221 1,182 

Other assets 18,494 18,470 

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale - - 

Total assets  4,443,903 3,855,623 
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BALANCE SHEET (continued) 
 
 2021 2020 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY   

Financial liabilities held for trading - - 

- derivatives - - 

- short positions - - 

- deposits - - 

- debt securities issued - - 

- other financial liabilities - - 

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss - - 

- deposits - - 

- debt securities issued - - 

- other financial liabilities - - 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 4,044,172 3,478,845 

- deposits 4,042,574 3,477,195 

- debt securities issued - - 

- other financial liabilities 1,598 1,650 

Derivatives – Hedge accounting - - 

Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate 
risk 

- - 

Provisions 1,437 2,011 

Tax liabilities 1,394 150 

Share capital repayable on demand - - 

Other liabilities 11,421 14,325 

Liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale - - 

Total liabilities 4,058,424 3,495,331 

   

Equity   

Share capital 162,800 162,800 

Share premium 181 181 

Equity instruments issued other than capital - - 

Other equity - - 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (425) (214) 

Retained earnings 147,929 129,028 

Revaluation reserves - - 

Other reserves 37,756 37,756 

(-) Treasury shares - - 

Profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent 37,238 30,741 

(-)Interim dividends - - 

Minority interests (Non-controlling interests) - - 

Total equity  385,479 360,292 

   

Total liabilities and equity 4,443,903 3,855,623 
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INCOME STATEMENT 
  2021 2020 
  

Interest income 78,864 77,267 

(Interest expense) (3,585) (4,173) 

(Expenses on share capital repayable on demand) - - 

Dividend income 246 311 

Fee and commission income 32,606 27,263 

(Fee and commission expense) (4,804) (3,743) 

Gains or (-) losses on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not 
measured at fair value through profit or loss, net 

- 8,805 

Gains or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net 15,901 11,996 

Gains or (-) losses on non-trading financial assets mandatory at fair value 
through profit or loss, net 

- - 

Gains or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities designated at fair 
value through profit or loss, net 

- - 

Gains or (-) losses from hedge accounting, net - - 

Exchange differences [gain or (-) loss], net 993 899 

Gains or (-) losses on derecognition of non-financial assets, net - - 

Other operating income 826 1,541 

(Other operating expenses) (110) (610) 

Total operating income, net 120,937 119,556 

(Administrative expenses) (64,778) (63,825) 

(Cash contributions to resolution funds and deposit guarantee schemes) (53) (7,414) 

(Depreciation) (5,360) (5,630) 

Modification gains or (-) losses, net - - 

(Provisions or (-) reversal of provisions) 575 (27) 

(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on financial assets not 
measured at fair value through profit or loss) 

(5,859) (5,019) 

(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment of investments in subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associates) 

- - 

(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on non-financial assets - - 

Negative goodwill recognised in profit or loss - - 

Share of the profit or (-) loss of investments in subsidaries, joint ventures 
and associates accounted for using the equity method 

- - 

Profit or (-) loss from non-current assets and disposal groups classified as 
held for sale not qualifying as discontinued operations 

- - 

Profit or (-) loss before tax from continuing operations 45,462 37,641 

Tax expense or (-) income related to profit or loss from continuing 
operations) 

(8,224) (6,900) 

Profit or (-) loss after tax from continuing operations - 30,741 

Profit or (-) loss after tax from discontinued operations - - 

Profit or (-) loss before tax from discontinued operations - - 

(Tax expense or (-) income related to discontinued operations) - - 

PROFIT OR (-) LOSS FOR THE YEAR 37,238 30,741 

Attributable to minority interest (non-controlling interests)   

Attributable to owners of the parent 37,238 30,741 
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STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
 
 2021 2020 
   

Profit/(loss) for the year 37,293 30,741 

Other comprehensive income (211) (4,828) 

Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss (134) - 

Tangible assets - - 

Intangible assets - - 

Actuarial gains or (-) losses on defined benefit pension plans - - 

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale - - 

Share of other recognised income and expense of entities accounted for 
using the equity method 

- - 

Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 

(163) - 

Gains or (-) losses from hedge accounting of equity instruments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income, net 

- - 

Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (hedged item) 

- - 

Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (hedging instrument) 

- - 

Fair value changes of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
attributable to changes in their credit risk 

- - 

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified 29 - 

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (77) (4,828) 

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations (effective portion) -  

Foreign currency translation -  

Cash flow hedges (effective portion) -  

Hedging instruments (not designated elements) -  

Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (95) (5,888) 

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale -  

Share of other recognised income and expense of investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 

-  

Income tax relating to items that may be reclassifies to profit or (-) loss 18 1,060 

Total comprehensive income for the year 37,082 25,913 

Attributable to minority interest (non-controlling interests)   

Attributable to owners of the parent 37,082 25,913 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 

Capital 
Share 

premium 

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income 

Retained 
earnings 

Other 
reserves 

(-) 
Treasury 

shares 

Profit or (-) loss 
attributable to 
owners of the 

parent  

Dividends 
during the 

period 
Total 

Balance at 1 January  
(before restatement) 

162,800 181 (214) 129,028 37,756 - 30,741  360,292 

Effects of corrections of errors - - - - - - - - - 

Effects of changes in accounting policies - - - - - - - - - 

Restated balance at 1 January  
(current period) 

162,800 181 (214) 129,028 37,756 - 30,741  360,292 

Issuance of ordinary shares - - - - - - - - - 

Issuance of preference shares - - - - - - - - - 

Issuance of other equity instruments - - - - - - - - - 

Exercise or expiration of other equity 
instruments issued 

- - - - - - - - - 

Conversion of debt to equity - - - - - - - - - 

Capital reduction - - - - - - - - - 

Dividends - - - - - - - - - 

Purchase of treasury shares - - - - - - - - - 

Sale or cancellation of treasury shares - - - - - - - - - 

Reclassification of financial instruments 
from equity to liability 

- - - - - - - - - 

Reclassification of financial instruments 
from liability to equity 

- - - - - - - - - 

Transfers among components of equity - - - - - - (30,741) - (30,741) 

Equity increase or (-) decrease resulting 
from business combinations 

- - - - - - - - - 

Share based payments - - - - - - - - - 

Other increase or (-) decrease in equity - - - 18,900 - - - - 18,900 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - (211) - - - 37,238 - 37,027 

Closing balance at 31 December 
(current period)  

162,800 181 (425) 147,928 37,756 - 37,238 - 385,478 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT    
 
 2021 2020 

Operating activities - direct method   

Interest received and similar receipts - - 

Fees and commissions received - - 

(Interest paid and similar expenditures) - - 

(Fees and commissions paid) - - 

(Operating expenses paid) - - 

Net gains/losses from financial instruments at fair value through statement 
of profit or loss 

- - 

Other receipts - - 

(Other expenditures) - - 

Operating activities - indirect method   

Profit/(loss) before tax 45,462 37,642, 

Adjustments:    

Impairment and provisions 5,284 5,046, 

Depreciation 5,360 5,630, 

Net unrealised (gains)/losses on financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
through statement of profit or loss 

- - 

(Profit)/loss from the sale of tangible assets - - 

Other non-cash items (992) (898) 

Changes in assets and liabilities from operating activities   

Deposits with the Croatian National Bank (27,359) 55,050 

Deposits with financial institutions and loans to financial institutions 17 (64) 

Loans and advances to other customers (160,357) (226,726) 

Securities and other financial instruments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

283,818 118,800 

Securities and other financial instruments held for trading - - 

Securities and other financial instruments at fair value through statement of 
profit or loss, not traded 

- - 

Securities and other financial instruments at fair value through statement of 
profit or loss 

(76) (101) 

Securities and other financial instruments at amortised cost (108,476) 60,527 

Other assets from operating activities (79,114) (79,644) 

Deposits from financial institutions - - 

Transaction accounts of other customers 354,551 164,571 

Savings deposits of other customers 255,739 176,180 

Time deposits of other customers (81,396) (158,313) 

Derivative financial liabilities and other traded liabilities - - 

Other liabilities from operating activities 8,728 14,865 

Interest received from operating activities [indirect method] 78,865 77,267 

Dividends received from operating activities [indirect method] 246 311 

Interest paid from operating activities [indirect method] (3,585) (3,167) 

(Income tax paid) (6,870) (8,579) 

Net cash flow from operating activities  569,845 238,397 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT (continued) 
 
 2021 2020 

Investing activities   

Cash receipts from the sale/(payments for the purchase) of tangible and 
intangible assets 

(3,272) (8,563) 

Cash receipts from the sale/(payments for the purchase) of investments in 
branches, associates and joint ventures 

- - 

Cash receipts from the sale/(payments for the purchase) of securities and 
other financial instruments held to maturity 

- - 

Dividends received from investing activities - - 

Other receipts/(payments) from investing activities - - 

Net cash flow from investing activities (3,272) (8,563) 

   

Financing activities   

Net increase/(decrease) in loans received from financing activities 45,019 (4,147) 

Net increase/(decrease) of debt securities issued - - 

Net increase/(decrease) of Tier 2 capital instruments (11,726) (7,053) 

Increase of share capital - - 

(Dividends paid) (11,840) - 

Other receipts/(payments) from financing activities - - 

Net cash flow from financing activities  21,453 (11,200) 

   

Net increase/(decrease) of cash and cash equivalents  588,026 218,634 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 988,504 768,873 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents (213) 997 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year   1,576,317 988,504 



SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE CROATIAN NATIONAL BANK 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021  

(all amounts are expressed in thousands of HRK) 

 

Istarska Kreditna Banka Umag d.d. 169 2021 Annual Report 

Reconciliation of the financial statements prepared in accordance with the framework for reporting 
and statutory financial statements prescribed by the CNB's Decision on the structure and contents of 
the annual financial statements of credit institutions 
 

A) RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEETS  
 
 Decision of the CNB Annual report Difference 

ASSETS    

Cash, cash balances at central banks and other 
demand deposits 

1,555,411 1,790,095 (234,684) 

- cash on hand 191,867 191,867 - 

- cash balances at central banks 1,167,737 1,383,125 (215,388) 

- other demand deposits 195,807 215,103 (19,296) 

Financial assets held for trading   - - - 

- derivatives - - - 

- equity instruments - - - 

- debt securities - - - 

- loans and advances - - - 

Non-trading financial assets mandatory 
measured at fair value through profit or loss 

1,780 1,783 (3) 

- equity instruments 313 313 - 

- debt securities 1,467 1,470 (3) 

- loans and advances - - - 

Financial assets designated at fair value 
through profit or loss 

- - - 

- debt securities - - - 

- loans and advances - - - 

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

272,917 272,917 - 

- equity instruments 2,560 2,560 - 

- debt securities 270,357 270,357 - 

- loans and advances - - - 

Financial assets at amortised cost 2,554,819 2,317,603 237,216 

- debt securities 201,124 201,045 79 

- loans and advances 2,353,695 2,116,558 237,137 

Derivatives – Hedge accounting - - - 

Fair value changes of the hedged items in 
portfolio hedge of interest rate risk 

- - - 

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
associates 

- - - 

Tangible assets 36,604 34,751 1,853 

Intangible assets 2,657 2,607 50 

Tax assets 1,221 1,221 - 

Other assets 18,494 22,926 (4,432) 

Non-current assets and disposal groups 
classified as held for sale 

- - - 

Total assets  4,443,903 4,443,903  
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A) RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEETS (continued) 
 
 Decision of the CNB Annual report Difference 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    

Financial liabilities held for trading - - - 

- derivatives - - - 

- short positions - - - 

- deposits - - - 

- debt securities issued - - - 

- other financial liabilities - - - 

Financial liabilities designated at fair value 
through profit or loss 

- - - 

- deposits - - - 

- debt securities issued - - - 

- other financial liabilities - - - 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 4,044,172 4,043,386  

- deposits 4,042,574 4,043,386 (812) 

- debt securities issued - - - 

- other financial liabilities 1,598 - 1,598 

Derivatives – Hedge accounting - - - 

Fair value changes of the hedged items in 
portfolio hedge of interest rate risk 

- - - 

Provisions 1,437 - 1,437 

Tax liabilities 1,394 1,343 51 

Share capital repayable on demand - - - 

Other liabilities 11,421 13,695 (2,274) 

Liabilities included in disposal groups classified as 
held for sale 

- - - 

Total liabilities 4,058,424 4,058,424  
    

Equity    

Share capital 162,800 162,800 - 

Share premium 181 181 - 

Equity instruments issued other than capital - - - 

Other equity - - - 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (425) - 425 

Retained earnings 147,929 185,167 37,238 

Revaluation reserves - - - 

Other reserves 37,756 37,331 (425) 

(-) Treasury shares - - - 

Profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent 37,238 - 37,238 

(-)Interim dividends - - - 

Minority interests (Non-controlling interests) - - - 

Total equity  385,479 385,479  

Total liabilities and equity 4,443,903 4,443,903  
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A) RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEETS (continued) 
 
The differences in the total assets and liabilities from the Bank’s balance sheet disclosed in the 
annual report at 31 December 2021 (hereinafter: AR) as compared to the structure and contents of 
the annual financial statements prescribed by the CNB's Decision (hereinafter: AFS) relate to the 
following items: 
 
Differences between the balance sheet positions disclosed in the annual report and the structure and 
contents prescribed by the Decision of the CNB relate to the following categories: 
 

- in the position 'Cash balances at central banks' of the AFS the difference of HRK 234,684 thousand 
relates to the allocated obligatory reserve with the central bank in the amount of HRK 213,778 
thousand which is included in the item 'Loans and advances' of the AFS and the remaining difference 
of HRK 20,606 thousand, 

- in the position ‘Other demand deposits’ of the AFS the disclosed difference of HRK 19,296 
thousand is included within the item 'Loans and advances', 

- in the positions ‘Tangible assets’ and ‘Intangible assets’ of the AFS the differences of HRK 1,853 
thousand and HRK 50 thousand are disclosed within the item ‘Other assets’, 

- in the position ‘Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost’ of the AFS the differences of HRK 
(812) thousand, HRK 1,598 thousand, HRK 1,437 thousand, HRK 51 thousand and (2,274) thousand 
are stated within ‘Other liabilities’, 

- in the position ‘Accumulated other comprehensive income’ the difference amounting to HRK 425 
thousand is stated within ‘Other reserves’, 

- in the position ‘Retained earnings’ the difference of HRK 37,238 thousand is stated within the 
position ‘Profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent'. 
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B) RECONCILIATION OF THE INCOME STATEMENTS AND THE STATEMENTS OF OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
 

Income statement Decision of the CNB Annual report Difference 
    

Interest income 78,864 78,864 - 

(Interest expense) (3,585) (3,585) - 

(Expenses on share capital repayable on demand) - - - 

Dividend income 246 - 246 

Fee and commission income 32,606 32,606 - 

(Fee and commission expense) (4,804) (4,804) - 

Gains or (-) losses on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 
not measured at fair value through profit or loss, net 

- - - 

Gains or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, 
net 

15,901 - 15,901 

Gains or (-) losses on non-trading financial assets mandatory at 
fair value through profit or loss, net 

- - - 

Gains or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities designated at 
fair value through profit or loss, net 

- - - 

Gains or (-) losses from hedge accounting, net - - - 

Exchange differences [gain or (-) loss], net 993 16,894 (15,901) 

Gains or (-) losses on derecognition of non-financial assets, net - - - 

Other operating income 826 1,072 (246) 

(Other operating expenses) (110) (163) 53 

Total operating income, net 120,937 120,884 53 

(Administrative expenses) (64,778) (64,778) - 

(Cash contributions to resolution funds and deposit guarantee 
schemes) 

(53) - (53) 

(Depreciation) (5,360) (5,360) - 

Modification gains or (-) losses, net - - - 

(Provisions or (-) reversal of provisions) 575 - 575 

(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on financial assets not 
measured at fair value through profit or loss) 

(5,859) (5,284) (575) 

(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment of investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates) 

- - - 

(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on non-financial assets - - - 

Negative goodwill recognised in profit or loss - - - 

Share of the profit or (-) loss of investments in subsidaries, joint 
ventures and associates accounted for using the equity method 

- - - 

Profit or (-) loss from non-current assets and disposal groups 
classified as held for sale not qualifying as discontinued operations 

- - - 

Profit or (-) loss before tax from continuing operations 45,462 45,462  

Tax expense or (-) income related to profit or loss from continuing 
operations) 

(8,224) (8,224) - 

Profit or (-) loss after tax from continuing operations - - - 

Profit or (-) loss after tax from discontinued operations - - - 

PROFIT OR (-) LOSS FOR THE YEAR 37,238 37,238  

Attributable to minority interest (non-controlling interests)    

Attributable to owners of the parent    
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B) RECONCILIATION OF THE INCOME STATEMENTS AND THE STATEMENTS OF OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued) 
 
Statement of other comprehensive income Decision of 

the CNB 
Annual 
report 

Difference 

    

Profit/(loss) for the year 37,293 37,293 - 

Other comprehensive income (211) (211) - 

Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss (134) (134) - 

Tangible assets - - - 

Intangible assets - - - 

Actuarial gains or (-) losses on defined benefit pension plans - - - 

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale - - - 

Share of other recognised income and expense of entities 
accounted for using the equity method 

- - - 

Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 

(163) (163) - 

Gains or (-) losses from hedge accounting of equity instruments 
at fair value through other comprehensive income, net 

- - - 

Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (hedged item) 

- - - 

Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (hedging instrument) 

- - - 

Fair value changes of financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss attributable to changes in their credit risk 

- - - 

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified 29 29 - 

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (77) (77) - 

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations (effective 
portion) 

- - - 

Foreign currency translation - - - 

Cash flow hedges (effective portion) - - - 

Hedging instruments (not designated elements) - - - 

Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income 

(95) (95) - 

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale - - - 

Share of other recognised income and expense of investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 

- - - 

Income tax relating to items that may be reclassifies to profit or 
(-) loss 

18 18 - 

Total comprehensive income for the year 37,082 37,082 - 

Attributable to minority interest (non-controlling interests) - - - 

Attributable to owners of the parent 37,082 37,082 - 
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B) RECONCILIATION OF THE INCOME STATEMENTS AND THE STATEMENTS OF OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued) 
 

Differences between the income statement positions disclosed in the annual report (AR) and the 
structure and contents of the annual financial statements (AFS) prescribed by the Decision of the 
CNB relate to the following items: 

 

- the position ‘Dividend income’ of the AFS differs by HRK 311 thousand which is disclosed within 
‘Other operating income’ of the AR, 

- the position ‘Gains or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading’ of the AFS differs 
by the amount of HRK 898 thousand, which is stated in the position of ‘Exchange differences’, 

- the position ‘Other operating expenses’ of the AFS differs by the amount of HRK 7,413 thousand, 
which is stated within the position of ‘Cash contributions to resolution funds’, 

- in the position ‘Provisions or (-) reversal of provisions’ of the AFS there is the difference of HRK 27 
thousand which is disclosed within the item ‘Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on non-financial 

assets'.  

 

C) RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOW STATEMENTS 
 

Differences between the cash flow statement positions disclosed in the annual report and the ones 
defined by the prescribed structure and contents of the CNB relate to the following categories: 
 

- in the annual report, the items of cash and cash equivalents with maturity up to 90 days are 
disclosed within cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year and at the end of year, whereas 
in the report made according to the CNB standards only cash items are disclosed. 

 
D) RECONCILIATION OF STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 
In the statement of changes in equity disclosed in the annual report, there are no differences in 
comparison with the CNB standard. 
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Other Statutory and Regulatory Requirements 
 
 
Pursuant to Art. 164 paragraphs 1 and 2 of the Credit Institutions Act the Bank discloses the following 
information: 
 
 

The Bank performs the following banking and financial services in the territory of the Republic of 
Croatia: 
 

1. - acceptance of deposits or other repayable funds from the public and the granting of credits 
for own account from these funds 

2. - acceptance of deposits or other repayable funds 
3. - lending, including consumer credit, mortgage credit and, where permitted by a special law, 

financing of commercial transactions, including export financing based on the purchase at a 
discount without recourse of non-current, non-matured receivables collateralised with a 
financial instrument (forfeiting) 

4. - repurchase of receivables with or without recourse (factoring) 
5. - financial leasing 
6. - issuance of guarantees or other commitments 
7. - trading for own account or for the accounts of customers in: 

a) money market instruments,  
b) transferable securities,  
c) foreign exchange, including currency exchange transactions, 

8. - credit reference services, such as collection, analysis and provision of information on the 
creditworthiness of legal and natural persons that conduct their business independently 

9. - issuing and administering other means of payment, if the provision of such services is not 
considered the provision of money transmission services in accordance with special laws 

10. - safe custody services 
11. - money broking 
12. - participation in issues of financial instruments as well as the provision of services relating to 

issues of financial instruments in accordance with the law governing the capital market 
13. - investment and ancillary services and activities prescribed in the special law governing the 

capital market:  
 a) execution of orders on behalf of customers,  

b) dealing on own account,  
c) underwriting of financial instruments and/or placing of financial instruments on a firm 

commitment basis,  
d) underwriting of financial instruments and/or placing of financial instruments without a 

firm commitment basis 
14. - activities related to the sale of insurance policies in accordance with the law governing 

insurance, 
15. - money transmission services in accordance with special laws: 

a) - services enabling cash to be placed on a payment account as well as all the operations 
required for operating a payment account 

b) - services enabling cash withdrawals from a payment account as well as all the operations 
required for operating a payment account 

c) - execution of payment transactions, including transfers of funds on a payment account 
with the user's payment service provider or with another payment service provider: 
- execution of direct debits, including one-off direct debits, 
- execution of payment transactions through a payment card or a similar device, 
- execution of credit transfers, including standing orders 
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d) - execution of payment transactions where the funds are covered by a credit line for a 
payment service user: 
- execution of direct debits, including one-off direct debits, 
- execution of payment transactions through a payment card or a similar device, 
- execution of credit transfers, including standing orders 

e) - issuing and/or acquiring of payment instruments 
f) - money remittance 
g) - issuing of electronic money 
h) - payment initiation services 
i) - account information services 

16. - investment and ancillary services and activities prescribed in the special law governing the 
capital market:  

    a) receipt and transfer of orders in relation to one or more financial instruments, execution 
of orders on behalf of customers 

b) dealing on own account, ,  
c) underwriting of financial instruments and/or placing of financial instruments on a firm 

commitment basis,  
d) underwriting of financial instruments and/or placing of financial instruments without a 

firm commitment basis from Article 5, paragraph 1, items 1, 2, 3, 6 and 7 of the Capital 
Market Act 

 
The Bank performs its business activities and provides its products and services through five business 
centres: BC Umag-Buje-Novigrad, BC Poreč-Pazin, BC Pula-Rovinj-Labin, BC Rijeka-Buzet and BC 
Zagreb at the territories of Istrian County, Primorsko-goranska County and the City of Zagreb i.e. 
Zagreb County, by using its business network comprised from 24 branches and branch-offices 
(Branch Umag - head office, Branch office Umag - Department Store, Branch office Savudrija, Branch 
office Brtonigla, Branch office Novigrad, Branch office Buje, Branch Poreč, Branch office Poreč - 
Market, Branch office Vrsar, Branch office Višnjan, Branch office Tar, Branch office Pazin, Branch 
office Žminj, Branch office Motovun, Branch Pula, Branch office Pula - Department Store, Branch 
office Fažana, Branch office Rovinj, Branch office Labin, Branch Rijeka, Branch office Opatija, Branch 
office Viškovo, Branch office Buzet and Branch office Zagreb ). 
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Other information required pursuant to the provision of Art. 164 of the Credit Institutions Act the 
Bank discloses as follows: 

 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 2021 
 (in thousands of HRK) 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Total income 124,436 

Profit before tax 45,461 

Tax on profit 8.223 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Number of employees as at 31 December 2021 230 

Number of employees on a full-time equivalent basis  

(working hours paid) in 2021 218 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

In 2021 the Bank did not receive any public subsidies.  

 


